

Modelling, analysis and numerical simulation of a poroelastic shell and its interaction with a fluid

Phuoc Nhat Dang

► To cite this version:

Phuoc Nhat Dang. Modelling, analysis and numerical simulation of a poroelastic shell and its interaction with a fluid. Mathematics [math]. Université Paris Nord, 2019. English. NNT: . tel-04045898

HAL Id: tel-04045898 https://hal.science/tel-04045898v1

Submitted on 25 Mar 2023 $\,$

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



THÈSE en mathématiques appliquées

Modélisation, analyse et simulation numérique d'une coque poroélastique et son interaction avec un fluide

présentée publiquement par DANG PHUOC NHAT

JURY

Université Paris 13
Université de Rouen
Université Paris 13
Université d'Evry-Val d'Essonne
Vienna University of Technology
Université de technologie de Compiègne
Université Paris 13
Université Paris Descartes

France, 27 mai 2019

Mis en page avec la classe thloria.

Remerciements

Je tiens en premier lieu à adresser mes remerciements les plus sincères à Monsieur Adel Blouza et Madame Linda El Alaoui qui m'ont donné la possibilité de faire cette thèse et ont dirigé mes travaux de recherche. Il est impossible d'exprimer en quelques phrases tout ce que je leur dois, tant par leur générosité, leurs conseils précieux, leurs exigences de qualité et leur patience qui m'ont toujours accompagnés, que par les sujets de recherche qu'ils m'ont proposés. J'en profite pour leur exprimer ici ma plus profonde gratitude. Je remerice aussi mon directeur de thèse Monsieur Hatem Zaag.

Je suis vraiment reconnaissant envers Monsieur Nicolas Meunier et Monsieur Joachim Schöberl d'avoir accepté de rapporter sur ma thèse. Je voudrais remercier sincèrement Messieurs-dames Laurence Halpern, Marcella Szopos, Faker Ben Belgacem d'avoir bien voulu me faire l'honneur d'accepter d'être membre du jury de ma thèse.

Je remercie tous les membres du Laboratoire Analyse, Géométrie et Applications de l'Université Paris 13 et surtout l'équipe Modélisation et Calcul Scientifique. Merci aux secrétaires notamment Isabelle Barbotin, Yolande Jimenez, Jean-Philippe Dru and Frédéric Manikcaros pour leur gentillesse et leur efficacité.

Je voudrais également remercier mes anciens enseignants et collègues du Département d'Informatique et Mathématiques de l'Université de science d'Ho Chi Minh. Je remercie sincèrement Messieurs Duong Minh Duc, Ong Thanh Hai pour leur aide précieuse.

De plus, je tiens également à exprimer ma gratitude envers mes amis.

Enfin, j'aimerais remercier ma famille qui m'a soutenu et encouragé à poursuivre la recherche scientique. Con xin cam on ba me và anh hai vì tất ca.

ii

Titre: Modélisation, analyse et simulation numérique d'une coque poroélastique et son interaction avec un fluide

Résumé

Nous proposons dans cette thèse deux modèles de coques poroélastiques. Il s'agit des modèles Biot-Naghdi et Biot-Koiter. Leurs dérivations sont basées sur les hypothèses de Reissner-Mindlin et celles de Kirchhoff-Love respectivement et où la coque poreuse est saturée.

Nous démontrons en utilisant la méthode de Galerkin et le théorème de Banach-Nečas-Babuška que ces modèles sont bien posés, c'est-à-dire qu'ils admettent des solutions uniques dans des espaces fonctionnels appropriés.

Nous proposons également un modèle décrivant l'interaction entre un fluide incompressible et une coque poreuse et élastique. C'est le modèle Stokes-Biot-Naghdi. Ici, la structure étant poreuse, les conditions de glissement à l'interface fluide/coque ne sont pas standards. Nous considérons alors les conditions de Beavers-Joseph-Saffman à l'interface sous forme faible en introduisant un mutiplicateur de Lagrange. Nous prouvons ensuite que le modèle obtenu est bien posé grâce à la méthode de Galerkin et la théorie des équations algébro-différentielles.

Enfin, nous proposons un algorithme de découplage pour résoudre et simuler numériquement la solution du modèle Biot-Naghdi.

Mots-clés: Coque poroélastique, modèle Biot, modèle de Naghdi, modèle de Koiter, Interaction fluide-structure.

Title: Modelling, analysis and numerical simulation of a poroelastic shell and its interaction with a fluid

Abstract

This thesis is devoted to the study of poroelastic thin shells. For derivation of poroelastic shell equations, we make use of Reissner-Mindlin assumptions for Biot-Naghdi's model and Kirchhoff-Love assumptions for Biot-Koiter's model. We prove the well-posedness of the obtained models by Galerkin semi-discrete method and Banach-Nečas-Babuška theorem as well. Moreover, we establish the strong formulation for Biot-Naghdi poroelastic shell model. Then, we derive the fluid-structure interaction between Stokes incompressible flow and Biot-Naghdi poroelastic shell structure where the non standard slip boundary conditions of Beavers-Joseph-Saffman type on the interface are considered. A Lagrange multiplier method is employed to impose weakly these conditions. We assume that the boundaries and the interface between the fluid and the poroelastic material are fixed. The proof proceeds by constructing a semi-discrete finite element Galerkin approximations and for the existence of the solution we adopt the theory of differential-algebraic equations. Finally, we simulate the Biot-Naghdi poroelastic shell model by FreeFem++.

Keywords: Poroelastic structure, shell, fluid-structure interaction, Naghdi model, Koiter model.

Contents

Introduction 1								
N	Notations, surfaces geometry and definitions							
1 Biot-Koiter poroelastic shell model								
	1.1	Definition of a shell	19					
	1.2	Koiter's approach	20					
	1.3	Functional spaces	20					
	1.4	Kirchhoff-Love displacement	21					
	1.5	Definition of a deformed shell	24					
	1.6	Displacement of a Koiter's shell	24					
	1.7	Linearized change of shell metric tensor	25					
	1.8	The tensor of shell constraints	26					
	1.9	Derivation of Biot-Koiter shell model	29					
	1.10	Well-posedness	35					
2	Bio	t-Naghdi poroelastic shell model	51					
	2.1	Definition of a deformed shell	54					
	2.2	Displacement of a Naghdi's shell	55					
	2.3	Linearized change of shell metric tensor	55					
	2.4	The tensor of shell constraints	57					
	2.5	Derivation of the Biot-Naghdi shell model	59					
	2.6	Well-posedness	64					
	2.7	Boundary value problem	80					
3	Inte	raction between a fluid and a poroelastic shell	89					
	3.1	Introduction	89					

Contents

	3.2	Problem setting					
		3.2.1	Stokes-Biot-Naghdi poroelastic shell model	. 90			
		3.2.2	Boundary and initial conditions	. 94			
		3.2.3	Interface conditions	. 94			
	3.3	.3 Weak formulation and Analysis					
		3.3.1	Weak formulation	. 95			
		3.3.2	Analysis: Semi-discrete formulation	. 101			
	NT	• 1					
4	INUr	merical simulations 111					
	4.1	Notation					
	4.2	2 Validation for the Biot poroelasticity system					
		4.2.1	The numerical approximation	. 112			
		4.2.2	The splitting algorithm	. 113			
		4.2.3	Numerical tests	. 113			
	4.3	Some	simulations of the Biot-Naghdi Model	. 115			
Conclusion and Perspectives 12							
Bi	Bibliography 12						

viii

Introduction

Shells and their assemblies are a part of the huge variety of elastic structure of the biggest interest for the contemporary engineering: bodyworks, shells of ships, fuselages, wings of plane, towers of cooling, etc.

Shell structure are ubiquitous in nature because they are light but "strong". Their geometry allows forces to be balanced by tensile strains rather bending. Some examples of shells are given below.





(a) Clam shell



(b) Egg shell

- Manmade shells



(a) CDG Airport Terminal 2E: Basket-handle profile shell with $W^{2,\infty}$ -regularity



(b) Bodywork

There exist at least two different families of linear models for thin elastic shells: the one of Reissner, which relies on the theory of Cosserat surfaces, (Cosserat and Cosserat-[39]), and the

Kirchhoff-Love type theories. This second approach is based on the famous Kirchhoff-Love's hypothesis, which states that the norms on the reference midsurface are transformed into norms on the deformed midsurface and that the distance between one point and the midsurface remains constant throughout the deformation of the shell.

Considering those hypothesis, Koiter [55] proposed a two-dimensional mathematical model for linearly elastic thin shells where the unknown of the problem is the displacement field of the points on the midsurface of shell. An approximation for the displacement field across the thickness of shell depends merely on the knowledge of this displacement via the Kirchhoff-Love's hypothesis [6].

A theorem of existence and uniqueness for the Koiter's model was established firstly by Bernadou and Ciarlet [7], who proposed a particularly technical evidence based on results of Rougée [79]. By application of a lemma on the distributions in H^{-1} , whose gradient is as well in H^{-1} of J.L. Lions, Ciarlet and Miara [32] gived a simpler demonstration of the existence and uniqueness of the same model. At last, Bernadou, Ciarlet and Miarra [8] provided some improvements of this last evidence. It is important to note that, in all of these demonstrations, the map defining the shell's midsurface is assumed at least in C^3 .

During the same period, Naghdi [68, 70] has presented a model which takes into account the effects of transverse shearing, while respecting the hypothesis of plane constraint and preservation of the distance between one point and the midsurface in the course of deformation. Under these hypothesis and the determination of displacement of points on the midsurface as well as the rotation of unique normal vector of this surface, the Naghdi's model permits to have an approximation of displacement field through the shell thickness.

The mathematical analysis of Naghdi's model is done the first time by Coutris [40] then improved by Ciarlet and Miara [32]. See as well Bernadou, Ciarlet and Miara [8] where the unknowns are the covariant of contravariant components of the displacement and the rotation. For vector formulations, Blouza[18] and Blouza - Le Dret [22] proposed a framework in which they consider shell with little regularity.

Mechanical problems, including the porous elastic body saturated with a fluid, appears in a diversity of subjects. The mathematic modelling and the numerical analysis of tridimensional elastic bodies problems are now controlled. Nevertheless, in the cases of thin structures like membranes, plates and shells, the numerical methods adapted well to the tridimensional cases fail, because of the small thickness. Therefore, it is natural for thinking about deriving from the tridimensional modelling to the bidimensional modelling which works on the midsurface of the shell for decreasing the cost of computation.

Many authors have focused on the limit behavior of the tridimensional equations when the thickness of the porous shell goes to zero. We can for example quote the works of Mikelić and Tambača [64, 65] where they proposed the limit model of poroelastic flexural and membrane

shell model.

We also cite, in the generally poroelastic shell case, the work of Ljulj and Tambača[60], in which they derived an iterative method for solving a poroelastic shell model of Naghdi's type. In their model, the unknowns are given by their local basis components.

In the present work, we are not concerned with the asymptotic models. Our purpose is to derive two models from the equilibrium equations of tridimensional elasticity where the Reissner-Mindlin and Kirchhoff-Love assumptions are used in the case where the thickness is small enough with respect to other characteristics of the shell. Our framework here is a free local basis formulation for the displacement and considered shells are with little regularity midsurface.

Elasticity is the tendency of solid materials to return to their original shape after that forces are applied on them, when the forces are removed, the structure returns to its reference configuration and size. In tridimensional elasticity, the undeformed body occupies a region M. Under loading, a point $\boldsymbol{x} \in M$ moves to $\boldsymbol{x} + \boldsymbol{U}(\boldsymbol{x})$. Let $\widetilde{\Gamma}_0 \cup \widetilde{\Gamma}_1$ be a partition of the boundary ∂M with meas $(\Gamma_0) > 0$. Then the equilibrium equations of tridimensional elasticity are:

$-{ m div} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) = \boldsymbol{f}$	in M (force balance),
$\pmb{\sigma}(\pmb{U}) = H: arepsilon(\pmb{U})$	in M (constitutive),
$\boldsymbol{U}=0$	on $\widetilde{\Gamma}_0$ (clamping),
$oldsymbol{\sigma}\cdotoldsymbol{n}=h$	on $\widetilde{\Gamma}_1$ (force balance).

where $\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U})$ is the stress tensor and $\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{U}) = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla \boldsymbol{U} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{U})^T)$ is the strain tensor.

Poroelastic structure is the elastic structure having pores which contain a fluid. Then a gradient of the pressure is added to the applied force to deform the structure.

As Verruijt wrote in [88], soft soils such as sand and clay consist of small particles and the pore space between the particles often is fulfilled with water. In soil mechanics, this is denoted as a saturated or partially saturated porous medium. The deformation of such porous media depends upon the stiffness of the porous material, and upon the behavior of the fluid in the pores. If the permeability of the material is small, the deformations may be considerably retarded by the viscous behavior of the fluid in the pores. The simultaneous deformation of the porous material and the flow of the pore fluid are the subject of the consolidation theory, often denoted as *poroelasticity*. The poroelasticity theory was developed by Biot ([10], [11], [12], [13], [14] and [15]) several decades ago and it has been studied extensively since.

Poroelastic phenomena are interesting in numerous applications as geomechanics, groundsurface water flow, reservoir compaction and surface subsidence, seabed-wave interaction problem, etc. Two examples of poroelastic structures are given below.

Introduction



The poroelastic shells and their interactions with fluids are part of a wide variety of issues and a largest interest for contemporary engineering (ship hulls, reservoirs, ...) and biomedical problems (heart, bones, intestine skin, ...). As stated in [30], we point out that simultaneous with the development of poroelasticity, literature dealing with thermoelasticity has evolved. Here it is assumed that there is a coupling between the thermal diffusion equations and the equations of mechanical equilibrium. The complete mathematical analogy of the poroelastic and thermoelastic problems was noted by Biot [16]. A comprehensive treatment from this latter point of view is given by Nowacki [72].

Here we introduce the Biot model, as in [47], the constitutive equation for the Cauchy stress tensor $\tilde{\sigma}$ in terms of the displacement U and fluid pressure p is

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) - \alpha p \mathbf{I},\tag{1}$$

where I is the identity tensor, $\sigma(U)$ is the stress tensor, expressing the Hooke's law:

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) = \lambda(\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{U})\mathbf{I} + 2\mu\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{U}), \qquad (2)$$

where $\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{U}) = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla \boldsymbol{U} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{U})^T)$ is the strain tensor, $\lambda \ge 0$ (dilation moduli) and $\mu > 0$ (shear moduli) are the Lamé coefficients, and $\alpha \in]0,1[$ is the Biot-Willis constant, which is usually around one. The flux of the fluid \boldsymbol{v}_f is governed by Darcy's law in porous media

$$\boldsymbol{v}_f = -\frac{\kappa}{\eta} \nabla p,\tag{3}$$

where $\eta > 0$ is the fluid viscosity and fluid density assumed to be constant and κ is the permeability of porous medium.

The equation of mass conservation is

$$\frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial t} = -\mathrm{div} \boldsymbol{v}_f + g,$$

where g is a volumetric fluid source term and ζ is the fluid content of the medium; ζ related to the fluid pressure p and material volume div \boldsymbol{U} by

$$\zeta = c_0 p + \alpha \text{div} \, \boldsymbol{U} \tag{4}$$

where $c_0 \ge 0$ is the constrained specific storage coefficient, that is assumed to be constant. As explained by Phillips and Wheeler in [75], $c_0 = 0$ may lead to locking, whatever the value of the Lamé coefficient λ . Although in practical situation, c_0 can vanish, we do not consider this possibility here and therefore we suppose that $c_0 > 0$. With (3) and (4), the equation of mass conservation reads

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(c_0 p + \alpha \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{U}) - \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \operatorname{div}(\nabla p) = g.$$
(5)

Finally, the balance of linear momentum is derived by making a quasi-static assumption, namely by assuming that the material deformation is much slower than the flow rate, and hence the second-time derivative of the displacement (i.e. the acceleration) is zero. Denoting by \boldsymbol{f} the body force, this yields

$$-\operatorname{div}\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} = \boldsymbol{f}.$$
(6)

Thus, replacing the constitutive relation (1) into (6) we obtain

$$-\nabla \cdot \sigma(\boldsymbol{U}) + \alpha \nabla p = \boldsymbol{f} \text{ in } M \times]0, T[.$$

Collecting the above equations, we have the following system of equation a.e. in $M \times [0, T]$

$$-\nabla \cdot \sigma(\boldsymbol{U}) + \alpha \nabla p = \boldsymbol{f}, \qquad (7a)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(c_0 p + \alpha \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{U}) - \frac{\kappa}{\eta}(\nabla p - \rho_f \boldsymbol{q}) = g.$$
(7b)

The coupling first order terms in the system have the following meaning: the term ∇p in the first equation results from the additional stress in the medium coming from the fluid pressure, the term div \boldsymbol{U} in the second equation represents the additional fluid content due to local volume change. The Biot system should be supplemented with relevant boundary and initial conditions that have clear physical meaning.

Afterwards, we sketch out our results in this thesis. In Chapter 1, the purpose is the derivation the weak coupled formulation of shell model of Koiter type and Biot model, and the proof of its well-posedness. More precisely, we state the derivation in the following theorem,

Theorem

If U and p are a solution of the strong formulation (7), such that $U = u - z(\partial_{\alpha} u \cdot a_3)a^{\alpha}$ a Kirchhoff-Love displacement, then u and p belong, respectively, to \mathcal{V}_K and \mathcal{W}_K solving the following weak formulation:

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) + \mathcal{B}_{1}^{K}(p;\boldsymbol{v}) = \mathcal{L}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_{K},$$
(8a)

$$\mathcal{A}_{2}^{K}(p;q) + \mathcal{B}_{2}^{N}(\boldsymbol{u};q) = \mathcal{L}_{2}^{K}(q) \quad \forall q \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega),$$
(8b)

$$p(0) = p_0 \text{ in } \Omega, \tag{8c}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) &= \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \big[\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^{2}}{12} \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})\Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) \big] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}, \\ \mathcal{B}_{1}^{K}(p;\boldsymbol{v}) &= -\alpha \int_{\Omega} p \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} p \operatorname{div} \big(z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3}) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \big) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ \mathcal{L}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{v}) &= \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \big(\boldsymbol{v} - z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3}) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \big) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ \mathcal{A}_{2}^{K}(p;q) &= c_{0} \int_{\Omega} p' q \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ \mathcal{B}_{2}^{K}(\boldsymbol{u};q) &= -\alpha \int_{\Omega} (\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}') q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \big(z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u}' \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3}) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \big) q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \text{ and} \\ \mathcal{L}_{2}^{K}(q) &= \int_{\Omega} g q \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}. \end{aligned}$$

In the process of deriving the weak form, we face difficulty of writing the poroelastic structure model in term of shell symbols (metric tensor $\gamma_{\alpha\beta}$, curvature tensor $\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}$). In order to solving this problem, we use the structure displacement U belonging to the space of Kirchhoff-Love displacements $\mathcal{V}_{KL} = \{ \mathbf{V} \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3); \varepsilon_{i3}(\mathbf{V}) = 0 \}.$

Following, we introduce the theorem of the well-posedness,

Theorem

Let $p_0 \in H^1(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{f} \in H^1(0,T; L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3))$ and $g \in L^2(\Omega \times]0,T[)$. Then the problem (8) has a unique solution. The pressure p belongs to $L^{\infty}(0,T,H^1(\Omega)) \cap H^1(0,T;L^2(\Omega))$.

We are not able to prove the existence and uniqueness of the displacement U and the pressure p at the same time. Therefore, we firstly turn out the well-posedness of U in the weak form of constitutive equation (7a) by Banach-Nečas-Babuška theorem with a given p. Then proving the well-posedness of p in the weak form of mass conservation equation (7b) by making use of the semi-discrete Galerkin method and the theory of initial value problem for linear systems.

In Chapter 2, we implement analogous to Chapter 1 but with another two-dimensional linear theory shell theory, Naghdi. Moreover, we obtain the strong formulation of Naghdi-Biot coupled model which we use for establishing the fluid-structure interaction between incompressible flow and poroelastic shell structure in Chapter 3. More precisely, we derive the weak coupled formulation of shell model of Naghdi type and Biot model:

Theorem

If U and p are a solution of the strong formulation (7), such that U = u + zr, a Reissner-Mindlin displacement, then (u, r) and p belong, respectively, to \mathcal{V}_N and \mathcal{W}_N solving the following weak formulation:

 $\mathcal{A}_2^N(p$

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r});(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})) + \mathcal{B}_{1}^{N}(\boldsymbol{p};(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})) = \mathcal{L}_{1}^{N}(\boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall (\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) \in \mathcal{X}_{N},$$
(9a)

$$;q) + \mathcal{B}_2^N((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r});q) = \mathcal{L}_2^N(q) \quad \forall q \in H_0^1(\Omega),$$
(9b)

$$p(0) = p_0 \text{ in } \Omega, \tag{9c}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}\big((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r});(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\big) &= \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \bigg[\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^{2}}{12}\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\bigg]\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ 4\mu \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta}\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}, \\ \mathcal{B}_{1}^{N}\big(p;(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\big) &= -\alpha \int_{\Omega} p \text{div}\boldsymbol{v}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p \text{div}(z\boldsymbol{s}) \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ \mathcal{L}_{1}^{N}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) &= \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s}) \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \, \mathcal{A}_{2}^{N}(p;q) = c_{0} \int_{\Omega} p'q\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ \mathcal{B}_{2}^{N}\big((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r});q\big) &= -\alpha \int_{\Omega} (\text{div}\boldsymbol{u}')q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \alpha \int_{\Omega} \text{div}(z\boldsymbol{r}')q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \text{ and} \\ \mathcal{L}_{2}^{N}(q) &= \int_{\omega} gq\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}. \end{split}$$

In order to cracking the trouble of deriving the weak form, the Reissner-Mindlin displacements space $\mathcal{V}_{RM} = \{ \boldsymbol{U} \in H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^3), \varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{U}) = 0 \}$ is chosen.

We continuously prove the existence and uniqueness of the equation system (9) in the following theorem

Theorem

Let $p_0 \in H^1(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{f} \in H^1(0,T; L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3))$ and $g \in L^2(\Omega \times]0, T[)$. Then the problem (9) is well posed and its solution p belongs to $L^{\infty}(0,T,H^1(\Omega)) \cap H^1(0,T;L^2(\Omega))$.

We firstly establish the well-posedness of U in the weak form of constitutive equation (7a) by Banach-Nečas-Babuška theorem with a given p as well (see Lemma 30). The well-posedness of p

in the weak form of mass conservation equation (7b) is also obtained by making use of the semidiscrete Galerkin method and the theory of initial value problem for linear systems. At last, we proceed the strong formulation of Naghdi-Biot coupled model by using the contravariant components of the stress resultant $n^{\rho\sigma}$, of the stress couple $m^{\rho\sigma}$ and of the transverse shear force t^{β} . We state this result in the following theorem,

Theorem

Let (\mathbf{f}, g) in $L^2(0, T; L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3)) \times L^2(\Omega \times]0, T[)$, the system of partial differential equations of the Biot-Naghdi shell model is

Let
$$(\boldsymbol{f}, g)$$
 in $L^2(0, T; L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3)) \times L^2(\Omega \times]0, T[)$, we have a.e. in $\Omega \times (0, T)$,

$$\begin{cases}
-\partial_{\rho} \left(\left[n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{r}) \partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_3 + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{r}) \boldsymbol{a}_3 \right] \sqrt{a} \right) + \alpha e \nabla \left(p \sqrt{a} \right) &= e \boldsymbol{f} \sqrt{a}, \\
\left[-m^{\sigma\rho}_{|\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{r}) + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{r}) \right] \boldsymbol{a}_{\rho} \sqrt{a} + \alpha e z \nabla (p \sqrt{a}) &= z e \boldsymbol{f} \sqrt{a}, \\
c_0 p' \sqrt{a} + \alpha \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}' + z \boldsymbol{r}') \sqrt{a} - \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \operatorname{div}(\nabla p \sqrt{a}) &= g \sqrt{a},
\end{cases}$$

with the boundary conditions

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{r} &= \boldsymbol{0} \text{ on } \Gamma_{0}, \\ p &= 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{0}, \\ \left(\begin{bmatrix} n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3} \end{bmatrix} \sqrt{a} \right) n_{\rho} - \alpha e p \sqrt{a} \, \boldsymbol{n} &= \boldsymbol{0} \text{ on } \Gamma_{1}, \\ m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{\rho}\sqrt{a} \, n_{\sigma} - \alpha e z p \sqrt{a} \, \boldsymbol{n} &= \boldsymbol{0} \text{ on } \Gamma_{1}, \\ \nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} &= 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{1}. \end{aligned}$$

We also derive the Biot-Naghdi shell model in the case where $\partial \omega = \gamma_0$,

Theorem

Assume that $\partial w = \gamma_0$, so that

$$\mathcal{X}_N = H_0^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3) \times H_0^1(\omega)^2$$
 and $\mathcal{W}_N = L^{\infty}(0, T; L^2(\Omega)) \cap L^2(0, T; H_0^1(\Omega)).$

If the solution $(u, r) \in \mathcal{V}_N$ and $p \in \mathcal{W}_N$ of the corresponding problem (2.22) of Theorem 9 is smooth enough, it also satisfies the boundary value problem:

$$-\partial_{\rho}((n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3})\sqrt{a}) + \alpha\nabla(p\sqrt{a}) = \boldsymbol{f}\sqrt{a}, \text{ in } \Omega\times]0, T[$$

$$(-m_{|\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}))\boldsymbol{a}_{\rho}\sqrt{a} + \alpha z\nabla(p\sqrt{a}) = z\boldsymbol{f}\sqrt{a}, \text{ in } \Omega\times]0, T[$$

$$\partial_{t}(c_{0}p + \alpha \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u} + z\boldsymbol{r}))\sqrt{a} - \frac{\kappa}{\eta}\operatorname{div}(\nabla p\sqrt{a}) = g\sqrt{a}, \text{ in } \Omega\times]0, T[$$

$$\boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{r} = \boldsymbol{0} \text{ on } \gamma_{0},$$

$$p = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{0},$$

$$(10)$$

In Chapter 3, we carry out the fluid-structure interaction between incompressible flow and poroelastic shell structure. We use the incompressible Stokes equations for the free fluid and the Biot-Naghdi model, derived in Theorem 11, for the poroelastic shell structure. It is equivalent to proving the following theorem

Theorem

For $\mathbf{f}_f \in L^{\infty}(0,T;(\mathcal{V}_f^h)')$, $\mathbf{f}_p \in L^{\infty}(0,T;(\mathcal{X}_p^h)')$, $g \in L^{\infty}(0,T;(\mathcal{W}_p^h)')$ and $p_{p,h}(0) \in \mathcal{W}_p^h$, there exists a unique solution $(\mathbf{u}_{f,h}, \mathbf{\eta}_{p,h}, \mathbf{r}_{p,h}, \mathbf{u}_{p,h}, p_{f,h}, p_{p,h}, \lambda_h)$ in $L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathcal{V}_f^h) \times W^{1,\infty}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_p^h) \times L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathcal{V}_p^h) \times L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathcal{W}_f^h) \times W^{1,\infty}(0,T;\mathcal{W}_p^h) \times L^{\infty}(0,T;\Lambda^h)$ of the weak formulation (3.29).

In process of proving the well-posedness of this model (see Theorem 13), we have trouble imposing the conditions on the interface which are mass conservation, balance of stress and the Beavers-Joseph-Saffman conditions. Therefore, the Lagrange multiplier method is employed to impose weakly this condition. We assume that the boundaries and the interface between the fluid and the poroelastic material are fixed. The proof proceeds by constructing a semi-discrete Galerkin approximations, deriving the discrete inf-sup condition and adopting the theory of differential-algebraic equations (DAEs)[26].

Lastly, in Chapter 4, we derive the validation for the Biot poroelasticity systems by using the numerical scheme proposed by Chaabane and Rivière [37](§2). Then, we employ this scheme to simulate the Biot-Naghdi poroelastic shell model on two different domain, hyperbolic paraboloid shell and plane-cylinder $W^{2,\infty}$ shell. Our results are implemented in FreeFem++, a high level, free software, finite element package (https://freefem.org/).

Introduction

10

Notations, surfaces geometry and definitions

Geometry of the shell midsurface

Greek indices take their values in the set $\{1, 2\}$ and Latin indices take their values in the set $\{1, 2, 3\}$. Unless otherwise specified, the convention on repeated indices and exponents is used. Let (e_1, e_2, e_3) be the canonical orthonormal basis of the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^3 . We note $u \cdot v$ is the inner product of \mathbb{R}^3 , $|u| = \sqrt{u \cdot u}$ is the associated Euclidean norm and $u \wedge v$ is the vector product of u and v.

Let ω be a domain of \mathbb{R}^2 . We consider a shell whose midsurface is given by $S = \varphi(\overline{\omega})$, where $\varphi \in W^{2,\infty}(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ one-to-one mapping such that the two vectors

$$a_{\alpha}(x) = \partial_{\alpha}\varphi(x) = \frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial x_{\alpha}}(x),$$

are linearly independent at all $x \in \overline{\omega}$. We define the normal unit vector

$$a_3(x) = \frac{a_1(x) \wedge a_2(x)}{|a_1(x) \wedge a_2(x)|}, \ x \in \bar{\omega}$$

on the midsurface at point $\varphi(x)$. Then the vectors $a_{\alpha}(x)$ which form the covariant basis of the tangent plane to S at $\varphi(x)$ together with the vector $a_3(x)$ (which is normal to S and has Euclidean norm one) define the covariant basis at $\varphi(x)$.

The contravariant basis a^{j} is defined by the relations

$$a_i(x) \cdot a^j(x) = \delta_i^j,$$

where δ_i^j is the Kronecker symbol. In particular, $a^3(x) = a_3(x)$. Note that all these vectors are of class $W^{1,\infty}$.

We now define the first and second fundamental forms or the metric and curvature tensors of the surface by their covariant components

$$\begin{cases} a_{\alpha\beta}(x) &= a_{\alpha}(x) \cdot a_{\beta}(x), \\ b_{\alpha\beta}(x) &= a_{3}(x) \cdot \partial_{\beta}a_{\alpha}(x) = -a_{\alpha}(x) \cdot \partial_{\beta}a_{3}(x). \end{cases}$$

The contravariant components of the metric tensor are given by:

$$a^{\alpha\beta}(x) = a^{\alpha}(x) \cdot a^{\beta}(x).$$

The mixed components of the curvature tensor of the surface S are defined by

$$b_{\alpha}^{\beta}(x) = a^{\beta\sigma}(x)b_{\alpha\sigma}(x).$$

The derivatives of the vectors of the covariant and contravariant bases are given by the formulas of Gauss:

$$\partial_{\alpha}a_{\beta}(x) = \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta}(x)a_{\sigma}(x) + b_{\alpha\beta}(x)a_{3}(x) \quad \text{and} \quad \partial_{\alpha}a^{\beta}(x) = -\Gamma^{\beta}_{\alpha\sigma}(x)a^{\sigma}(x) + b^{\beta}_{\alpha}(x)a_{3}(x),$$

and Weingarten:

$$\partial_{\alpha}a_3(x) = \partial_{\alpha}a^3(x) = -b_{\alpha\beta}(x)a^{\beta}(x) = -b^{\sigma}_{\alpha}(x)a_{\sigma}(x),$$

where $\Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\beta}$ are the Christofell symbols of the surface, given by:

$$\Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\beta}(x) = \Gamma^{\rho}_{\beta\alpha}(x) = a^{\rho}(x) \cdot \partial_{\beta}a_{\alpha}(x) = -\partial_{\beta}a^{\rho}(x) \cdot a_{\alpha}(x).$$

The relation between covariant and contravariant bases is

$$\begin{cases} a_{\alpha}(x) = a_{\alpha\beta}(x)a^{\beta}(x) \\ a^{\alpha}(x) = a^{\alpha\beta}(x)a_{\beta}(x). \end{cases}$$

The matrix $(a^{\alpha\beta})$ is the inverse matrix of $(a_{\alpha\beta})$. We note that the determinant

$$a(x) = det(a_{\alpha\beta}(x)) = a_{11}(x)a_{22}(x) - (a_{12}(x))^2 = |a_1(x) \wedge a_2(x)|^2,$$
(1)

is strictly positive on $\overline{\omega}$ and we recall that $\varphi \in W^{2,\infty}(\omega)$ and $\sqrt{a(x)} \in W^{1,\infty}(\omega)$, then there exist two constants M and δ such that

$$M \ge a(x) \ge \delta > 0 \quad \forall x \in \overline{\omega}.$$
 (2)

The element of area dS is given by

$$dS = \sqrt{a} \, dx.$$

Note that the element of volume dV is approximately given by

$$dV = \sqrt{a(x)} \, dx dz.$$

Let there be given two vectors field $u \in H^1(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ and $r \in H^1(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that $r \cdot a_3 = 0$. Of course, a vector can be written in terms of components relative to a local or Cartesian basis.

Hence,

$$u(x) = u_i(x)a^i(x) = u^i(x)a_i(x) = u^c_i(x)e_i,$$

where

$$u_i(x) = u(x) \cdot a_i(x), u^i(x) = u(x) \cdot a^i(x)$$
 and $u_i^c(x) = u(x) \cdot e_i$,

are respectively the covariant, contravariant and Cartesian components of u. In the same way we write:

$$r(x) = r_{\alpha}(x)a^{\alpha}(x) = r^{\alpha}(x)a_{\alpha}(x) = r_i^c(x)e_i,$$

where

$$r_{\alpha}(x) = r(x) \cdot a_{\alpha}(x), \ r^{\alpha}(x) = r(x) \cdot a^{\alpha}(x) \text{ and } r_i^c(x) = r(x) \cdot e_i.$$

are respectively the covariant, contravariant and Cartesian components of r.

Finally, for $u_i \in H^1(\omega)$ and $r_\alpha \in H^1(\omega)$ one can check that $u_i a^i \in H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ and $r_\alpha a^\alpha \in H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ and partial derivatives $\partial_\alpha(u_i a^i) \in L^2(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ and $\partial_\alpha(r_\beta a^\beta) \in L^2(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ are given by:

$$\partial_{\alpha}(u_i(x)a^i(x)) = (\partial_{\alpha}u_{\beta}(x) - \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta}(x)a_{\sigma}(x) - b_{\alpha\beta}(x)u_3(x))a^{\beta}(x) + (\partial_{\alpha}u_3(x) + b^{\beta}_{\alpha}(x)u_{\beta}(x))a^3(x)$$
$$= (u_{\beta|\alpha}(x) - b_{\alpha\beta}(x)u_3(x))a^{\beta}(x) + (u_{3|\alpha}(x) + b^{\beta}_{\alpha}(x)u_{\beta}(x))a^3(x),$$

and

$$\partial_{\alpha}(r_{\beta}(x)a^{\beta}(x)) = (\partial_{\alpha}r_{\beta}(x) - \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta}(x)a_{\sigma}(x))a^{\beta}(x) + b^{\beta}_{\alpha}(x)r_{\beta}(x))a^{3}(x)$$
$$= r_{\beta|\alpha}(x)a^{\beta}(x) + b^{\beta}_{\alpha}(x)r_{\beta}(x))a^{3}(x),$$

where

$$u_{\alpha|\beta}(x) = \partial_{\beta}u_{\alpha}(x) - \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta}(x)u_{\sigma}(x), \ u_{3|\alpha}(x) = \partial_{\alpha}u_{3} \text{ and } r_{\alpha|\beta}(x) = \partial_{\beta}r_{\alpha}(x) - \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta}(x)r_{\sigma}(x).$$

denote the first-order covariant derivatives of the vectors field $u_i a^i$ and $r_{\alpha} a^{\alpha}$.

Remark 1

Whenever no confusion should arise, we henceforth drop the explicit dependence on a particular point. For instance, the relation " $\partial_{\alpha}a_{\beta} = \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta}a_{\sigma} + b_{\alpha\beta}a_{3}$ " means " $\partial_{\alpha}a_{\beta}(x) = \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta}(x)a_{\sigma}(x) + b_{\alpha\beta}(x)a_{3}(x)$ " for all $x \in \bar{\omega}$; " $\partial_{\alpha}a^{3}$ is in the tangent plane" means " $\partial_{\alpha}a^{3}(x)$ is in the tangent plane to S at $\varphi(x)$ for all $x \in \bar{\omega}$ "; etc.

Lebesgue and Lipschitz spaces, Sobolev spaces

Lebesgue and Lipschitz Spaces

Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{R}^n with boundary Γ . Let $\mathbb{M}(\Omega)$ be the space of scalar-valued functions on Ω that are Lebesgue-measurable. In particular, $\mathbb{M}(\Omega)$ contains functions that are piecewise continuous and, more generally, all the functions that are integrable in the Riemann sense. All the functions used in this thesis are measurable. For $1 \le q \le \infty$, let $L^p(\Omega) = \{f \in \mathbb{M}(\Omega); \| f \|_{0,p,\Omega} < \infty\},$ where $\| f \|_{0,p,\Omega} = \left(\int_{\Omega} |f(x)|^p dx \right)^{1/p}$ for $1 \le p < \infty,$ and $\| f \|_{0,\infty,\Omega} = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \Omega} |f(x)| = \inf\{M \ge 0; |f(x)| \le M \text{ a.e. on } \Omega\}.$

In this thesis, we employ the notation $||f||_{L^p(\Omega)} = ||f||_{0,p,\Omega}$. For $1 \le p \le \infty$, we denote by p' its *conjugate*, i.e., $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p'} = 1$ with the convention that p' = 1 if $p = \infty$ and $p' = \infty$ if p = 1.

(Hölder Inequality) Let $f \in L^{p}(\Omega)$ and $g \in L^{p'}(\Omega)$ with $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $fg \in L^{1}(\Omega)$ and $\int_{\Omega} |fg| \le ||f||_{L^{p}(\Omega)} ||g||_{L^{p'}(\Omega)} .$

The following corollary is a consequence of Hölder's inequality:

(Interpolation inequality) Let $1 \le p \le q \le \infty$ and $0 \le \alpha \le 1$. Let r be such that $\frac{1}{r} = \frac{\alpha}{p} + \frac{1-\alpha}{q}$. Then $\forall f \in L^p(\Omega) \cap L^q(\Omega), \quad || f ||_{L^r(\Omega)} \le || f ||_{L^p(\Omega)}^{\alpha} || f ||_{L^q(\Omega)}^{1-\alpha}$.

Theorem 2

(**Riesz Representation Theorem**). Let $1 \le p < \infty$, the dual space of $L^p(\Omega)$ can be identified with $L^{p'}(\Omega)$.

From Theorem 2, we see that $L^p(\Omega)$ is reflexive if $1 . However, <math>L^1(\Omega)$ and $L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ are not reflexive.

Theorem 3 $L^2(\Omega)$ is a Hilbert space when equipped with the scalar product

$$(f,g)_{L^2(\Omega)} = \int_{\Omega} fg.$$
(3)

Hence, we denote by $(\cdot; \cdot)_{0,\Omega}$ the scalar product in $L^2(\Omega)$ and when no confusion is possible, we denote the L^2 -norm by

$$\parallel f \parallel_{0,\Omega} = \left(\int_{\Omega} |f|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

In $L^2(\Omega)$, the Hölder inequality becomes the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality:

$$\forall f, g \in L^2(\Omega), \quad (f, g)_{0,\Omega} \le ||f||_{0,\Omega} ||g||_{0,\Omega}.$$

Theorem 4

(Young Inequality). Let $p, q \in \mathbb{R}^*$ be strictly positive real numbers such that:

$$\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$$

Then for any non-negative numbers a and b,

$$ab \le \frac{a^p}{p} + \frac{b^q}{q}.$$

The Banach-Nečas-Babuška (BNB) theorem

Consider the following problem

$$\begin{cases} \text{Seek } u \in W \text{ such that} \\ a(u,v) = f(v), \ \forall v \in V, \end{cases}$$
(B)

where:

(i) W and V are vector spaces equipped with norms denoted by $\|\cdot\|_W$ and $\|\cdot\|_V$, respectively. In many applications, W and V are Hilbert spaces, but a more general case where V is a reflexive Banach space and W a Banach space can be considered. Unless stated otherwise, we henceforth assume that W and V are Banach spaces and that V is reflexive. W is called the solution space, and V is called the test space.

- (ii) *a* is a continuous bilinear form on $W \times V$, i.e., $a \in \mathcal{L}(W \times V; \mathbb{R})$; henceforth, we shall also say that *a* is bounded on $W \times V$.
- (iii) f is a continuous linear form on V, i.e., $f \in V' = \mathcal{L}(V; \mathbb{R})$. To simplify the notation, we write f(v) instead of $\langle f, v \rangle_{V',V}$.

Theorem 5

(Banach-Nečas-Babuška) Let W be a Banach space and let V be a reflexive Banach space. Let $a \in \mathcal{L}(W \times V; \mathbb{R})$ and $f \in V'$. Then, problem (B) is well-posed if and only if:

(i) $\exists \alpha > 0, \inf_{w \in W} \sup_{v \in V} \frac{a(w, v)}{\|w\|_W \|v\|_V} \ge \alpha \quad (\text{inf-sup condition}).$ (ii) $\forall v \in V, (\forall w \in W, a(w, v) = 0) \Longrightarrow (v = 0).$

Proof. See (Theorem 2.6, [43]).

Theorem 6

(Lax-Milgram) Let ϕ be a bounded coercive bilinear form on a Hibert space H. For every bounded linear functional f on H, there exists a unique x_f in H such that

$$\phi(x, x_f) = f(x),\tag{4}$$

for all $x \in H$.

Sobolev Spaces

We define $\mathcal{D}(\Omega)$ to be the linear space of infinitely differentiable functions, with compact support on Ω . Then, we set

$$\mathcal{D}(\overline{\Omega}) = \{\phi|_{\Omega}; \phi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)\},\$$

or equivalently, if \mathcal{O} denotes any open subset of \mathbb{R}^n such that $\overline{\Omega} \subset \mathcal{O}$,

$$\mathcal{D}(\overline{\Omega}) = \{\phi|_{\Omega}; \phi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{O})\}.$$

Now, let $\mathcal{D}'(\overline{\Omega})$ denotes the dual space of $\mathcal{D}(\overline{\Omega})$, often called the space of distributions on Ω . We denote by $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\Omega}$ the duality pairing between $\mathcal{D}'(\overline{\Omega})$ and $\mathcal{D}(\overline{\Omega})$, we remark that when f is a locally integrable function, then f can be identified with a distribution by

$$(f,\phi)_{\Omega} = \int_{\Omega} f(x)\phi(x)dx \quad \forall \phi \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega).$$

In other words, $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\Omega}$ is an extension of the scalar product of $L^2(\Omega)$. Now, we can define the derivatives of distributions. Let $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and set

$$|\alpha| = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i,$$

for u in $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$, we define $\partial^{\alpha} u$ in $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$ by:

$$(\partial^{\alpha} u, \phi)_{\Omega} = (-1)^{|\alpha|} (u, \partial^{\alpha} \phi), \quad \forall \phi \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega),$$

when u is α times differentiable, $\partial^{\alpha} u$ coincides with the usual notion of derivative:

$$\partial^{\alpha} u = \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|} u}{\partial x_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots \partial x_n^{\alpha_n}}$$

For each integer $m \ge 0$ and real p with $1 \le p \le \infty$, we define the Sobolev space:

$$W^{m,p}(\Omega) = \{ v \in L^p(\Omega); \partial^{\alpha} v \in L^p(\Omega) \ \forall |\alpha| \le m \},\$$

which is a Banach space for the norm

$$\| u \|_{m,p,\Omega} = \| u \|_{W^{m,p}(\Omega)} = \left(\sum_{|\alpha| \le m} \int_{\Omega} \left| \partial^{\alpha} u(x) \right|^{p} dx \right)^{1/p} \quad \text{for } p < \infty$$

or

$$\| u \|_{m,\infty,\Omega} = \| u \|_{W^{m,\infty}(\Omega)} = \max_{|\alpha| \le m} \left(\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \Omega} \left| \partial^{\alpha} u(x) \right| \right) \quad \text{for } p = \infty.$$

The space $W^{m,p}(\Omega)$ is separable for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and reflexive for $1 . We also provide <math>W^{m,p}(\Omega)$ with the following seminorm

$$|u|_{m,p,\Omega} = \left(\sum_{|\alpha|=m} \int_{\Omega} \left|\partial^{\alpha} u(x)\right|^{p} dx\right)^{1/p} \quad \text{for } p < \infty.$$

When p = 2, $W^{m,2}(\Omega)$ is usually denoted by $H^m(\Omega)$, and if there is no ambiguity, we drop the subscript p = 2 when referring to its norm and seminorm. The space $H^m(\Omega)$ is a Hilbert space with the inner product:

$$(u,v)_{m,\Omega} = \sum_{|\alpha| \le m} \int_{\Omega} \partial^{\alpha} u(x) \partial^{\alpha} v(x) dx$$

Sometimes we also make use of the following notation

$$\|u\|_{m,\Omega} = \|u\|_{H^{m}(\Omega)} = \|u\|_{W^{m,2}(\Omega)} = \left(\sum_{|\alpha| \le m} \int_{\Omega} \left|\partial^{\alpha} u(x)\right|^{2} dx\right)^{1/2},$$
$$\|u\|_{m,\Omega} = \|u\|_{m,2,\Omega} = \left(\sum_{|\alpha| = m} \int_{\Omega} \left|\partial^{\alpha} u(x)\right|^{2} dx\right)^{1/2}.$$

Parallel to the Sobolev spaces, we recall the familiar definition of \mathcal{C}^m -functions:

- $\mathcal{C}^0(\Omega)$ denotes the space of continuous functions defined in Ω ,
- $\mathcal{C}^m(\Omega) = \{ u \in \mathcal{C}^0(\Omega); \partial^\alpha u \in \mathcal{C}^0(\Omega) \quad \forall |\alpha| \le m \}.$

We also recall the Sobolev embeddings :

$$W^{2,\infty}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}^1(\overline{\Omega}),$$

and

$$W^{1,\infty}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}^0(\overline{\Omega}).$$

(See Theorem 4.12 in [1] for more details).

Following the Sobolev space notations, we introduce the Korn's inequality: Let \boldsymbol{v} in $H^1(\Omega)^d$, there is a constant $C \geq 0$ depending only on Ω and $\partial\Omega$, known as the Korn constant of Ω , such that,

(Korn's inequality)
$$\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \leq C(\Omega, \partial\Omega) (\|\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{v})\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^2(\partial\Omega)}).$$
 (5)

As usual, for handling time-dependent problem, it is convenient to consider functions defined on a time interval (a, b) with values in a functional space, say X. More precisely, let $\|\cdot\|_X$ denote the norm of X; then for any number $s, 1 \leq s \leq \infty$, we define

$$L^{s}(a,b;X) = \left\{ f \text{ measurable in } (a,b) : \int_{a}^{b} \|f(t)\|_{X}^{s} dt < \infty \right\},$$

and its norm is given by:

$$||f||L^{s}(a,b;X) = \left(\int_{a}^{b} ||f(t)||_{X}^{s} dt\right)^{1/s}$$

The space $L^{s}(a, b; X)$ is a Banach space if X is a Banach space, and for s = 2, it is a Hibert space if X is a Hilbert space. We denote derivatives with respect to time with a prime and we define for instance

$$H^{1}(a,b;X) = \left\{ f \in L^{2}(a,b;X) : f' \in L^{2}(a,b;X) \right\}.$$

18

Chapter 1

Derivation and well-posedness for Biot-Koiter poroelastic shell model

Our purpose in this chapter is the derivation of a shell model of Koiter type coupled with the Biot model (see Theorem 7). We also prove the well-posedness of the resulting equations (see Theorem 8). We use here the linearly elastic thin shell with little regularity in which the midsurfaces have curvature discontinuity.

More precisely, in the process of deriving the weak form, we face difficulty of writing the poroelastic structure model in term of shell symbols (metric tensor $\gamma_{\alpha\beta}$, curvature tensor $\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}$). In order to solving this problem, we use the structure displacement U belonging to the space of Kirchhoff-Love displacements $\mathcal{V}_{KL} = \{ V \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3); \varepsilon_{i3}(V) = 0 \}$. For the well-posedness, we are not able to prove the existence and uniqueness of the displacement U and the pressure p at the same time. Therefore, we firstly turn out the well-posedness of U in the weak form of constitutive equation (1.37) by Banach-Nečas-Babuška theorem with a given p (see Lemma 15). Then proving the well-posedness of p in the weak form of mass conservation equation in (1.37) by making use of the semi-discrete Galerkin method and the theory of initial value problem for liner systems (see Lemma 17, 18 & 19). We begin with some definitions.

1.1 Definition of a shell

Let ω be a open, bounded and connected subset of \mathbb{R}^2 with Lipschitz-continuous boundary and being locally on one side of its boundary. Let S be a surface of \mathbb{R}^3 defined by $\overline{S} = \varphi(\overline{\omega})$, where $\varphi \in W^{2,\infty}(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ is an injective mapping. A shell M of the midsurface S is given by

$$M = \left\{ \Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) + z \boldsymbol{a}_3(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{x} \in \overline{\omega} \text{ and } \frac{-e(\boldsymbol{x})}{2} \le z \le \frac{e(\boldsymbol{x})}{2} \right\},$$
(1.1)

where $e \in L^{\infty}(\omega)$ be the thickness of the shell, which we assume to be such that $e(\boldsymbol{x}) \geq c > 0$ almost everywhere in ω (see Fig.1.1). Chapter 1. Biot-Koiter poroelastic shell model



Figure 1.1: Parametrization of the shell

1.2 Koiter's approach

For obtaining his model, Koiter adapted two fundamental hypotheses of Kirchhoff-Love (see Ph. Ciarlet [35] for more details) that we recall below:

 H1: Any point on a normal to the midsurface remains on the normal to the deformed midsurface after the deformation has taken place, i.e.,

$$\boldsymbol{a}_{3}^{*} = \frac{\boldsymbol{a}_{1}^{*} \wedge \boldsymbol{a}_{2}^{*}}{|\boldsymbol{a}_{1}^{*} \wedge \boldsymbol{a}_{2}^{*}|},\tag{1.2}$$

here $\boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha}^* = \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha} + \partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{u}$ is the covariant basis of the deformed surface. We can check easily that, after linearization:

$$\boldsymbol{a}_{3}^{*}(x) = \boldsymbol{a}_{3}(x) - (\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3})\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha}.$$
(1.3)

- H2: The distance between such a point and the midsurface remains constant.

Taking these two a priori assumptions into account, W.T. Koiter then shows that the displacement filed across the thickness of the shell can be completely determined from the sole knowledge of the displacement filed of the points on the midsurface S, and he identifies the twodimensional problem, *i.e.*, posed over the two-dimensional set $\overline{\omega}$, that this displacement filed should satisfy. As in the two-dimensional theories encountered so far, the unknown is a vector field, now denoted $\boldsymbol{u} : \overline{\omega} \to \mathbb{R}^3$, whose components u_i , (resp. u_i^c) : $\overline{\omega} \to \mathbb{R}$ are the covariant (resp. Cartesian) components of the displacement field of the midsurface S. This means that $u_i(\boldsymbol{x})\boldsymbol{a}^i(\boldsymbol{x})$ (resp. $u_i^c(\boldsymbol{x})\boldsymbol{e}^i$) is the displacement of the point $\varphi(\boldsymbol{x})$.

1.3 Functional spaces

Let us set the domain $\Omega = \omega \times] - e/2$; e/2[and its boundary $\Gamma_0 = \partial \Omega = \gamma_0 \times] - e/2$; e/2[, where $\gamma_0 = \partial \omega$. Let us now introduce the following functional spaces:

$$\mathcal{X}_{K} = \left\{ \boldsymbol{v} \in H^{1}(\omega, \mathbb{R}^{3}); \ (\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot a_{3})a^{\alpha} \in H^{1}(\omega, \mathbb{R}^{3}), \ \boldsymbol{v} = \partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot a_{3} = 0 \text{ on } \gamma_{0} \right\},$$
(1.4)

1.4. Kirchhoff-Love displacement

$$\mathcal{V}_K = L^{\infty} \big(0, T; \mathcal{X}_K \big), \tag{1.5}$$

and

$$\mathcal{W}_{K} = \left\{ q \in L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega)) \cap L^{2}(0,T;H^{1}(\Omega)); q = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{0} \right\}.$$
(1.6)

We equip the space \mathcal{X}_K with the norm

$$\|v\|_{\mathcal{X}_{K}} = \left(\|v\|_{H^{1}(\omega;\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + \sum_{\alpha} \|(\partial_{\alpha}v \cdot a_{3})a^{\alpha}\|_{H^{1}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(1.7)

1.4 Kirchhoff-Love displacement

Let us introduce the Kirchhoff-Love space

$$\mathcal{V}_{KL} = \{ V \in H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^3); \ \varepsilon_{i3}(V) = 0 \},\$$

and characterize its elements. It is the object of the following lemma.

A displacement field $\mathbf{V} \in H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ is a Kirchhoff-Love displacement if and only if there exists $\mathbf{v} \in H^1(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that

$$\boldsymbol{V}(x,z) = \boldsymbol{v}(x) - z \big(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v}(x) \cdot a_3(x)\big) a^{\alpha}(x).$$
(1.8)

Proof. Firstly, we derive the "forward" proof. Let $\boldsymbol{V} \in \mathcal{V}_{KL}$, we have

$$0 = \varepsilon_{i3}(\boldsymbol{V}) = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_i \boldsymbol{V} \cdot g_3 + \partial_3 \boldsymbol{V} \cdot g_i)$$

So one have

$$\begin{cases} \partial_3 \mathbf{V} \cdot a_3 = 0, \quad (1.9) \\ \partial_\alpha \mathbf{V} \cdot a_3 + \partial_3 \mathbf{V} \cdot g_\alpha = 0. \quad (1.10) \end{cases}$$

From (1.9), there exists $\boldsymbol{w} \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that $\partial_3 \boldsymbol{V} = \boldsymbol{w} \wedge a_3$. From that, we have

$$\int_0^z \partial_3 \boldsymbol{V}(x,\tau) d\tau = \underbrace{\left(\int_0^z \boldsymbol{w}(x,\tau) d\tau\right)}_{\Theta(x,z)} \wedge a_3.$$

Hence,

$$V(x,z) - V(x,0) = \Theta(x,z) \wedge a_3$$
, with $\Theta(x,0) = 0$.

21

We can present $\Theta(x, z)$ as below

$$\Theta(x,z) = \underbrace{\Theta(x,0)}_{=0} + z\partial_3\Theta(x,0) + z^2\partial_3^2\Theta(x,0) + \cdots$$

Since z is belong to $\left]\frac{-e}{2}; \frac{e}{2}\right[$ and e is the thickness of the shell, $z^n \approx 0$ with $n \geq 2$. Rewriting V:

$$\boldsymbol{V}(x,z) = \boldsymbol{V}(x,0) + z\partial_3 \Theta(x,0) \wedge a_3.$$

Let us denote $t(x, z) = z\partial_3\Theta(x, 0) \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ (note that t(x, 0) = 0) and $\boldsymbol{v}(x) = \boldsymbol{V}(x, 0) \in H^1(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$. $\boldsymbol{V}(x, z)$ becomes

$$\boldsymbol{V}(x,z) = \boldsymbol{v}(x) + t \wedge a_3. \tag{1.11}$$

Replacing (1.11) into (1.10), we have

$$0 = \partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{V} \cdot a_{3} + \partial_{3} \boldsymbol{V} \cdot g_{\alpha}$$

= $\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{V} \cdot a_{3} + (\underbrace{\partial_{\alpha} t \wedge a_{3}) \cdot a_{3}}_{=0} + (t \wedge \partial_{\alpha} a_{3}) \cdot a_{3} + (\partial_{3} t \wedge a_{3}) \cdot g_{\alpha}$
= $\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot a_{3} - (t \wedge a_{3}) \cdot \partial_{\alpha} a_{3} + (\partial_{3} t \wedge a_{3}) \cdot (a_{\alpha} + z \partial_{\alpha} a_{3}).$ (1.12)

Setting

$$s = \partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot a_3 a^{\alpha}$$
 and $\Theta = t \wedge a_3$ where $\Theta = \Theta(x, z)$.

Hence, (1.12) becomes

$$s \cdot a_{\alpha} - \partial_{\alpha} a_3 \cdot \Theta + (a_{\alpha} + z \partial_{\alpha} a_3) \cdot \partial_3 \Theta = 0$$

Since $\partial_{\alpha}a_3 = -b^{\rho}_{\alpha}a_{\rho}$,

$$s \cdot a_{\alpha} + b_{\alpha}^{\rho} a_{\rho} \cdot \Theta + (a_{\alpha} - z \, b_{\alpha}^{\rho} a_{\rho}) \cdot \partial_3 \Theta = 0,$$

and thanks to $a_{\alpha} = \delta^{\rho}_{\alpha} a_{\rho}$, we have

$$\delta^{\rho}_{\alpha} s \cdot a_{\rho} + b^{\rho}_{\alpha} a_{\rho} \cdot \Theta + (\delta^{\rho}_{\alpha} a_{\rho} - z \, b^{\rho}_{\alpha} a_{\rho}) \cdot \partial_{3} \Theta = 0.$$

We set $I = \delta^{\rho}_{\alpha}$ and $II = b^{\rho}_{\alpha}$, so

$$\operatorname{I} s \cdot a_{\rho} + \operatorname{II} a_{\rho} \cdot \Theta + (\operatorname{I} a_{\rho} - z \operatorname{II} a_{\rho}) \cdot \partial_{3} \Theta = 0.$$

It follows that

$$\left[\mathrm{I}\,r + \mathrm{II}\Theta + (\mathrm{I} - z\mathrm{II})\partial_3\Theta\right] \cdot a_\rho = 0. \tag{1.13}$$

Besides, since $s \cdot a_3 = 0$, $\Theta \cdot a_3 = 0$ and $\partial_3 \Theta \cdot a_3 = (\partial_3 t \wedge a_3) \cdot a_3 = 0$, we obtain

$$\left[\mathrm{I}\,s + \mathrm{II}\Theta + (\mathrm{I} - z\mathrm{II})\partial_3\Theta\right] \cdot a_3 = 0. \tag{1.14}$$

From (1.13) and (1.14), one have

$$\begin{cases} \left[\mathbf{I} \, s + \mathbf{I} \mathbf{I} \Theta + (\mathbf{I} - z \mathbf{I} \mathbf{I}) \partial_3 \Theta \right] \cdot a_\rho = 0, \\ \left[\mathbf{I} \, s + \mathbf{I} \mathbf{I} \Theta + (\mathbf{I} - z \mathbf{I} \mathbf{I}) \partial_3 \Theta \right] \cdot a_3 = 0. \end{cases}$$

Therefore, we obtain that

$$\mathbf{I}s + \mathbf{II}\Theta + (\mathbf{I} - z\mathbf{II})\partial_3\Theta = 0.$$

We set A = I - zII and B = II, then we have

$$A\partial_3\Theta + B\Theta = -\mathrm{I}\,s.\tag{1.15}$$

Since $B = -\partial_3 A$, (1.15) is equivalent to

$$A\,\partial_3\Theta - \partial_3A\,\Theta = -\mathrm{I}\,s$$

Hence,

$$A^{-1}\partial_3\Theta - A^{-2}\partial_3A\Theta = -A^{-2}\mathrm{I}\,s.$$

Finally, we have

$$\begin{cases} \partial_3(A^{-1}\Theta) = -A^{-2}\mathrm{I}\,s,\\ \Theta(x,0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(E)

A particular solution of (E) is $\Theta(x, z) = -zs(x)$. Indeed, replacing this solution in (E), we have

$$\partial_3(A^{-1}\Theta) = \partial_3(-A^{-1}zs)$$

= $\partial_3(-A^{-1}z)s$
= $(zA^{-2}\partial_3A - A^{-1})s$
= $A^{-2}(z\partial_3A - A)s$
= $A^{-2}(-zII - I + zII)s$
= $(-A^{-2}I)s$.

Hence, we have the general solution of the homogeneous equation

$$\Theta(x,z) = -zs(x), \Theta \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3) \text{ with } s = \partial_\alpha \boldsymbol{v} \cdot a_3 \, a^\alpha \in H^1(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3).$$

Consequently, we can write $\boldsymbol{V}(x,z) = \boldsymbol{v}(x) - z\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot a_3 a^{\alpha}$.

Now, we prove the reverse. Let us suppose now that there exist $\boldsymbol{v} \in H^1(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that

$$\boldsymbol{V}(x,z) = \boldsymbol{v}(x) - z \left(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot a_{3}\right) a^{\alpha},$$

is a Kirchhoff-Love displacement field and prove that $\varepsilon_{i3}(\mathbf{V}) = 0$. It is easy to check that:

$$\varepsilon_{33}(\mathbf{V}) = \partial_3 \mathbf{V} \cdot g_3 = (\partial_\alpha v \cdot a_3) a^\alpha \cdot a_3 = 0,$$

and

$$2\varepsilon_{\beta3}(\mathbf{V}) = \partial_{\beta}\mathbf{V} \cdot g_{3} + \partial_{3}\mathbf{V} \cdot g_{\beta} = \partial_{\beta}\mathbf{V} \cdot a_{3} + \partial_{3}\mathbf{V} \cdot g_{\beta}$$

= $(\partial_{\beta}\mathbf{v} - z\partial_{\beta}[(\partial_{a}\mathbf{v} \cdot a_{3})a^{\alpha}]) \cdot a_{3} - (\partial_{\alpha}\mathbf{v} \cdot a_{3})a^{\alpha} \cdot (a_{\beta} + z\partial_{\beta}a_{3})$
= $\partial_{\beta}\mathbf{v} \cdot a_{3} - (\partial_{\alpha}\mathbf{v} \cdot a_{3})a^{\alpha} \cdot a_{\beta} - z(\partial_{\alpha}\mathbf{v} \cdot a_{3})(\partial_{\beta}a^{\alpha} \cdot a_{3} + a^{\alpha} \cdot \partial_{\beta}a_{3})$
= $\underbrace{\partial_{\beta}\mathbf{v} \cdot a_{3} - (\partial_{\alpha}\mathbf{v} \cdot a_{3})\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}}_{=0} - z(\partial_{\alpha}\mathbf{v} \cdot a_{3})\partial_{\beta}\underbrace{(a^{\alpha} \cdot a_{3})}_{=0} = 0.$

Therefore, $\varepsilon_{i3}(\mathbf{V}) = 0$. We proved Lemma 4.

1.5 Definition of a deformed shell

After deformation, the normal unit vector \boldsymbol{a}_3 is deformed to a vector \boldsymbol{a}_3^* which is orthonormal to the deformed surface (transverse shears are neglected). Then, the point $\Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, z)$ becomes

$$\Phi^*(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \varphi^*(\boldsymbol{x}) + f(z)\boldsymbol{a}_3^*(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (1.16)$$

where $\varphi^* = \varphi + \boldsymbol{u}$ the mapping defining the deformed midsurface, \boldsymbol{u} being the displacement of point $\varphi(\boldsymbol{x})$ on ω . It should be mentioned that f(z) is an arbitrary function of z. Thus, under the hypothesis **H1** and **H2**, the deformed shell will be defined by the chart

$$\Phi^*(x,z) = \varphi^*(x) + z(\boldsymbol{a}_3 - (\partial_\alpha \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3)\boldsymbol{a}^\alpha).$$
(1.17)

1.6 Displacement of a Koiter's shell

Under the hypothesis \mathbf{H}_1 and \mathbf{H}_2 of Kirchhoff-Love, the displacement of a point $\Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, z)$ is written by

$$\mathcal{U}(\Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, z)) = \boldsymbol{U}(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \Phi^*(\boldsymbol{x}, z) - \Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, z).$$

This means that

$$\boldsymbol{U}(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}) - z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3)\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha}.$$
(1.18)

24

1.7 Linearized change of shell metric tensor

Let us first introduce the local bases at each point of the three-dimensional shell. The covariant basis is defined by

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{g}_{\alpha} = \boldsymbol{g}_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \partial_{\alpha} \Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{x}) + z \partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{a}_{3}(\boldsymbol{x}), \\ \boldsymbol{g}_{3} = \boldsymbol{g}_{3}(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \partial_{3} \Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \boldsymbol{a}_{3}(\boldsymbol{x}). \end{cases}$$

The contravariant basis is defined by

$$\boldsymbol{g}_i \cdot \boldsymbol{g}^j = \delta^i_j.$$

It follows that

$$g^{\alpha 3} = g^{3\alpha} = 0$$
 and $g^{33} = 1$

We recall that, given arbitrary displacement field V of a three-dimensional manifold $\Phi(\overline{\Omega})$ in \mathbb{R}^3 , the covariant components $\varepsilon_{ij}(V)$ of the associated linearized change of metric tensor are defined by:

$$\varepsilon(\mathbf{V}) = \varepsilon_{ij}(V)\mathbf{g}^i \otimes \mathbf{g}^j \text{ with } \varepsilon_{ij}(V) = \frac{1}{2} (g_{ij}(V) - g_{ij})^{lin},$$
 (1.19)

where $g_{ij}(V)$ and $g_{ij}(V)$, respectively, are the metric tensor in the configuration of reference and the deformed shell. The vectors of the deformed local basis are defined by:

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{g}_{\alpha}(V) = \partial_{\alpha} \Phi^* = \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha}^* - z(b_{\alpha}^{\rho})\boldsymbol{a}_{\rho}^*, \\ \boldsymbol{g}_3(V) = \partial_3 \Phi^* = \boldsymbol{a}_3^*, \end{cases}$$

and an approximation of covariant components of metric tensor of the deformed shell is given by:

$$\begin{cases} g_{\alpha\beta}(V) = \boldsymbol{g}_{\alpha}(V) \cdot \boldsymbol{g}_{\beta}(V) = a_{\alpha\beta}^{*} - 2zb_{\alpha\beta}^{*} + z^{2}c_{\alpha\beta}^{*}, \\ g_{\alpha3}(V) = 0, \\ g_{33}(V) = 1, \end{cases}$$

where $a_{\alpha\beta}^*$, $b_{\alpha\beta}^*$ and $c_{\alpha\beta}^*$ point out the covariant components of the first, second and third fundamental forms of the deformed midsurface.

Since a surface also has a metric tensor, it is natural to likewise define the covariant components of the linearized change of metric tensor associated with any displacement field defined on it. Thus, for a given arbitrary displacement field \boldsymbol{v} of the surface S the covariant components of the linearized change of metric tensor associated with this vector field is defined by:

$$\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) = \frac{1}{2} (a_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) - a_{\alpha\beta})^{lin} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{\beta} + \partial_{\beta} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha}).$$
(1.20)

We also introduce the linearized change of curvature tensor on the shell midsurface by its covariant components:

$$\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) = (b_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) - b_{\alpha\beta})^{lin} = (\partial_{\alpha\beta}\boldsymbol{u} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v}) \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3}.$$
(1.21)
Remark 5

Note that all these quantities make sense for shell with C^1 -regularity, and are easily expressed with the Cartesian coordinates of the displacement field and geometrical data. For instance, $\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})$ is a distribution of $H^{-1}(\omega)$ when $v \in H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ and the chart φ is in $W^{2,\infty}(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$.

Now, if the three-dimensional displacement V is of Kirchhoff-Love type:

$$\boldsymbol{V}(x,z) = \boldsymbol{v}(x) - z \Big(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v}(x) \cdot a_3(x) \Big) a^{\alpha}(x),$$

then, by neglecting all the terms containing z^2 , the covariant components of the associated linearized change of metric tensor (1.19) is given in terms of the change of metric and change curvature tensors on the midsurface S by:

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) = \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) - z\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}), \\ \varepsilon_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{V}) = 0, \\ \varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{V}) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(1.22)

Remark 6

When the normal strain $\varepsilon_{33}(V)$ and the shear strains $\varepsilon_{\alpha3}(V)$ are small compared to the crosssectional strains, plane strain, (1.22), is then an acceptable approximation for the shell change metric tensor (1.19).

1.8 The tensor of shell constraints

We consider a three-dimensional continuous homogeneous shell subjected to given forces. Then, the stresses and strains of this material are connected by Hooke's law, (1.23), which is only a first-order linear approximation to the real response of the elastic shell to applied forces, when they are small enough. For a given displacement field V, the stress tensor is then defined by:

$$\sigma(\mathbf{V}) = \lambda tr(\varepsilon(\mathbf{V}))Id + 2\mu\varepsilon(\mathbf{V}), \qquad (1.23)$$

where λ and μ are the Lamé coefficients of the material ($\lambda \ge 0$ and $\mu > 0$).

We present in the lemma below the contravariant components of the tensor σ in term of change metric tensor and the geometrical data of the shell.

1.8. The tensor of shell constraints

Lemma 7

Let V be a given displacement field. The stress tensor $\sigma(\mathbf{V})$ given by the Hooke's law (1.23) can be rewritten as

$$\sigma(\boldsymbol{V}) = \sigma^{ij} \boldsymbol{g}_i \otimes \boldsymbol{g}_j \quad \text{with } \sigma^{ij} = \sigma(\boldsymbol{V}) : \boldsymbol{g}^i \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^j = E^{ijkl} \varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V}), \tag{1.24}$$

where the notation ":" denotes the product of two tensors, $\sigma : \tau \stackrel{def}{=} \sigma_{ij} g^{ik} g^{jl} \tau_{kl}$ and E^{ijkl} is the elastic tensor defined by

$$E^{ijkl} = \lambda g^{ij} g^{kl} + \mu (g^{ik} g^{jl} + g^{il} g^{jk}).$$
(1.25)

Proof. We remark that

$$tr(\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}))Id:\boldsymbol{g}^{i}\otimes\boldsymbol{g}^{j}=tr(\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{U}))tr(Id\,\boldsymbol{g}^{i}\otimes\boldsymbol{g}^{j})=tr(\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}))g^{ij},$$

and

$$tr(\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V})) = \varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V})tr(\boldsymbol{g}^k \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^l) = \varepsilon_{kl}g^{kl}$$

It follows that

$$\lambda tr(\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}))Id: \boldsymbol{g}^{i} \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^{j} = \lambda g^{ij} g^{kl} \varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V}).$$
(1.26)

Let's see the second term containing μ of (1.23). If we express the tensor $\varepsilon(\mathbf{V})$ in the basis $\mathbf{g}^k \otimes \mathbf{g}^l$, *i.e.*,

$$arepsilon(oldsymbol{V}) = ig(arepsilon(oldsymbol{V}):oldsymbol{g}_k\otimesoldsymbol{g}_lig)oldsymbol{g}^k\otimesoldsymbol{g}^l = arepsilon_{kl}(oldsymbol{V})oldsymbol{g}^k\otimesoldsymbol{g}^l,$$

we obtain

$$arepsilon(oldsymbol{V}):oldsymbol{g}^i\otimesoldsymbol{g}^j=arepsilon_{kl}(oldsymbol{V})oldsymbol{g}^k\otimesoldsymbol{g}^l:oldsymbol{g}^i\otimesoldsymbol{g}^j.$$

Thanks to

$$\boldsymbol{g}^k \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^l : \boldsymbol{g}^i \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^j = tr((\boldsymbol{g}^l \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^k)(\boldsymbol{g}^i \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^j) = g^{il}g^{kj},$$

we get

$$\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}): \boldsymbol{g}^i \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^j = \varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V})g^{il}g^{kj}.$$

Since $\varepsilon(V)$ is a symmetrical tensor,

$$\varepsilon(\mathbf{V}): \mathbf{g}^i \otimes \mathbf{g}^j = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{kl}(\mathbf{V})(g^{ik}g^{jl} + g^{il}g^{kj}).$$

Chapter 1. Biot-Koiter poroelastic shell model

It is equivalent to

$$2\mu\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}):\boldsymbol{g}^{i}\otimes\boldsymbol{g}^{j}=\mu\varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V})(g^{ik}g^{jl}+g^{il}g^{kj}).$$
(1.27)

Consequently, from (1.26) and (1.27), we obtain

$$(\lambda tr(\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}))Id + 2\mu\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V})): \boldsymbol{g}^{i} \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^{j} = (\lambda g^{ij}g^{kl} + \mu(g^{ik}g^{jl} + g^{il}g^{kj}))\varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V}).$$

Replacing the symbols of the tensor of constraint σ and the elastic tensor E^{ijkl} to the above equation, we obtain

$$\sigma(\boldsymbol{V}): \boldsymbol{g}^i \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^j = E^{ijkl} \varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V}).$$

Remark 8

Let us recall that g^{ij} are the covariant components of shell metric tensor. It should be pointed out that $g^{\alpha 3} = g^{3\alpha} = 0$ and $g^{33} = 1$. Thus we have

$$E^{3\alpha\beta\rho} = E^{333\beta} = 0, (1.28)$$

and

$$E^{33\alpha\beta} = \lambda g^{\alpha\beta}, \quad E^{3\alpha3\beta} = \mu g^{\alpha\beta} \text{ and } E^{3333} = \lambda + 2\mu.$$
 (1.29)

Finally, in order to derive the two-dimensional Koiter's model, we state the third hypothesis of Kirchhoff-Love:

H3: The stress tensors are planar, *i.e.*, for an arbitrary displacement field V, $\sigma^{33}(\mathbf{V}) = 0$. Remind that

$$\sigma^{33}(\mathbf{V}) = E^{33\alpha\beta}\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{V}) + E^{3333}\varepsilon_{33}(\mathbf{V})$$
$$= \lambda g^{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{V}) + (\lambda + 2\mu)\varepsilon_{33}(\mathbf{V}).$$

So, if $\lambda \neq 0$, **H3** leads to

$$arepsilon_{33}(oldsymbol{V}) = -rac{\lambda}{\lambda+2\mu}g^{lphaeta}arepsilon_{lphaeta}(oldsymbol{V}).$$

We then notice that the hypothesis \mathbf{H}_3 is not compatible with (1.22) as soon as $\lambda \neq 0$. Hence, we correct the definition of the change of metric tensor introduced in (1.22) as following:

$$\begin{cases} arepsilon_{lphaeta}^{
m cor}(m{V}) = arepsilon_{lphaeta}(m{V}), \ arepsilon_{lpha3}^{
m cor}(m{V}) = arepsilon_{lpha3}(m{V}), \ arepsilon_{33}^{
m cor}(m{V}) = -rac{\lambda}{\lambda+2\mu}g^{lphaeta}arepsilon_{lphaeta}(m{V}). \end{cases}$$

1.9 Derivation of Biot-Koiter shell model

A word of caution. For notational convenience, we omit throughout this section the exponent "cor" in the expression ε_{ij}^{cor} .

The poroelasticity theory was developed by Biot ([10], [11], [12], [13], [14] and [15]) several decades ago and it has been studied extensively. Poroelastic phenomena are interesting in numerous applications as geomechanics, ground-surface water flow, reservoir compaction and surface subsidence, seabed-wave interaction problem, etc.

The poroelastic shells and their interactions with fluids are part of a wide variety of issues and a largest interest for contemporary engineering (ship hulls, reservoirs, ...) and biomedical problems (heart, bones, intestine skin, ...).

Our purpose here is to derive, from the equilibrium equations of three dimensional linearized poroelasticity, a two dimensional linearized model for porous shell, essentially based on Kirchhoff-Love assumptions **H1**, **H2** and **H3**.

Usually, in shell theory (see Ciarlet[35] for details) the unknowns are identified to their local, covariant or contravariant components of the displacement. Our framework here is a free local basis formulation for the displacement and considered shells are with little regularity midsurface, since we authorize surfaces with curvature discontinuities.

In three dimensional linear elasticity, the undeformed body occupies a region M. Under loading, a point $\boldsymbol{x} \in M$ moves to $\boldsymbol{x} + \boldsymbol{U}(\boldsymbol{x})$. Let $\widetilde{\Gamma}_0 \cup \widetilde{\Gamma}_1$ be a partition of the boundary ∂M with meas $(\widetilde{\Gamma}_0) > 0$. Then the equilibrium equations of three dimensional elasticity are:

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) = \boldsymbol{f} & \text{in } \boldsymbol{M} & (\text{force balance}), \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) &= \boldsymbol{H} : \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{U}) & \text{in } \boldsymbol{M} & (\text{constitutive}), \\ \boldsymbol{U} &= \boldsymbol{0} & \text{on } \widetilde{\Gamma}_0 & (\text{clamping}), \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} &= \boldsymbol{h} & \text{on } \widetilde{\Gamma}_1 & (\text{force balance}), \end{cases}$$

where $\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U})$ is the stress tensor and $\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{U}) = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla \boldsymbol{U} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{U})^T)$ is the strain tensor.

Let us recall the Biot model, introduced by Biot in [47], the constitutive equation for the Cauchy stress tensor $\tilde{\sigma}$ in terms of the displacement U and fluid pressure p is

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) - \alpha p \mathbf{I},\tag{1.30}$$

where **I** is the identity tensor, $\sigma(U)$ is the stress tensor, expressing the Hooke's law:

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) = \lambda(\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{U})\mathbf{I} + 2\mu\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{U}), \qquad (1.31)$$

where $\lambda \geq 0$ (dilation moduli) and $\mu > 0$ (shear moduli) are the Lamé coefficients, and $\alpha \in]0, 1[$ is the Biot-Willis constant, which is usually around one. The flux of the fluid \boldsymbol{v}_f is governed by Darcy's law in porous media

$$\boldsymbol{v}_f = -\frac{\kappa}{\eta} \nabla p, \qquad (1.32)$$

where $\eta > 0$ is the fluid viscosity, assumed to be constant, and κ is the permeability of porous medium.

The equation of mass conservation is

$$\frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial t} = -\mathrm{div}\boldsymbol{v}_f + g, \tag{1.33}$$

where g is a volumetric fluid source term and ζ is the fluid content of the medium; ζ related to the fluid pressure p and material volume div \boldsymbol{U} by

$$\zeta = c_0 p + \alpha \text{div} \, \boldsymbol{U},\tag{1.34}$$

where $c_0 \ge 0$ is the constrained specific storage coefficient, that is assumed to be constant. As explained by Phillips and Wheeler in [75], $c_0 = 0$ may lead to locking, whatever the value of the Lamé coefficient λ . Although in practical situation, c_0 can vanish, we do not consider this possibility here and therefore we suppose that $c_0 > 0$. With (1.32) and (1.34), the equation of mass conservation reads

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(c_0 p + \alpha \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{U}) - \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \operatorname{div}(\nabla p) = g.$$
(1.35)

Finally, the balance of linear momentum is derived by making a quasi-static assumption, namely by assuming that the material deformation is much slower than the flow rate, and hence the second-time derivative of the displacement (i.e. the acceleration) is zero. Denoting by f the body force, this yields

$$-\operatorname{div}\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} = \boldsymbol{f}.\tag{1.36}$$

Thus, replacing the constitutive relation (1.30) into (1.36) we obtain

$$-\nabla \cdot \sigma(\boldsymbol{U}) + \alpha \nabla p = \boldsymbol{f} \text{ in } M \times]0, T[.$$

Collecting the above equations, we have the following system of equations a.e. in $\Omega \times [0, T]$:

$$\int_{\Omega} -\nabla \cdot \sigma(\boldsymbol{U}) + \alpha \nabla p = \boldsymbol{f}, \text{ in } M \times]0, T[, \qquad (1.37a)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(c_0 p + \alpha \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{U}) - \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \operatorname{div}(\nabla p) = g, \text{ in } M \times]0, T[, \qquad (1.37b)$$

$$U = 0, \text{ on } \partial M \times]0, T[, \qquad (1.37c)$$

$$p = 0, \text{ on } \partial M \times]0, T[, \qquad (1.37d)$$

- (1.37d)
- $p(x, z, 0) = p_0(x, z)$, in M. (1.37e)

1.9. Derivation of Biot-Koiter shell model

Remark 9

i) The Biot system is supplemented with relevant boundary and initial conditions that have physical meaning. The initial condition associated to second equation of (1.37) should be given as:

$$\left(c_0 p + \alpha \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{U}\right)_{t=0} = c_0 p_0 + \alpha \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{U}_{\mathbf{0}}.$$
(1.38)

However, in the practice, the initial pressure is a measured data and the initial displacement U_0 is obtained as the unique solution of first equation of (1.37), where we replace p by p_0 .

ii) The coupling first order terms in the system have the following meaning: The term ∇p in the first equation results from the additional stress in the medium coming from the fluid pressure, the term div \boldsymbol{U} in the second equation represents the additional fluid content due to local volume change.

Remark 10

When $\boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_K$, it is easy to check that $\partial_{\alpha\beta} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3$ belongs to $L^2(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$. Therefore, the tensor $\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})$ belongs to $L^2(\omega)$ since \boldsymbol{a}_3 is in $W^{1,\infty}$.

Let $a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \in L^{\infty}(\omega)$ be an elasticity tensor, which we assume to satisfy the usual symmetries and to be uniformly strictly positive, *i.e.*, for all symmetric $\tau_{\alpha\beta}$ and almost all $\boldsymbol{x} \in \omega$,

$$a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{x})\tau_{\alpha\beta}\tau_{\rho\sigma} \ge c \sum_{\alpha\beta} |\tau_{\alpha\beta}|^2, \qquad (1.39)$$

with c > 0. In the case of homogeneous, isotropic material with Lamé moduli $\mu > 0$ and $\lambda \ge 0$, we have

$$a^{lphaeta
ho\sigma}(\pmb{x}) = rac{2\mu\lambda}{\lambda+2\mu}a^{lphaeta}a^{
ho\sigma} + \mu(a^{lpha
ho}a^{eta\sigma} + a^{lpha\sigma}a^{eta
ho}).$$

In the theorem below, we establish the weak formulation of the Koiter-Biot shell model.

Theorem 7

If U and p are a solution of the strong formulation (1.37), such that $U = u - z(\partial_{\alpha} u \cdot a_3)a^{\alpha}$ a Kirchhoff-Love displacement, then u and p belong, respectively, to \mathcal{V}_K and \mathcal{W}_K solve the following weak formulation:

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) + \mathcal{B}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{p};\boldsymbol{v}) = \mathcal{L}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_{K},$$
(1.40a)

$$\mathcal{A}_{2}^{K}(p;q) + \mathcal{B}_{2}^{N}(\boldsymbol{u};q) = \mathcal{L}_{2}^{K}(q) \quad \forall q \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega),$$
(1.40b)

$$p(0) = p_0 \text{ in } \Omega, \tag{1.40c}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) &= \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \big[\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^{2}}{12} \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})\Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) \big] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}, \\ \mathcal{B}_{1}^{K}(p;\boldsymbol{v}) &= -\alpha \int_{\Omega} p \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} p \operatorname{div} \big(z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3}) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \big) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ \mathcal{L}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{v}) &= \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \big(\boldsymbol{v} - z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3}) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \big) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ \mathcal{A}_{2}^{K}(p;q) &= c_{0} \int_{\Omega} p' q \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ \mathcal{B}_{2}^{K}(\boldsymbol{u};q) &= -\alpha \int_{\Omega} (\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}') q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \big(z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u}' \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3}) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \big) q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \text{ and} \\ \mathcal{L}_{2}^{K}(q) &= \int_{\Omega} g q \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}. \end{aligned}$$

Remark 11

We use p(0) in Eq. (1.40a) to get $\boldsymbol{u}(0)$. For a given p(0), the initial displacement is the unique solution of (1.40a), where we replace p by p(0).

Proof. (of Theorem 7) Let U be a solution of (1.37). We then multiply the equation (1.37a) by a test function $\mathbf{V} \in \mathcal{V}_{KL}$ of Kirchhoff-Love type, that is to say that, by lemma 4, there exist $\mathbf{v} \in H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that $\mathbf{V} = \mathbf{v} - z\partial_{\alpha}\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{a}_3 \mathbf{a}^{\alpha}$. We thus obtain:

$$-\int_{M} \left(\nabla \cdot \sigma(\boldsymbol{U}) \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \, dV + \alpha \int_{M} \nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \, dV = \int_{M} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \, dV, \quad \forall \boldsymbol{V} \in \mathcal{V}_{KL}.$$

It follows that

$$-\int_{\Omega} \left(\nabla \cdot \sigma(\boldsymbol{U}) \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

1.9. Derivation of Biot-Koiter shell model

Applying Green's formula and the boundary condition, we obtain

$$\underbrace{\int_{\Omega} \sigma(\boldsymbol{U}) \colon \varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{I} + \underbrace{\alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{J} = \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{K}.$$
 (1.41)

We then have

$$I = \int_{\Omega} \sigma^{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{X} + \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} \sigma^{33}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{X}}_{=0} + \underbrace{2 \int_{\Omega} \sigma^{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{X}}_{=0}.$$

Therefore,

$$I = \int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha\beta kl} \varepsilon_{kl}^{cor}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

Thanks to Remark 8, it follows that:

$$\begin{split} I &= \int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha\beta33} \varepsilon_{33}^{cor}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &+ \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha\beta3\sigma} \varepsilon_{3\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{=0} + \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha\beta\rho3} \varepsilon_{\rho3}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{=0} \\ &= \int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \frac{\lambda^2}{\lambda + 2\mu} \int_{\Omega} g^{\alpha\beta} g^{\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \left[\lambda g^{\alpha\beta} g^{\rho\sigma} + \mu(g^{\alpha\rho} g^{\beta\sigma} + g^{\alpha\sigma} g^{\beta\rho}) \right] \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &- \frac{\lambda^2}{\lambda + 2\mu} \int_{\Omega} g^{\alpha\beta} g^{\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &= \frac{2\mu\lambda}{\lambda + 2\mu} \int_{\Omega} g^{\alpha\beta} g^{\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &+ \mu \int_{\Omega} (g^{\alpha\rho} g^{\beta\sigma} + g^{\alpha\sigma} g^{\beta\rho}) \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &= \int_{\Omega} A^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \end{split}$$

where

$$A^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} = \frac{2\lambda\mu}{\lambda+2\mu}g^{\alpha\beta}g^{\rho\sigma} + \mu(g^{\alpha\rho}g^{\beta\sigma} + g^{\alpha\sigma}g^{\beta\rho}).$$
(1.42)

Let us set the covariant components, $g^{\alpha\beta}$, of the shell metric. Suppose that

$$g_{\alpha\beta} = a_{\alpha\beta} - 2zb_{\alpha\beta}.\tag{1.43}$$

Chapter 1. Biot-Koiter poroelastic shell model

We remark that

$$g^{11} = \frac{g_{22}}{g}, g^{22} = \frac{g_{11}}{g}$$
 and $g^{12} = -\frac{g_{21}}{g}$.

One deduce an approximation of $g^{\alpha\beta}$, given by

$$g^{\alpha\beta} = a^{\alpha\beta} + 2zb^{\alpha\beta} + \cdots$$
 (1.44)

where $b^{\alpha\beta} = a^{\alpha\rho}a^{\beta\sigma}b_{\rho\sigma}$ are the covariant components of the secondly fundamental form of surface S. If we neglect the term containing z in (1.44), (1.42) becomes

$$I = \int_{\Omega} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$= \int_{\omega} \int_{-e/2}^{e/2} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \Big[\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}) - z \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}) \Big] \Big[\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) - z \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) \Big] \sqrt{a} \, dz \, d\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$= \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}) \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \frac{1}{12} \int_{\omega} e^{3} \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}) \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$= e \int_{\omega} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \Big[\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}) \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^{2}}{12} \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}) \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) \Big] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad (1.45)$$

where

$$a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} = \frac{2\mu\lambda}{\lambda+2\mu}a^{\alpha\beta}a^{\rho\sigma} + \mu(a^{\alpha\rho}a^{\beta\sigma} + a^{\alpha\sigma}a^{\beta\rho}).$$

The second term of (1.41) becomes:

$$J = \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{X} = \alpha \int_{\Gamma_0} p \, \boldsymbol{V} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \, d\Gamma - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = -\alpha \int_{\Omega} p \, \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$
$$= -\alpha \int_{\Omega} p \operatorname{div} (\boldsymbol{v} - z(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

We continue with the term K,

$$K = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \left(\boldsymbol{v} - z(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3}) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

Consequently, (1.41) implies that

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) + \mathcal{B}_{1}^{K}(p;\boldsymbol{v}) = \mathcal{L}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{v}).$$
(1.46)

Similarly, we now multiply the equation (1.37b) by $q \in H_0^1(\Omega)$. We then obtain:

$$\int_{\Omega} \partial_t (c_0 p + \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{U}) q \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \Delta p \, q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega} g q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \; \forall q \in H_0^1(\Omega). \tag{1.47}$$

For convenience, we replace $\partial_t p$ by p' and $\partial_t U$ by U'. So, for all q in $H_0^1(\Omega)$, (1.47) is equivalent to

$$\underbrace{c_0 \int_{\Omega} p' q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} (\operatorname{div} \mathbf{U}') q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} - \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Gamma_0} q (\nabla p \cdot \mathbf{n}) \sqrt{a} \, d\Gamma + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}}_{LS}}_{LS} = \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} g q \, d\mathbf{X}}_{RS}. \quad (1.48)$$

We have

$$LS = c_0 \int_{\Omega} p' q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} (\operatorname{div} \mathbf{U}') q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}$$

=
$$\int_{\Omega} p' q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \left(\mathbf{u}' - z(\partial_{\alpha} \mathbf{u}' \cdot \mathbf{a}_3) \mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \right) q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X},$$

and

$$RS = \int_{\Omega} gq\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$

Then, (1.48) becomes

$$c_0 \int_{\Omega} p' q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \left(\mathbf{u}' - z (\partial_{\alpha} \mathbf{u}' \cdot \mathbf{a}_3) \mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \right) q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} = \int_{\Omega} g q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X},$$
or

$$\mathcal{A}_{2}^{K}(p;q) + \mathcal{B}_{2}^{K}(\boldsymbol{u};q) = \mathcal{L}_{2}^{K}(q).$$
(1.49)

From (1.46) and (1.49), we obtain Theorem 7.

Succeedingly, we derive the well-posedness of the weak problem (1.40).

1.10 Well-posedness

In this section, we prove the well-posedness of the problem (1.40) introduced in Theorem (7) and prove that its solution p belongs to $L^{\infty}(0, T, H^1(\Omega)) \cap H^1(0, T; L^2(\Omega))$. For the well-posedness, we are not able to prove the existence and uniqueness of the displacement U and the pressure p at the same time. Therefore, we firstly turn out the well-posedness of U in the weak form of constitutive equation (1.37) by Banach-Nečas-Babuš theorem with a given p (see Lemma 15). Then proving the well-posedness of p in the weak form of mass conservation equation in (1.37) by making use of the semi-discrete Galerkin method and the theory of initial value problem for linear systems (see Lemma 17, 18 & 19).

Theorem 8

Let $p_0 \in H^1(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{f} \in H^1(0,T; L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3))$ and $g \in L^2(\Omega \times]0, T[)$. Then the problem (1.40) has a unique solution. The pressure p belongs to $L^{\infty}(0,T,H^1(\Omega)) \cap H^1(0,T; L^2(\Omega))$.

The proof of Theorem 8 is comprised of two steps and each step is comprised of a series of lemmas.

Step 1. Let us begin by providing an existence and uniqueness result of the displacement u(p) for the equation (1.40a) when p is given. First of all, we recall the rigid displacement lemma in the functional framework introduced in [21].

Lemma 12

Let $\boldsymbol{v} \in H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ and assume that $\varphi \in W^{2,\infty}(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$.

1. If $\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) = 0$, then there exists $\psi \in L^2(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that $\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} = \psi \wedge a_{\alpha}$.

2. If $\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) = 0$, then ψ is a constant vector in \mathbb{R}^3 and there exists $c \in \mathbb{R}^3$ such that

$$\boldsymbol{v}(x) = c + \psi \wedge \varphi(x). \tag{1.50}$$

Proof. See Theorem 6 in[21].

Thanks to Lemma 12, we introduce the new norm $\|\cdot\|_{K}$ on \mathcal{X}_{K} ,

Lemma 13

If $\boldsymbol{v} \in H^1(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ and $\varphi \in W^{2,\infty}(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that $\boldsymbol{v} = 0$ on γ_0 and $\varphi(\gamma_0)$ is not included in a straight line, then $\boldsymbol{v} = 0$ a.e. on ω . Therefore, one can check that:

$$|||v|||_{K} = \left(\sum_{\alpha,\beta} ||\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(v)||^{2}_{L^{2}(\omega)} + \sum_{\alpha,\beta} ||\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(v)||^{2}_{L^{2}(\omega)}\right)^{1/2}$$
(1.51)

is a norm on \mathcal{X}_N .

Proof. It is clear that this the mapping $\boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_K \mapsto \|\|\boldsymbol{v}\|\|_{\mathcal{X}_K}$ is a semi-norm. By Lemma 12, if $\boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_K$ is such that $\|\|\cdot\|\|_K = 0$, then there exist $\psi, c \in \mathbb{R}^3$ such that $\boldsymbol{v}(x) = \psi \land \varphi(x) + c$. The set of points $y \in \mathbb{R}^3$ such that $\psi \land y + c$ vanishes is either a straight line ($\psi \neq 0$ and $c \neq 0$), empty ($\psi = 0$ and $c \neq 0$) or the whole space ($\psi = 0$ and c = 0). Since \boldsymbol{v} vanishes on $\partial \omega$ and $\varphi(\partial \omega)$ is not included in a straight line, it follow that $\boldsymbol{v} = 0$.

From Lemma 13, we prove in the following lemma the equivalence between (1.7) and (1.51).

Lemma 14

The norm

$$|||v|||_{K} = \left(\sum_{\alpha,\beta} ||\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(v)||^{2}_{L^{2}(\omega)} + \sum_{\alpha,\beta} ||\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(v)||^{2}_{L^{2}(\omega)}\right)^{1/2}$$

is equivalent to the norm (1.7) on \mathcal{X}_N .

Proof. We prove this lemma by contradiction. Let us assume that there exists a sequence \boldsymbol{v}_n in \mathcal{X}_K such that

$$\|\boldsymbol{v}_n\|_{\mathcal{X}_K} = 1 \text{ and } \|\|\boldsymbol{v}_n\|\|_K \to 0 \text{ when } n \to +\infty.$$
 (1.52)

By extracting a subsequence, still denoted \boldsymbol{v}_n , we may assume that there exists a $\boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_K$ such that $\boldsymbol{v}_n \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{v}$ weakly in $H^1(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ and $\partial_{\alpha\beta}\boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 \rightharpoonup \partial_{\alpha\beta}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3$ weakly in $L^2(\omega)$. Consequently,

$$\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}_n) \rightharpoonup \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) \text{ and } \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}_n) \rightharpoonup \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) \text{ weakly in } L^2(\omega),$$
 (1.53)

by expressions (1.20) and (1.21). Since hypothesis (1.52) implies that these tensors converge strongly to zero in $L^2(\omega)$, we obtain $\boldsymbol{v} = 0$ thanks to Lemma 12. Rellich's lemma now implies that $\boldsymbol{v}_n \to 0$ strongly in $L^2(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$.

Let us introduce the vector $(w_n)_{\alpha} = \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha}$, which is such that $w_n \to 0$ strongly in $L^2(\omega; \mathbb{R}^2)$. Let us define $2e_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{w}) = \partial_{\beta}\boldsymbol{w}_{\alpha} + \partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{w}_{\beta}$. We see that, by expression (1.20)

$$e_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{w}_n) = \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}_n) + \frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot (\partial_\beta \boldsymbol{a}_\alpha + \partial_\alpha \boldsymbol{a}_\beta) \to 0 \text{ strongly in } L^2(\omega), \qquad (1.54)$$

since $\mathbf{a}_{\alpha} \in W^{1,\infty}(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$. By the two-dimensional Korn inequality (5), we deduce then that $w_n \to 0$ strongly in $H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$. Consequently,

$$\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_{n} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha} = \partial_{\rho} \big((w_{n})_{\alpha} \big) - \boldsymbol{v}_{n} \cdot \partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha} \to 0 \text{ strongly in } L^{2}(\omega), \qquad (1.55)$$

since $\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha} \in L^{\infty}(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$.

Moreover, as $\boldsymbol{v}_n \rightarrow 0$ in $H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$, it follows that $\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 \rightarrow 0$ in $L^2(\omega)$. On the other hand, $\partial_{\beta}(\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3) = \partial_{\beta\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 + \partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \partial_{\beta} \boldsymbol{a}_3 \rightarrow 0$ in $L^2(\omega)$. Indeed, $\partial_{\beta} \boldsymbol{a}_3 \in L^{\infty}(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ and we already know that $\partial_{\beta\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 \rightarrow 0$ weakly in $L^2(\omega)$. Consequently, $\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 \rightarrow 0$ weakly in $H^1(\omega)$ and by Rellich's lemma

$$\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 \to 0 \text{ strongly in } L^2(\omega).$$
 (1.56)

We deduce from (1.52) and (1.56) that

$$\partial_{\alpha\beta}\boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 = \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}_n) + \Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 \to 0 \text{ strongly in } L^2(\omega), \qquad (1.57)$$

since $\Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\beta} \in L^{\infty}(\omega)$, and on the other hand that

$$\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_n = (\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_i) \boldsymbol{a}^i \to 0 \text{ strongly in } L^2(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3), \qquad (1.58)$$

by (1.55), (1.56) and since both \boldsymbol{a}_i and \boldsymbol{a}^i belong to $L^{\infty}(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$. Consequently, $\boldsymbol{v}_n \to 0$ strongly in $H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$. Since by (1.57), $\partial_{\alpha\beta}\boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 \to 0$ strongly in $L^2(\omega)$, we see that $\|\boldsymbol{v}_n\|_{\mathcal{X}_K}$ which contradicts (1.52) and proves the lemma. Now, we derive the main proof of the well-posedness by the following lemma,

Lemma 15

For a given p in $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\Omega))$ and \boldsymbol{f} in $H^1(0,T;L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3))$, there exists a unique solution $\boldsymbol{u}(p)$ in \mathcal{V}_K solving, for a.e. t in]0,T[,

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{v}) = \mathcal{L}_{1,p}^{K}(\boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_{K},$$
(1.59)

where $\mathcal{L}_{1,p}^{K}(\boldsymbol{v}) = \mathcal{L}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{v}) - \mathcal{B}_{1}^{K}(p;\boldsymbol{v}).$

Proof. We will prove the well-posedness by using the Banach-Nečas-Babuška theorem 5. For a.e. $t \in [0, T[$ and for all \boldsymbol{w} in \mathcal{V}_K , we have, thanks to Remark 10, ii):

$$\sup_{\boldsymbol{v}\in\mathcal{X}_{K}} \frac{\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{w};\boldsymbol{v})}{\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathcal{X}_{K}}} \geq \frac{\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{w};\boldsymbol{w})}{\|\boldsymbol{w}\|_{\mathcal{X}_{K}}}$$
$$\geq \frac{\min\{e,\frac{e^{3}}{12}\}\|\|\boldsymbol{w}\|\|_{K}^{2}}{\|\boldsymbol{w}\|_{\mathcal{X}_{K}}}$$
$$\geq \frac{\min\{e,\frac{e^{3}}{12}\}C\|\boldsymbol{w}\|_{\mathcal{X}_{K}}^{2}}{\|\boldsymbol{w}\|_{\mathcal{X}_{K}}}$$
$$= \min\{e,\frac{e^{3}}{12}\}C\|\boldsymbol{w}\|_{\mathcal{X}_{K}},$$

by using Lemma 13 and 14.

Therefore, for a.e. t in]0, T[and for all \boldsymbol{w} in \mathcal{V}_K , there exists $\theta = \min\{e, \frac{e^3}{12}\}C$ such that:

$$\sup_{\boldsymbol{v}\in\mathcal{X}_{K}}\frac{\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{w};\boldsymbol{v})}{\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathcal{X}_{K}}}\geq\theta\|\boldsymbol{w}\|_{\mathcal{X}_{K}}.$$
(1.60)

On the other hand, for all \boldsymbol{v} in \mathcal{X}_K , suppose that, for almost every $t \in [0, T[$,

$$\mathcal{A}_1^K(\boldsymbol{w}; \boldsymbol{v}) = 0, \;\; \forall \, \boldsymbol{w} \in \mathcal{V}_K.$$

Hence, by the equivalence between two norms $|| \cdot ||_{\mathcal{X}_K}$ and $||| \cdot |||_K$, we have

$$0 = \mathcal{A}_1^K \left(\boldsymbol{v}; \boldsymbol{v} \right) \ge \min\left\{ c; \frac{c^3}{12} \right\} \left\| \boldsymbol{v} \right\|_K^2 \ge \min\{c; \frac{c^3}{12} \} C \left\| \boldsymbol{v} \right\|_{\mathcal{X}_K}^2 \ge 0$$

Therefore,

$$\boldsymbol{v} = \boldsymbol{0}.\tag{1.61}$$

Additionally, there exist positive constants C_1 , C_2 , C_3 , C_4 such that

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{L}_{1,p}^{K}(\boldsymbol{v})| &= \left| \alpha \int_{\omega} \overline{p} \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \alpha \int_{\omega} \left(\int_{-e/2}^{e/2} p \, \operatorname{div} \left(z(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot a_{3}) a^{\alpha} \right) dz \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ \int_{\omega} e \, \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \\ &\leq C_{1} \|\overline{p}\|_{0,\omega} \|\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v}\|_{0,\omega} + C_{2} \|\overline{p}\|_{0,\omega} \|(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot a_{3}) a^{\alpha}\|_{H^{1}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})} + C_{3} \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{0,\omega} \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{0,\omega} \\ &\leq C_{4} \sqrt{2} \|\overline{p}\|_{0,\omega}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{0,\omega}^{2} \sqrt{\|\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v}\|_{0,\omega}^{2} + \|(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot a_{3}) a^{\alpha}\|_{H^{1}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{0,\omega}^{2}}, \end{aligned}$$

by using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality. Note that $\bar{p}(x) = \int_{-e/2}^{e/2} p(x,z)dz$. Therefore, with a given p, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\left|\mathcal{L}_{1,p}^{K}(\boldsymbol{v})\right| \leq C\sqrt{\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{H^{1}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + \|(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{a}_{3})a^{\alpha}\|_{H^{1}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}} = C\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathcal{X}_{K}}.$$
(1.62)

Combining (1.60), (1.61) and (1.62), we can see that the bilinear form $\mathcal{A}_1^K(\cdot; \cdot)$ and the continuous linear form $\mathcal{L}_{1,p}^K(\cdot)$ satisfy the conditions of the Banach-Nečas-Babuška theorem. So, the problem (1.59) is well-posed.

Comment. We are able to prove this theorem by using the Lax-Milgram lemma. Thanks to the inequality (1.39) and the equivalence between two norms $||| \cdot |||_K$ and $|| \cdot ||_{\mathcal{X}_k}$, we obtain the continuity and coercivity of \mathcal{A}_1^K . More precisely, by the Holder inequality and the upper bounded quality of $a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma}$ and \sqrt{a} , there exist C_1 , C_2 and C_3 such that

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v})| &= \left| \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \left[\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^{2}}{12} \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})\Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) \right] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \\ &\leq C_{1} \left| \int_{\omega} \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right| + C_{2} \left| \int_{\omega} \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})\Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \\ &\leq C_{1} ||\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})||_{L^{2}(\omega)} ||\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v})||_{L^{2}(\omega)} + C_{2} ||\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})||_{L^{2}(\omega)} ||\Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v})||_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ &\leq C_{3} \left(||\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})||_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + ||\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})||_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right)^{1/2} \left(||\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})||_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + ||\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})||_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right)^{1/2} \\ &= C_{3} |||\boldsymbol{u}|||_{K} |||\boldsymbol{v}|||_{K}, \qquad \forall \boldsymbol{u}, \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_{K}. \end{aligned}$$

By the equivalence between two norms $||| \cdot |||_K$ and $|| \cdot ||_{\mathcal{X}_k}$, there exists a constant C_4 such that

$$|\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v})| \leq C_{4}|||\boldsymbol{u}|||_{\mathcal{X}_{K}}|||\boldsymbol{v}|||_{\mathcal{X}_{K}}, \qquad \forall \boldsymbol{u},\,\boldsymbol{v}\in\mathcal{X}_{K}.$$
(1.63)

For the coercivity, by the inequality (1.39) and the relation of two norms $||| \cdot ||_{K}$ and $|| \cdot ||_{\chi_{k}}$,

Chapter 1. Biot-Koiter poroelastic shell model

there exist constants C_1', C_2' and C_3' such that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{v})| &= \left| \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \big[\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^{2}}{12} \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})\Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) \big] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \\ &\geq C_{1}^{\prime} \int_{\omega} |\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})|^{2} d\boldsymbol{x} + C_{2}^{\prime} \int_{\omega} |\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})|^{2} d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &\geq \min\{C_{1}^{\prime};C_{2}^{\prime}\} \int_{\omega} \left(|\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})|^{2} + |\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})|^{2} \right) d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \min\{C_{1}^{\prime};C_{2}^{\prime}\} |||\boldsymbol{v}|||_{K}^{2} \geq C_{3}^{\prime}||\boldsymbol{v}||_{\mathcal{X}_{K}}^{2}, \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_{K}. \end{aligned}$$
(1.64)

From (1.63), (1.64) and the Lax-Milgram Lemma, Lemma 1.59 is proved.

Remark 16

- i) When the initial condition p_0 is given, the initial displacement u_0 is obtained as the unique solution of the equation (1.40a) in which we replace p by p_0 .
- ii) Since the mapping $p \mapsto \boldsymbol{u}(p)$ is a continuous affine mapping from $L^2(\Omega)$ to \mathcal{X}_K : There exists a constant C such that

$$\forall p_1, p_2 \in L^2(\Omega), \| \boldsymbol{u}(p_1) - \boldsymbol{u}(p_2) \|_{\mathcal{X}_K} \leq C \| p_1 - p_2 \|_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$

Hence, (1.40) has the equivalent implicit formulation: Find p in $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega)) \cap L^{2}(0,T;H^{1}(\Omega))$ satisfying (1.40c) and for almost every t in]0,T[:

$$c_0 \int_{\Omega} p' q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \left(\mathbf{u}'(p) - z(\partial_{\alpha} \mathbf{u}'(p) \cdot \mathbf{a}_3) \mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \right) q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} = \int_{\Omega} g q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}, \quad \forall q \in H_0^1(\Omega), \quad (1.65)$$

with $\boldsymbol{u}(p)$ defined by (1.59).

For proving the well-posedness of the semi-discrete problem (1.70). It is convenient to split $\boldsymbol{u}(p)$ as follows:

$$\boldsymbol{u}(p) = \overline{\boldsymbol{u}} + \widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(p), \tag{1.66}$$

where $\overline{\boldsymbol{u}} \in \mathcal{X}_K$ is the unique solution of

$$\forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_{K}, \mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\overline{\boldsymbol{u}}, \boldsymbol{v}) = \left(\boldsymbol{f}, \left(\boldsymbol{v} - z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3})\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha}\right)\sqrt{a}\right)_{\Omega}, \text{ a.e. } t \in]0, T[, \qquad (1.67)$$

and $\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(p) \in \mathcal{X}_K$ is the unique solution of

$$\forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_{K}, \mathcal{A}_{1}^{K} \big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(p), \boldsymbol{v} \big) = \alpha \big(p, \operatorname{div} \big(\boldsymbol{v} - z(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3}) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \big) \sqrt{a} \big)_{\Omega}, \text{ a.e. } t \in]0, T[.$$
(1.68)

1.10. Well-posedness

According to the proof of Theorem 7, since the term I is in both (1.41) and (1.45), we see that

$$e \int_{\omega} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \bigg[\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}) \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^2}{12} \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}) \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) \bigg] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} = \big(\sigma(\boldsymbol{U}), \varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \big)_{\Omega}$$

It leads to

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) = \left(\sigma(\boldsymbol{U}),\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V})\sqrt{a}\right)_{\Omega}.$$
(1.69)

Subsequently, we show the second step of proof of Theorem 8.

Step 2. We use the Galerkin method to construct a solution *p*.

Let $(\theta_n)_{n\geq 1}$ be a smooth basis of $H_0^1(\Omega)$ and let Q_k be the space spanned by $(\theta_i)_{i=1}^k$, i.e., $Q_k = \text{Vect}\{\theta_1, \dots, \theta_k\}$. Then, our semi-discrete problem reads: Find

$$p_k(t) = \sum_{i=1}^k \pi_i(t)\theta_i \in H^1(0, T; Q_k),$$

such that

$$c_{0} \int_{\Omega} p_{k}^{\prime} \theta_{i} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \left(\widetilde{\mathbf{u}}_{k}^{\prime} - z(\partial_{\alpha} \widetilde{\mathbf{u}}_{k}^{\prime} \cdot \mathbf{a}_{3}) \mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \right) \theta_{i} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p_{k} \cdot \nabla \theta_{i} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}$$
$$= -\alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \left(\overline{\mathbf{u}}^{\prime} - z(\partial_{\alpha} \overline{\mathbf{u}}^{\prime} \cdot \mathbf{a}_{3}) \mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \right) \theta_{i} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \int_{\Omega} g \theta_{i} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} \quad 1 \le i \le k \,, \qquad (1.70a)$$
$$p_{k}(0) = p_{0k}, \qquad (1.70b)$$

where $\overline{\boldsymbol{u}}$ is defined by (1.67), $\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_k = \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(p_k)$, i.e. $\boldsymbol{u}(p_k) = \overline{\boldsymbol{u}} + \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_k$ and $p_{0k} \in Q_k$ satisfies

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|p_{0k} - p_0\|_{H^1_0(\Omega)} = 0$$

The system (1.70) is a square linear system of k ODEs of order one in matrix form. We establish now the well-posedness of the problem (1.70). It is the object of Lemma 17.

Lemma 17

Let $p_0 \in H^1(\Omega)$, $\mathbf{f} \in H^1(0, T; L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3))$, $g \in L^2(\Omega \times]0, T[$). The semi-discrete problem (1.70) has exactly one solution on [0, T].

Proof. Thanks to (1.68), we have

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}\left(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}\left(\pi_{i}^{\prime}(t)\theta_{i}\right),\boldsymbol{v}\right) = \alpha\left(\pi_{i}^{\prime}(t)\theta_{i},\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{v}\sqrt{a}\right)_{\Omega} + \alpha\left(\pi_{i}^{\prime}(t)\theta_{i},\operatorname{div}\left(z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{a}_{3})\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha}\right)\sqrt{a}\right)_{\Omega},$$
$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}\left(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}\left(\theta_{i}\right),\boldsymbol{v}\pi_{i}^{\prime}(t)\right) = \alpha\left(\theta_{i},\pi_{i}^{\prime}(t)\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{v}\sqrt{a}\right)_{\Omega} + \alpha\left(\theta_{i},\pi_{i}^{\prime}(t)\operatorname{div}\left(z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{a}_{3})\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha}\right)\sqrt{a}\right)_{\Omega},$$

Chapter 1. Biot-Koiter poroelastic shell model

Hence, we obtain

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}\left(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}\left(\pi_{i}^{\prime}(t)\theta_{i}\right),\boldsymbol{v}\right)=\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}\left(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}\left(\theta_{i}\right),\boldsymbol{v}\pi_{i}^{\prime}(t)\right)=\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}\left(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}\left(\theta_{i}\right)\pi_{i}^{\prime}(t),\boldsymbol{v}\right).$$

This follows that

$$\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}\big(\pi_i'(t)\theta_i\big) = \widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}\big(\theta_i\big)\pi_i'(t).$$

We write (1.70a) in matrix form and define the following vectors and matrices

$$\mathbf{P}_i = \pi_i, \ 1 \le i \le k, \ \mathbf{C}_{ij} = c_0(\theta_j, \theta_i \sqrt{a})_{\Omega}, \ 1 \le i, j \le k,$$

$$\mathbf{A}_{ij} = \alpha (\operatorname{div} \left[\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_j) - z(\partial_{\alpha} \widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_j) \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \right], \theta_i \sqrt{a})_{\Omega}, \ 1 \le i, j \le k,$$

and

$$\mathbf{D}_{ij} = \frac{\kappa}{\mu} (\nabla \theta_j, \nabla \theta_i \sqrt{a})_{\Omega}, \ 1 \le i, j \le k.$$

With those notations, (1.70) is a square system of k linear ODEs of order one: Find $P \in [H^1(0,T)]^k$ such that

$$\begin{cases} (\mathbf{C} + \mathbf{A})\mathbf{P}' + \mathbf{D}\mathbf{P} &= \mathbf{H}, \ \forall t \in]0, T[, \\ \mathbf{P}(0) &= \mathbf{P}_0, \end{cases}$$
(1.71)

where **H** is the vector of the right-hand side of (1.70a). Note that **C** and **D** are square and symmetric matrices. Let us prove that they are positive-definite.

For $\mathbf{Z} \in \mathbb{R}^k$, we have

$$\mathbf{Z}^{T}\mathbf{C}\mathbf{Z} = c_{0} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} (\theta_{j}, \theta_{i}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega} Z_{i}Z_{j} = c_{0} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} (Z_{j}\theta_{j}, Z_{i}\theta_{i}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega} = c_{0} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} \|Z_{i}\theta_{i}a^{1/4}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}$$

$$\geq c_{0} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} \sqrt{\delta} \|Z_{i}\theta_{i}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \geq 0.$$

Since c_0 and δ are both positive constants, if $\mathbf{Z}^T \mathbf{C} \mathbf{Z} = 0$ then $\sum_{i,j=1}^k Z_i \theta_i = 0$. Because $\{\theta_n\}_{n \ge 1}$ is a basis of $H_0^1(\Omega)$, then $Z_i = 0$ for all *i*. It follows that $\mathbf{Z} = 0$. Therefore $\mathbf{Z}^T \mathbf{C} \mathbf{Z} > 0$ for all $\mathbf{Z} \neq 0$ and \mathbf{C} is a positive-definite matrix.

Similarly, for matrix **D** we have,

$$\mathbf{Z}^{T}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{Z} = \frac{\kappa}{\mu} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} (\nabla\theta_{j}, \nabla\theta_{i}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega} Z_{i}Z_{j} = \frac{\kappa}{\mu} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} (Z_{j}\nabla\theta_{j}, Z_{i}\nabla\theta_{i}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega}$$
$$= \frac{\kappa}{\mu} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} \|Z_{i}\nabla\theta_{i}a^{1/4}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \ge \frac{\kappa}{\mu}\sqrt{\delta} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} \|Z_{i}\nabla\theta_{i}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \ge \frac{\kappa}{\mu}\sqrt{\delta}C\|Z_{i}\theta_{i}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \ge 0,$$

1.10. Well-posedness

thanks to Poincaré's inequality.

Since *C* and δ are both positive constants, if $\mathbf{Z}^T \mathbf{D} \mathbf{Z} = 0$ then $\sum_{i,j=1}^k Z_i \theta_i = 0$. Because $\{\theta_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ is a basis of $H_0^1(\Omega)$, $Z_i = 0$ for all *i*. It follows that $\mathbf{Z} = 0$. Therefore $\mathbf{Z}^T \mathbf{D} \mathbf{Z} > 0$ for all $\mathbf{Z} \neq 0$ and \mathbf{D} is a positive-definite matrix.

Regarding **A**, by choosing $p = \theta_i$ and $\boldsymbol{v} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_i)$ in (1.68), we have

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{i,j} = \mathcal{A}_1^K \big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_i); \widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_j) \big).$$

Note that A is a square and symmetric matrix. Let us prove that A is positive. Indeed, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{Z}^{T}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{Z} &= \mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{i});\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{j})\big)Z_{i}Z_{j} = \left(\sigma\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{i})\big),\varepsilon\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{v}}(\theta_{j})\big)\right)_{\Omega}Z_{i}Z_{j} \\ &\geq \sqrt{\delta}\left(\sigma\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{i})\big),\varepsilon\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{v}}(\theta_{j})\big)\right)_{\Omega}Z_{i}Z_{j} \\ &= 2\sqrt{\delta}\mu\bigg(\varepsilon\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{i})\big),\varepsilon\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{v}}(\theta_{j})\big)\bigg)_{\Omega}Z_{i}Z_{j} + \sqrt{\delta}\lambda\bigg(\operatorname{div}\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{i})\big),\operatorname{div}\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{v}}(\theta_{j})\big)\big)_{\Omega}Z_{i}Z_{j} \\ &= 2\sqrt{\delta}\mu\bigg(\sum_{i}\varepsilon\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{i})\big)Z_{i},\sum_{j}\varepsilon\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{v}}(\theta_{j})\big)Z_{j}\bigg)_{\Omega} + \sqrt{\delta}\lambda\bigg(\sum_{i}\operatorname{div}\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{i})\big)Z_{i},\sum_{j}\operatorname{div}\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{v}}(\theta_{j})\big)Z_{j}\bigg)_{\Omega} \\ &= 2\sqrt{\delta}\mu\bigg\|\sum_{i}\varepsilon\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{i})\big)Z_{i}\bigg\|_{\Omega}^{2} + \sqrt{\delta}\lambda\bigg\|\sum_{i}\operatorname{div}\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{i})\big)Z_{i}\bigg\|_{\Omega}^{2} \geq 0. \end{aligned}$$

Then, we conclude that the matrix C+A is square, symmetric and positive definite. Hence, (1.71) has exactly one solution on]0, T[by the theory of initial value problem for linear systems ([38]-Theorem 7.4).

Let us prove now that the sequences $(p_k)_k$ and $(\boldsymbol{u}(p_k))_k$ of semi-discrete problem (1.70) are bounded. For obtaining this result, we firstly test (1.59) with $\boldsymbol{u'}(p_k) = \boldsymbol{u}(p'_k)$, (1.70a) with p_k , add two equations and integrate with respect to time on]0, t[. Next, we test (1.70a) with p'_k , differentiating in time (1.59) written for $p = p_k$, testing the resulting equation with $\boldsymbol{u'}(p_k)$, adding the two equations and integrating with respect to time. Finally, we add all equations together and apply the Young and Hölder inequalities. It is the object of the following lemma. Lemma 18 Let $p_0 \in H^1(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{f} \in H^1(0, T; L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3))$, $g \in L^2(\Omega \times]0, T[)$.

i. The solution p_k and $\boldsymbol{u}(p_k)$ of the semi-discrete problem (1.70) satisfy the following uniform bounds

$$\left\| \left\| \boldsymbol{u}(p_k) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_K)}^2 + \left\| p_k \right\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 + \left\| \nabla p_k \right\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 \le C \text{ and }$$
(1.72a)

$$\left\| \boldsymbol{u}'(p_k) \right\|_{L^2(0,T;\mathcal{X}_K)}^2 + \left\| p'_k \right\|_{L^2\left(0,T;L^2(\Omega)\right)}^2 + \left\| \nabla p_k \right\|_{L^\infty\left(0,T;L^2(\Omega)\right)}^2 \le C, \tag{1.72b}$$

where C depends on T, f, p_0 and g.

ii. Moreover, there exists a function \hat{p} in $H^1(0, T; L^2(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}(0, T; H^1(\Omega))$ and a function \boldsymbol{w} in $H^1(0, T; H^1_0(\Omega))$ such that

$$p_k \xrightarrow{*} \hat{p}$$
 weakly-* in $L^{\infty}(0, T; H^1(\Omega)),$ (1.73a)

- $p_k \longrightarrow \hat{p}$ weakly in $H^1(0, T; L^2(\Omega)),$ (1.73b)
- $\boldsymbol{u}(p_k) \longrightarrow \boldsymbol{w}$ weakly in $H^1(0,T; \mathcal{X}_K)$. (1.73c)

Proof. We adapt some arguments of [47]. We test (1.59) with $u'(p_k)$, (1.70a) by p_k , add two equations and integrate with respect to time on]0, t[. This becomes

$$\underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \gamma_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \, dt}_{I_{1}}}_{I_{1}} \\ + \underbrace{\frac{1}{12} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \, dt}_{I_{2}} \\ + \underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} p_{k}'(t) p_{k}(t) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \, dt}_{I_{3}} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla p_{k}(t) \right|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \, dt}_{I_{3}} \\ \underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} gp_{k}(t) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \, dt}_{I_{4}} + \underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \left(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) - z \left(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3} \right) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} dt}_{I_{5}} . \tag{1.74}$$

Using the symmetric property of $\gamma_{\alpha\beta}$ and applying the inequality (1.39) to I_1 , there exists a

=

1.10. Well-posedness

positive constants c_1 such that

$$\begin{split} I_{1} &= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \big) \gamma_{\rho\sigma} \big(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) \big) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \, dt \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \big[\gamma_{\alpha\beta} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \big) \gamma_{\rho\sigma} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \big) \big]' \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \, dt \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \int_{0}^{t} \big[\gamma_{\alpha\beta} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \big) \gamma_{\rho\sigma} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \big) \big]' \, dt \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \big[\gamma_{\alpha\beta} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \big) \gamma_{\rho\sigma} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \big) - \gamma_{\alpha\beta} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \big) \gamma_{\rho\sigma} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \big) \big] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \big) \gamma_{\rho\sigma} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \big) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \big) \gamma_{\rho\sigma} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \big) \gamma_{\rho\sigma} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \big) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} \left| \gamma_{\alpha\beta} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \big) \big|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \big) \gamma_{\rho\sigma} \big(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \big) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}. \end{split}$$

Similarly, thanks to the symmetric property of $\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}$ and the inequality (1.39), there exists a positive constants c_2 such that

$$\begin{split} I_{2} &= \frac{1}{12} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \left[\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \right]' \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \left[\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \right]' dt \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \left[\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) - \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0})(t) \right) \right) \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \chi_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \right) \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{2}{24} \int_{\omega} \left| \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \right|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \right) \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \right) \chi_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \right) \chi_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}. \end{split}$$

Subsequently, we make ${\cal I}_3$ clearer,

$$I_{3} = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} p_{k}'(t) p_{k}(t) \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} \, dt = \int_{\Omega} \left(\int_{0}^{t} p_{k}'(t) p_{k}(t) \, dt \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left(p_{k}^{2}(t) - p_{k0}^{2} \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left| p_{k}(t) \right|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left| p_{k0} \right|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}.$$

Applying the Young and Hölder's inequalities to I_4 , we have

$$\begin{split} I_{4} &= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} gp_{k}(t) \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} \, dt \\ &\leq \sqrt{M} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} gp_{k}(t) \, d\mathbf{X} \, dt \leq \sqrt{M} \int_{0}^{t} \|g\|_{0,\Omega} \|p_{k}(t)\|_{0,\Omega} dt \\ &\leq \sqrt{M} \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{1}} \int_{0}^{t} \|g\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} \, dt + \sqrt{M} \frac{\varepsilon_{1}}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \|p_{k}(t)\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} dt \\ &\leq \sqrt{M} \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{1}} \|g\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \sqrt{M} \frac{\varepsilon_{1}}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla p_{k}(t)\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} \\ &\leq \sqrt{M} \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{1}} \|g\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \sqrt{M} \frac{\varepsilon_{1}}{2} \|\nabla p_{k}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Lastly, analogous to I_4 , we derive the upper bound of I_5 by the Young and Hölder inequalities

$$\begin{split} I_{5} &= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \left[\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) - z(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3}) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \right] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} dt \\ &\leq \sqrt{M} \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{0,\Omega} \|\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) - z(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3}) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \|_{0,\Omega} \, dt \\ &\leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{2}} \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} \, dt + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{2}}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \left[\|\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t))\|_{0,\omega}^{2} + \frac{e}{2} \|(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3}) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \|_{0,\omega}^{2} \right] dt \\ &\leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{2}} \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})\right)}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{2}}{2} \|\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k})\|_{L^{2}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_{k})}^{2} \quad (e \ll 1). \end{split}$$

where ε_1 and ε_2 are positive constants from Young inequality.

Consequently, (1.74) becomes

$$\begin{split} \frac{c_1}{2} \int_{\omega} \left| \gamma_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_k(t)) \right) \right|^2 \sqrt{a} \, dx + \frac{c_2}{24} \int_{\omega} \left| \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_k(t)) \right) \right|^2 \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left| p_k(t) \right|^2 \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_0^t \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla p_k(t) \right|^2 \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \, dt \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \right) \gamma_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^3 \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \right) \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left| p_{k0} \right|^2 \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &+ \sqrt{M} \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_2} \left\| g \right\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 + \sqrt{M} \frac{\varepsilon_2}{2} \left\| \nabla p_k \right\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_1} \left\| \boldsymbol{f} \right\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3))}^2 \\ &+ \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_1}{2} \left\| \left(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k) \right) \right\|_{L^2(0,T;\mathcal{X}_k)}^2. \end{split}$$

1.10. Well-posedness

Since $0 < \sqrt{\delta} \le \sqrt{a(x)} \le \sqrt{M} < \infty$ (see (2)-page 12),

$$c_{3}\sqrt{\delta} \| \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)) \right) \|_{\mathcal{X}_{K}}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{\delta}}{2} \| p_{k}(t) \|_{0,\Omega}^{2} + \frac{\kappa\sqrt{\delta}}{\eta} \int_{0}^{t} \| \nabla p_{k}(t) \|_{0,\Omega}^{2} dt$$

$$\leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2} \int_{\omega} e^{a \alpha \beta \rho \sigma} \gamma_{\alpha \beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \right) \gamma_{\rho \sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \right) d\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$+ \frac{\sqrt{M}}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha \beta \rho \sigma} \Upsilon_{\alpha \beta} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \right) \Upsilon_{\rho \sigma} \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}) \right) d\boldsymbol{x} + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left| p_{k0} \right|^{2} d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$+ \sqrt{M} \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{2}} \| g \|_{L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega)\right)}^{2} + \sqrt{M} \frac{\varepsilon_{2}}{2} \| \nabla p_{k} \|_{L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega)\right)}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}} \| \boldsymbol{f} \|_{L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})\right)}^{2}$$

$$+ \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{1}}{2} \| \left(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}) \right) \|_{L^{2}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_{K})}^{2},$$

here $c_3 = \min\left\{\frac{c_1}{2}; \frac{c_2}{24}\right\}$. It follows to

$$\begin{split} \left(c_{3}\sqrt{\delta}-\frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{1}}{2}\right)\left\|\left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k})\right)\right\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_{K})}^{2}+\frac{\sqrt{\delta}}{2}\left\|p_{k}(t)\right\|_{L^{\infty}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega)\right)}^{2}\\ &+\left(\frac{\kappa\sqrt{\delta}}{\eta}-\sqrt{M}\frac{\varepsilon_{2}}{2}\right)\left\|\nabla p_{k}\right\|_{L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega)\right)}^{2}\right)\\ \leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2}\int_{\omega}e^{a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma}}\gamma_{\alpha\beta}\left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0})\right)\gamma_{\rho\sigma}\left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0})\right)d\boldsymbol{x}+\frac{\sqrt{M}}{24}\int_{\omega}e^{3}a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma}\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}\left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0})\right)\Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}\left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0})\right)d\boldsymbol{x}\\ &+\frac{\sqrt{M}}{2}\int_{\Omega}\left|p_{k0}\right|^{2}d\boldsymbol{X}+\sqrt{M}\frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{2}}\left\|g\right\|_{L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega)\right)}^{2}+\frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}}\left\|\boldsymbol{f}\right\|_{L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})\right)}^{2}.\end{split}$$

By choosing the ε_1 and ε_2 suitably, *i.e.*, $\varepsilon_1 < \frac{2c_3\sqrt{\delta}}{\sqrt{M}}$ and $\varepsilon_2 < \frac{2\kappa\sqrt{\delta}}{\eta\sqrt{M}}$, we obtain that

$$\left\| \left(\boldsymbol{u}(p_k) \right) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_K)}^2 + \left\| p_k \right\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 + \left\| \nabla p_k \right\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 \le C_1, \tag{1.75}$$

here C_1 depends only on T, $\|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3))}$, $\|p_0\|_{L^\infty(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}$ and $\|g\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}$. We have just proved the inequality (1.72a). Next, we derive the inequality (1.72b) by testing (1.70a) with p'_k , it leads

$$\int_{\Omega} |p'_{k}|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \left(\mathbf{u}'(p_{k}) - z(\partial_{\alpha} \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{a}_{3}) \mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \right) p'_{k} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p_{k} \cdot \nabla p'_{k} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} = \int_{\Omega} g p'_{k} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}.$$
(1.76)

Chapter 1. Biot-Koiter poroelastic shell model

And differentiating in time (1.40b) written for $p = p_k$,

$$\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \left[\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k))\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^2}{12}\Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k))\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) \right] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p'_k \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v} - z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3)\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}' \cdot \left(\boldsymbol{v} - z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3)\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha}\right)\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

Testing the above achieving equation with $\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k)$,

$$\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \bigg[\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k))\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k)) + \frac{e^2}{12} \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k)) \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k)) \bigg] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p'_k \operatorname{div} \bigg(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k) - z(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{u}'(p_k) \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \bigg) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}' \cdot \big(\boldsymbol{u}' - z(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{u}' \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \big) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

$$(1.77)$$

Adding the two equations (1.76) and (1.77) then integrating with respect to time, we obtain

$$\underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \left[\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}))\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k})) + \frac{e^{2}}{12} \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k})) \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k})) \right] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt}_{Y_{1}} + \underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} |p_{k}'|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} dt + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p_{k} \cdot \nabla p_{k}' \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} dt}_{Y_{2}}}_{Y_{2}} = \underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}' \cdot \left(\boldsymbol{u}' - z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u}' \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3})\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha}\right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} dt}_{Y_{3}} + \underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} g p_{k}' \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} dt}_{Y_{4}}.$$
(1.78)

Applying the inequality (1.39), there are positive constants c_1' , c_2' , c_3' such that

$$Y_{1} = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \left[\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}))\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k})) + \frac{e^{2}}{12}\Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}))\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k})) \right] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt$$

$$\geq c_{1}' \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} \left[e |\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}))|^{2} + \frac{e^{3}}{12} |\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}))|^{2} \right] \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{x} dt \geq c_{2}' \sqrt{\delta} \int_{0}^{t} |||\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k})|||^{2} dt$$

$$\geq c_{3}' \sqrt{\delta} \int_{0}^{t} ||\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k})||^{2}_{\mathcal{X}_{K}} dt = c_{3}' \sqrt{\delta} ||\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k})||^{2}_{L^{2}(0,t;\mathcal{X}_{K})}.$$

Using the bounds of \sqrt{a} and integration with respect to time, we carry out the lower bound of Y_2 ,

$$Y_{2} = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} |p_{k}'|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} \, dt + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p_{k} \cdot \nabla p_{k}' \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} \, dt$$

$$\geq \sqrt{\delta} \int_{0}^{t} \|p_{k}'\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} dt + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left(|\nabla p_{k}(t)|^{2} - |\nabla p_{k0}|^{2} \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}$$

$$\geq \sqrt{\delta} \|p_{k}'\|_{L^{2}\left(0,t;L^{2}(\Omega)\right)}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{\delta}}{2} \|\nabla p_{k}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} - \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2} \|\nabla p_{k0}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}.$$

1.10. Well-posedness

In the following, we employ the Young and Hölder inequalities to find the upper bound of Y_3 ,

$$Y_{3} = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}' \cdot \left[\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) - z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3})\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \right] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} dt$$

$$\leq \sqrt{M} \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{f}'\|_{0,\Omega} \|\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) - z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3})\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \|_{0,\Omega} \, dt$$

$$\leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}'} \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{f}'\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} \, dt + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{1}'}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \left[\|\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t))\|_{0,\omega}^{2} + \frac{e}{2} \|(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3})\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha}\|_{0,\omega}^{2} \right] dt$$

$$\leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}'} \|\boldsymbol{f}'\|_{L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})\right)}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{1}'}{2} \|\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k})\|_{L^{2}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_{k})}^{2} \quad (e \ll 1).$$

Similar to Y_3 , we also derive the lower bound of Y_4 ,

$$Y_{4} = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} gp'_{k}(t)\sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} \, dt \leq \sqrt{M} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} gp'_{k}(t) \, d\mathbf{X} \, dt \leq \sqrt{M} \int_{0}^{t} \|g\|_{0,\Omega} \|p_{k}(t)\|_{0,\Omega} dt$$
$$\leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{2}'} \int_{0}^{t} \|g\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} \, dt + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{2}'}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \|p'_{k}(t)\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} dt \leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{2}'} \|g\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2}$$
$$+ \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{2}'}{2} \|p'_{k}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2}.$$

where ε_1 and ε_2 are positive constants from Young inequality. Therefore, (1.78) becomes

$$\begin{aligned} c_{3}^{\prime}\sqrt{\delta} \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\prime}(p_{k}) \|_{L^{2}\left(0,t;\mathcal{X}_{K}\right)} + \sqrt{\delta} \| p_{k}^{\prime} \|_{L^{2}(0,t;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{\delta}}{2} \| \nabla p_{k} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ & \leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}^{\prime}} \| \boldsymbol{f}^{\prime} \|_{L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})\right)}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{1}^{\prime}}{2} \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\prime}(p_{k}) \|_{L^{2}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_{k})}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{2}^{\prime}} \| g \|_{L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega)\right)}^{2} \\ & + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{2}^{\prime}}{2} \| p_{k}^{\prime} \|_{L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega)\right)}^{2} + \frac{M}{2} \| \nabla p_{k0} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

It implies to

$$\left(c_{3}^{\prime} \sqrt{\delta} - \frac{\sqrt{M} \varepsilon_{1}^{\prime}}{2} \right) \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\prime}(p_{k}) \|_{L^{2}\left(0,t;\mathcal{X}_{K}\right)} + \left(\sqrt{\delta} - \frac{\sqrt{M} \varepsilon_{2}^{\prime}}{2} \right) \| p_{k}^{\prime} \|_{L^{2}(0,t;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{\delta}}{2} \| \nabla p_{k} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ \leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}^{\prime}} \| \boldsymbol{f}^{\prime} \|_{L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})\right)}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{2}^{\prime}} \| g \|_{L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega)\right)}^{2} + \frac{M}{2} \| \nabla p_{k0} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} .$$

By choosing the ε'_1 and ε'_2 suitably, *i.e.*, $\varepsilon'_1 < \frac{2c'_3\sqrt{\delta}}{\sqrt{M}}$ and $\varepsilon'_2 < \frac{2\sqrt{\delta}}{\sqrt{M}}$, we obtain that

$$\left\| \boldsymbol{u}'(p_k) \right\|_{L^2(0,T;\mathcal{X}_K)}^2 + \left\| p'_k \right\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 + \left\| \nabla p_k \right\|_{L^\infty(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 \le C_2$$

here C_2 depends only on T, $\|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3))}$, $\|p_0\|_{L^\infty(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}$ and $\|\boldsymbol{g}\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}$. This inequality implies (1.72b) in Lemma 18. From (1.72), we have that $\|p_k\|_{L^\infty(0,T;H^1(\Omega))}$, $\|p_k\|_{H^1(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}$ and $\|\boldsymbol{u}(p_k)\|_{H^1(0,T;\mathcal{X}_K)}^2$ are uniformly bounded. This yields (1.73). We just finished the proof of Lemma 18.

Lastly, we prove that the pressure solution \hat{p} , which is derived in Lemma 18, satisfies (1.65) and (1.40c).

Lemma 19 The solution \hat{p} in Lemma 18 solves (1.65) and (1.40c), and $\boldsymbol{w} = \boldsymbol{u}(\hat{p})$.

Proof. We pass to the limit in (1.59) after having replaced p by p_k and based on (1.73c),

$$\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{w}) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) \sqrt{a} \, dx + \frac{1}{12} \int_{\omega} e^{3} \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{w}) \Upsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ - \int_{\Omega} \hat{p} \, \operatorname{div} \, \left(\boldsymbol{v} - z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3})\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha}\right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \left(\boldsymbol{v} - z(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3})\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha}\right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

By uniqueness of (1.59), we have $\boldsymbol{w} = \boldsymbol{u}(\hat{p})$. Then passing to the limit in (1.70), we also obtain that \hat{p} solves (1.65) and the continuity in time of \hat{p} gives the initial condition (1.40c).

Proof. (of Theorem 8). From Lemma 15 and Lemma 17, we can derive that the problem (1.40) is well posed. The remain of theorem is proved by Lemma 18 and Lemma 19.

Conclusion: In this chapter, we established the derivation of a poroelastic shell model of Koiter type coupled with the Biot model. It is the Biot-Koiter poroelastic shell model. We also proved the well-posedness of the resulting equations by the theory of DAEs and Galerkin semi-discrete method. We used here the linearly elastic thin shell with little regularity in which the midsurfaces have curvature discontinuities.

Chapter 2

Derivation and well-posedness for Biot-Naghdi poroelastic shell model

In this chapter we derive, from the three dimensional elasticity equations, another twodimensional linear model for poroelastic shell. A well known shell model, in the engineering community, as well as Koiter's model, is due to P. M. Naghdi. In Naghdi's approach, the a priori assumption of a mechanical nature about the stress inside the shell is the same as in Koiter's approach (Section 1.2), but the a priori assumption of a geometrical nature is different: The points situated on a line normal to S remain on a line and the lengths are constant along this line after the deformation has taken place, as in Koiter's approach; however, this line need no longer remain normal to the deformed midsurface. In the linearized version of this approach, there are five unknowns, the three covariant components $u_i: \overline{\omega} \to \mathbb{R}$ of the *displacement* filed $u_i a^i$ of the midsurface S and the two covariant components $r_{\alpha}: \overline{\omega} \to \mathbb{R}$ of the linearized *rotation* field $r_{\alpha} a^{\alpha}$ of the unit normal vector along S.

We also propose the strong formulation of Naghdi-Biot coupled model. The strong formation will be used later for establishing the fluid-structure interaction between incompressible flow and a poroelastic shell.

More precisely, we derive the weak coupled formulation of shell model of Naghdi type and Biot model (see Theorem 9), and its well-posedness (see Theorem 10). In order to cracking the trouble of deriving the weak form, the Reissner-Mindlin displacements space $\mathcal{V}_{RM} = \{ \boldsymbol{V} \in$ $H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^3), \varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{V}) = 0 \}$ is chosen. For the well-posedness, we firstly prove the well-posedness of \boldsymbol{U} in the weak form of constitutive equation (1.37a) by Banach-Nečas-Babuška theorem with pgiven as well (see Lemma 30). The well-posedness of p in the weak form of mass conservation equation (1.37b) is also obtained by making use of the sem-discrete Galerkin method and the theory of initial value problem for liner systems (see Lemma 32, 33 & 34). At last, we proceed the strong formulation of Naghdi-Biot coupled model by using the contravariant components of the stress resultant $n^{\rho\sigma}$, of the stress couple $m^{\rho\sigma}$ and of the transverse shear force t^{β} (see Theorem 11). Using the same domain Ω in the previous chapter, let us consider the functional spaces:

$$\mathcal{X}_N = \{ (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s} = (s_\alpha)) \in H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3) \times H^1(\omega)^2; \boldsymbol{v} = 0, s_\alpha = 0 \text{ on } \gamma_0 \},$$
(2.1)

$$\mathcal{V}_N = L^{\infty}(0, T; \mathcal{X}_N), \tag{2.2}$$

$$\mathcal{W}_N = \{ q \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^2(\Omega)) \cap L^2(0, T; H^1(\Omega)); q = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_0 \}.$$
 (2.3)

The space \mathcal{X}_N equipped with the norm

$$\|(v,s)\|_{\mathcal{X}_N} = (\|v\|_{H^1(\omega;\mathbb{R}^3)}^2 + \sum_{\alpha} \|s_{\alpha}\|_{H^1(\omega)}^2)^{1/2}$$
(2.4)

is a Hilbert space.

Let us introduce the space of Reissner-Mindlin displacements

$$\mathcal{V}_{RM} = \{ \boldsymbol{V} \in H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^3), \varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{V}) = 0 \}$$

and describe its elements. It is the object of the following lemma.

Lemma 20

A displacement field $\boldsymbol{V} \in H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ is a Reissner-Mindlin displacement if and only if there exist $\boldsymbol{v} \in H^1(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ and $s = (s_\alpha) \in H^1(\omega)^2$ such that

$$\boldsymbol{V}(x,z) = \boldsymbol{v}(x) + z \, s_{\alpha} a^{\alpha}.$$

Proof. Let $V(x, z) \in \mathcal{V}_{RM}$, we have

$$0 = \varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{V}) = \partial_3 \boldsymbol{V} \cdot g_3 = \partial_3 \boldsymbol{V} \cdot a_3.$$

So, there exists $\boldsymbol{w} \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that $\partial_3 \boldsymbol{V} = \boldsymbol{w} \wedge a_3$. From that, we have

$$\int_0^z \partial_3 \boldsymbol{V}(x,\tau) d\tau = \underbrace{\left(\int_0^z \boldsymbol{w}(x,\tau) d\tau\right) \wedge a_3}_{\Theta(x,z)}.$$

Hence,

$$V(x,z) - V(x,0) = \Theta(x,z) \wedge a_3$$
, with $\Theta(x,0) = 0$.

We can present $\Theta(x, z)$ as below

$$\Theta(x,z) = \underbrace{\Theta(x,0)}_{=0} + z\partial_3\Theta(x,0) + z^2\partial_3^2\Theta(x,0) + \cdots$$

Since z is belong to $\left]\frac{-e}{2}\right] \stackrel{e}{=} \left[$ and e is the thickness of the shell, $z^n \approx 0$ with $n \geq 2$. Rewriting V:

$$\boldsymbol{V}(x,z) = \boldsymbol{V}(x,0) + z\partial_3 \Theta(x,0) \wedge a_3.$$

Setting $\boldsymbol{v} = \boldsymbol{V}(\cdot, 0) \in H^1(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ and $s = \partial_3 \Theta(x, 0) \wedge a_3$, one have $\boldsymbol{V}(x, z) = \boldsymbol{v}(x) + zs(x)$. Next, we prove that s is a function of $H^1(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$. We have

$$\begin{split} \|zs\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} &= \|\boldsymbol{V} - \boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} \\ &\leq \|\boldsymbol{V}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + 2\|\boldsymbol{V}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})} + \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} \\ &= \|\boldsymbol{V}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + 2\|\boldsymbol{V}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}\|\sqrt{e}\,\boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})} + \|\sqrt{e}\,\boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \|zs\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} &= \int_{\omega} (\int_{-e/2}^{e/2} z^{2} dz) |s(x)|^{2} dx \\ &= \frac{1}{12} \int_{\omega} e^{3} |s(x)|^{2} dx \\ &= \frac{1}{12} \|e^{3/2} s\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

From that, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{12} \|e^{3/2} s\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} \leq \|\boldsymbol{V}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + 2\|\boldsymbol{V}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})} \|e\|_{L^{\infty}(\omega)}^{1/2} \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + \|e\|_{L^{\infty}(\omega)} \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}.$$
(2.5)

On the other hand, we have

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla(zs)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} &= \|\nabla V - \nabla v\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} \\ &\leq \|\nabla V\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + 2\|\nabla V\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}\|\nabla v\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})} + \|\nabla v\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} \\ &= \|\nabla V\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + 2\|\nabla V\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}\|\sqrt{e}\,\nabla v\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})} + \|\sqrt{e}\,\nabla v\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla(zs)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} &= \int_{\omega} \int_{-e/2}^{e/2} [z^{2}(|\partial_{1}s(x)|^{2} + |\partial_{2}s(x)|^{2}) + |s(x)|^{2}] \, dz \, dx \\ &= \frac{1}{12} \int_{\omega} e^{3} \, |\nabla s(x)|^{2} \, dx + \int_{\omega} e|s(x)|^{2} \, dx \\ &= \frac{1}{12} \|e^{3/2} \nabla s\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + \|e^{1/2} \, s\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\frac{1}{12} \|e^{3/2} \nabla s\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + \|e^{1/2} s\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} \leq \|\nabla V\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}
+ 2\|e\|_{L^{\infty}(\omega)}^{1/2} \|\nabla V\|_{L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})} \|\nabla v\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})} + \|e\|_{L^{\infty}(\omega)} \|\nabla v\|_{L^{2}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}.$$
(2.6)

Since $\boldsymbol{V} \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$, $\boldsymbol{v} \in H^1(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$, $e \in L^{\infty}(\omega)$, $e(x) \ge c > 0$ and from (2.5) & (2.6), one can check that $s \in H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$.

Conversely, suppose now that $V \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that $V(x, z) = \boldsymbol{v}(x) + z s_\alpha(x) a^\alpha(x)$. Then, we have

$$\varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{V}(x,z)) = \partial_3(\boldsymbol{V}(x,z)) \cdot a_3(x)$$

= $\partial_3(\boldsymbol{v}(x) + zs_\alpha(x)a^\alpha(x)) \cdot a_3(x)$
= $(\underbrace{\partial_3 \boldsymbol{v}(x)}_{=0} + s_\alpha(x)a^\alpha(x)) \cdot a_3(x)$
= $s_\alpha(x)a^\alpha(x) \cdot a_3(x)$
= 0.

Therefore, $\boldsymbol{V} \in \mathcal{V}_{RM} = \{ \boldsymbol{V} \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3); \varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{V}) = 0 \}.$

2.1 Definition of a deformed shell

Let M be a shell of the midsurface S and of the thickness e defined by (1.1) of previous chapter. After deformation, the normal unit vector \boldsymbol{a}_3 is deformed to a vector \boldsymbol{a}_3^* which is not a priori orthonormal to the deformed surface. The point $\Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, z)$ becomes

$$\Phi^{\star}(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \varphi^{\star}(\boldsymbol{x}) + z\boldsymbol{a}_{3}^{\star}(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (2.7)$$

with

$$\boldsymbol{a}_{3}^{*}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{a}_{3}(\boldsymbol{x}) + r_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} \text{ and } \varphi^{*} = \varphi + \boldsymbol{u}, \qquad (2.8)$$

where r_{α} are the linearly covariant components of the field of rotations of the norm \boldsymbol{a}_3 . In fact, $\boldsymbol{r} = \boldsymbol{a}_3^* - \boldsymbol{a}_3$.

Remark 21

Let us recall that the assumption \mathbf{H}_2 (of Kirchhoff-Love) which means the normal conservation property leads to the following approximation of the deformed normal:

$$\boldsymbol{a}_3^* = \boldsymbol{a}_3 - (\partial_{lpha} \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3) \boldsymbol{a}^{lpha} = \boldsymbol{a}_3 - \pi_{lphaeta} \psi^{lpha}(\boldsymbol{u}) \boldsymbol{a}^{eta},$$

where $\psi^{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{u})$ are the tangential contravariant components of the infinitesimal rotation field of the surface. It is given by

$$\psi(oldsymbol{u}) = \pi^{lphaeta}(\partial_{eta}oldsymbol{u}\cdotoldsymbol{a}_3)oldsymbol{a}_lpha + rac{1}{2}\pi^{lphaeta}(\partial_{lpha}oldsymbol{u}\cdotoldsymbol{a}_eta)oldsymbol{a}_3$$

with $\pi^{\alpha\alpha} = 0$ and $\pi^{12} = -\pi^{21} = 1/a$.

54

2.2 Displacement of a Naghdi's shell

Under the hypothesis \mathbf{H}_1 and \mathbf{H}_2 of Kirchhoff-Love, the displacement of a point $\Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, z)$ is written by

$$\mathcal{U}(\Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, z)) = U(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \Phi^*(\boldsymbol{x}, z) - \Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, z).$$

This means that

$$\boldsymbol{U}(x,z) = \boldsymbol{u}(x) + zr_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{x})\boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{x}).$$
(2.9)

Note that $\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is the displacement of midsurface and r_{α} are the covariant components of the rotation of the norm \boldsymbol{a}_3 .

2.3 Linearized change of shell metric tensor

Let us first introduce the local bases at each point of the three-dimensional shell. The covariant basis is defined by

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{g}_{\alpha} = \boldsymbol{g}_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \partial_{\alpha} \Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{x}) + z \partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{a}_{3}(\boldsymbol{x}), \\ \boldsymbol{g}_{3} = \boldsymbol{g}_{3}(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \partial_{3} \Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, z) = \boldsymbol{a}_{3}(\boldsymbol{x}). \end{cases}$$

The contravariant basis is defined by

$$\boldsymbol{g}_i \cdot \boldsymbol{g}^j = \delta^i_j.$$

It follows that

$$g^{\alpha 3} = g^{3\alpha} = 0$$
 and $g^{33} = 1$.

We recall that, given arbitrary displacement field V of a three-dimensional manifold $\Phi(\bar{\Omega})$ in \mathbb{R}^3 , the covariant components $\varepsilon_{ij}(V)$ of the associated linearized change of metric tensor are defined by:

$$\varepsilon(\mathbf{V}) = \varepsilon_{ij}(V)\mathbf{g}^i \otimes \mathbf{g}^j \text{ with } \varepsilon_{ij}(V) = \frac{1}{2}(g_{ij}(V) - g_{ij})^{lin},$$
 (2.10)

where g_{ij} and $g_{ij}(V)$, respectively, are the metric tensor in the configuration of reference and the deformed shell. The vectors of the deformed local basis are defined by:

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{g}_{\alpha}(V) = \partial_{\alpha} \Phi^* = \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha}^* + z \partial_{\alpha} a_3^*, \\ \boldsymbol{g}_3(V) = \partial_3 \Phi^* = \boldsymbol{a}_3^*. \end{cases}$$

Obviously, $\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{a}_{3}^{*} \neq (b_{\alpha}^{\rho})^{*} \boldsymbol{a}_{\rho}^{*}$ in this case. This is the difference between Naghdi and Koiter shell model.

An approximation of covariant components of metric tensor of the deformed shell is given by:

$$\begin{cases} g_{\alpha\beta}(V) = a_{\alpha\beta}^* + z(a_{\alpha}^* \cdot \partial_{\beta} \boldsymbol{a}_3^* + \boldsymbol{a}_{\beta}^* \cdot \partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{a}_3^*), \\ g_{\alpha3}(V) = (\boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha}^* + z \partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{a}_3^*) \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3^*, \\ g_{33}(V) = \boldsymbol{a}_3^* \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3^*. \end{cases}$$

Let us recall that:

$$\boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha}^{*} = \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha} + \partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u} \text{ and } \partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{a}_{3}^{*} = \partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + \partial_{\alpha}(r_{\beta}\boldsymbol{a}^{\beta}),$$

with

$$\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u} = (\boldsymbol{u}_{\beta|\alpha} - b_{\alpha\beta}\boldsymbol{u}_3)a^{\beta} + (\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u}_3 + b_{\alpha}^{\beta}\boldsymbol{u}_{\beta})\boldsymbol{a}_3,$$

and

$$\partial_{\alpha}(r_{\beta}\boldsymbol{a}^{\beta}) = r_{\beta|\alpha}\boldsymbol{a}^{\beta} + b_{\alpha}^{\beta}r_{\beta}\boldsymbol{a}_{3}.$$

Since a surface also has a metric tensor, it is natural to likewise define the covariant components of the linearized change of metric tensor associated with any displacement field defined on it.

We use here all notations introduced in chapter 1. We begin by introducing the expressions associated with an arbitrary displacement \boldsymbol{u} and rotation $\boldsymbol{r} = r_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha} = r^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha}$ fields. Our functional framework, in this chapter, still free local basis for the displacement however the second unknown is identified with its covariant or contravariant components.

We recall the covariant components of the change of metric tensor as in the previous chapter, i.e,

$$\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}) = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{\beta} + \partial_{\beta} \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha}).$$
(2.11)

We introduce the new expression of covariant components of the change of transverse shear tensor and the covariant components of the change of curvature tensor, respectively, are

$$\delta_{\alpha 3}(u,r) = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 + \boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}), \qquad (2.12)$$

$$\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) = \frac{1}{2}(r_{\alpha|\beta} + r_{\beta|\alpha}) + \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \partial_{\beta}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + \partial_{\beta}\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{a}_{3}), \qquad (2.13)$$

where $r_{\alpha|\beta} = \partial_{\beta}r_{\alpha} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\beta}r_{\rho}$ and $\Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\beta}$ are the Christofell symbols of the surface.

Remark 22

- i. Note that all those quantities make sense in $L^2(\omega)$ for shell with $W^{1,\infty}$ -regularity such that $\boldsymbol{a}_3 \in W^{1,\infty}$ and for $(\boldsymbol{v}, s_{\alpha}) \in H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3) \times H^1(\omega)^2$. They are easily expressed with the displacement field, the rotation components and geometrical data.
- ii. Let us note that, when the transverse shears are neglected, *i.e.* $\delta_{\alpha 3}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) = 0$, we have

$$\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) = -\Upsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) \ a.e. \text{ on } \omega.$$

2.4. The tensor of shell constraints

Now, if the three dimensional displacement field V is of Reissner-Mindlin type:

$$\boldsymbol{V}(x,z) = \boldsymbol{v}(x) + z s_{\alpha}(x) \boldsymbol{a}^{\alpha}(x),$$

then, by neglecting all the terms containing z^2 , the covariant components of the associated linearized change of metric tensor (2.10) is given in terms of the change of metric and change curvature tensors on the midsurface S by:

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) = \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) + z\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}), \\ \varepsilon_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{V}) = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u}_{3} + b^{\rho}_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u}_{\rho} + r_{\alpha}), \\ \varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{V}) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.14)

Remark 23

When the normal strain $\varepsilon_{33}(V)$ is small compared to the cross-sectional strains, plane strain, (2.14), is then an acceptable approximation for the shell change metric tensor (2.10).

2.4 The tensor of shell constraints

We consider a tridimensional homogeneous isotropic elastic shell satisfying the Hooke's law

$$\sigma(\mathbf{V}) = \lambda tr(\varepsilon(\mathbf{V}))Id + 2\mu\varepsilon(\mathbf{V}). \tag{2.15}$$

We recall that λ and μ are the Lamé coefficients of material ($\lambda \ge 0$ and $\mu > 0$) and σ is the stress tensor.

Lemma 24

Let V be a given displacement field. The street tensor $\sigma(\mathbf{V})$ given by the Hooke's law (2.15) can be rewritten as

$$\sigma(\boldsymbol{V}) = \sigma^{ij} g_i \otimes g_j \quad \text{with } \sigma^{ij} = \sigma(\boldsymbol{U}) : \boldsymbol{g}^i \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^j = E^{ijkl} \varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V}), \quad (2.16)$$

where the notation ":" denotes the product of two tensors, $\sigma : \tau \stackrel{def}{=} \sigma_{ij} g^{ik} g^{jl} \tau_{kl}$ and E^{ijkl} is the elastic tensor defined by:

$$E^{ijkl} = \lambda g^{ij} g^{kl} + \mu (g^{ik} g^j l + g^{il} g^{jk}).$$
(2.17)

Proof. We remark that

$$tr(\varepsilon(\mathbf{V}))Id: g^i \otimes g^j = tr(\varepsilon(\mathbf{V}))tr(Id g^i \otimes g^j) = tr(\varepsilon(\mathbf{V}))g^{ij}$$

Chapter 2. Biot-Naghdi poroelastic shell model

and

$$tr(\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V})) = \varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V})tr(\boldsymbol{g}^k \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^l) = \varepsilon_{kl}g^{kl}.$$

It follows that

$$\lambda tr(\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}))Id: \boldsymbol{g}^{i} \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^{j} = \lambda g^{ij} g^{kl} \varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V}).$$
(2.18)

Let's see the second term containing μ of (2.15). If we express the tensor $\varepsilon(V)$ in the basis $g^k \otimes g^l$, *i.e.*,

$$arepsilon(oldsymbol{V}) = (arepsilon(oldsymbol{V}):oldsymbol{g}_k\otimesoldsymbol{g}_l)oldsymbol{g}^k\otimesoldsymbol{g}^l = arepsilon_{kl}(oldsymbol{V})oldsymbol{g}^k\otimesoldsymbol{g}^l,$$

we obtain

$$arepsilon(oldsymbol{V}):oldsymbol{g}^i\otimesoldsymbol{g}^j=arepsilon_{kl}(oldsymbol{V})oldsymbol{g}^k\otimesoldsymbol{g}^l:oldsymbol{g}^i\otimesoldsymbol{g}^j.$$

Thanks to

$$\boldsymbol{g}^k \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^l : \boldsymbol{g}^i \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^j = tr((\boldsymbol{g}^l \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^k)(\boldsymbol{g}^i \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^j) = g^{il}g^{kj},$$

we get

$$\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}): \boldsymbol{g}^i \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^j = \varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V}) g^{il} g^{kj}.$$

Since $\varepsilon(V)$ is a symmetrical tensor, it follows that

$$\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}): \boldsymbol{g}^i \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^j = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V})(g^{ik}g^{jl} + g^{il}g^{kj}).$$

Therefore,

$$2\mu\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}):\boldsymbol{g}^{i}\otimes\boldsymbol{g}^{j}=2\mu\varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V})(g^{ik}g^{jl}+g^{il}g^{kj}).$$

It is equivalent to

$$2\mu\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}):\boldsymbol{g}^{i}\otimes\boldsymbol{g}^{j}=\mu\varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V})(g^{ik}g^{jl}+g^{il}g^{kj}).$$
(2.19)

Consequently, from (2.18) and (2.19), we obtain

$$(\lambda tr(\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}))Id + 2\mu\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V})): \boldsymbol{g}^{i} \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^{j} = (\lambda g^{ij}g^{kl} + \mu(g^{ik}g^{jl} + g^{il}g^{kj}))\varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V}).$$

Replacing the symbols of the tensor of constraint σ and the elastic tensor E^{ijkl} to the above equation, we obtain

$$\sigma(\boldsymbol{V}): \boldsymbol{g}^i \otimes \boldsymbol{g}^j = E^{ijkl} \varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{V}).$$

2.5. Derivation of the Biot-Naghdi shell model

Remark 25

It should be pointed out that $g^{\alpha 3} = g^{3\alpha} = 0$ and $g^{33} = 1$. Thus we have

$$E^{3\alpha\beta\rho} = E^{333\beta} = 0, (2.20)$$

and

$$E^{33\alpha\beta} = \lambda g^{\alpha\beta}, \quad E^{3\alpha3\beta} = \mu g^{\alpha\beta} \text{ and } E^{3333} = \lambda + 2\mu.$$
 (2.21)

Finally, in order to obtain the two-dimensional Naghdi's model, we state the third hypothesis of Kirchhoff-Love:

H3: The stress tensors are approximatively flat, *i.e.*, for an arbitrary displacement field V, $\sigma^{33}(\mathbf{V}) = 0$.

Remind that

$$\sigma^{33}(\mathbf{V}) = E^{33\alpha\beta}\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{V}) + E^{3333}\varepsilon_{33}(\mathbf{V})$$
$$= \lambda g^{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{V}) + (\lambda + 2\mu)\varepsilon_{33}(\mathbf{V}).$$

So, if $\lambda \neq 0$, **H3** leads to

$$\varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{V}) = -\frac{\lambda}{\lambda+2\mu}g^{lphaeta}\varepsilon_{lphaeta}(\boldsymbol{V}).$$

We then notice that the hypothesis **H3** is not compatible with (2.14) as soon as $\lambda \neq 0$. Hence, we correct the definition of the change of metric tensor introduced in (2.14) as following:

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}^{\rm cor}(\boldsymbol{V}) = \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}), \\ \varepsilon_{\alpha3}^{\rm cor}(\boldsymbol{V}) = \varepsilon_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{V}), \\ \varepsilon_{33}^{\rm cor}(\boldsymbol{V}) = -\frac{\lambda}{\lambda + 2\mu} g^{\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{V}). \end{cases}$$

2.5 Derivation of the Biot-Naghdi shell model

A word of caution. For notational convenience, we omit throughout this section the exponent "cor" in the expression ε_{ij}^{cor} .

In this section, we will establish the weak formulation of the Naghdi Biot shell model. In the process of deriving the weak form, we face difficulty of writing the poroelastic structure model in term of shell symbols (metric tensor $\gamma_{\alpha\beta}$, curvature tensor $\chi_{\alpha\beta}$, transverse shear tensor $\delta_{\alpha3}$). In order to solving this problem, we use the structure displacement \boldsymbol{U} belonging to the space of Reissner-Mindlin displacements $\mathcal{V}_{RM} = \{\boldsymbol{U} \in H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^3), \varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{U}) = 0\}$. In further detail, we introduce the following theorem.

Theorem 9

If \overline{U} and p are solution of the strong formulation (1.37a)-(1.37b), such that $\overline{U} = u + zr_{\alpha}a^{\alpha}$, then (u, r) and p belong, respectively, to \mathcal{V}_N and \mathcal{W}_N and solve the weak equations: Find $(u, r) \in \mathcal{V}_N$ and $p \in \mathcal{W}_N$ such that

$$\mathcal{A}_1^N((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r});(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})) + \mathcal{B}_1^N(p;(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})) = \mathcal{L}_1^N(\boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall (\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) \in \mathcal{X}_N,$$
(2.22a)

$$\mathcal{A}_{2}^{N}(p;q) + \mathcal{B}_{2}^{N}((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r});q) = \mathcal{L}_{2}^{N}(q) \quad \forall q \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega),$$
(2.22b)

$$p(0) = p_0 \text{ in } \Omega, \qquad (2.22c)$$

where

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r});(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})) &= \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^{2}}{12}\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})]\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ 4\mu \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta}\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}, \\ \mathcal{B}_{1}^{N}(p;(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})) &= -\alpha \int_{\Omega} p \text{div}\boldsymbol{v}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p \text{div}(z\boldsymbol{s}) \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ \mathcal{L}_{1}^{N}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) &= \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s}) \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \, \mathcal{A}_{2}^{N}(p;q) = c_{0} \int_{\Omega} p'q\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ \mathcal{B}_{2}^{N}((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r});q) &= -\alpha \int_{\Omega} (\text{div}\boldsymbol{u}')q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \alpha \int_{\Omega} \text{div}(z\boldsymbol{r}')q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \, \mathcal{L}_{2}^{N}(q) = \int_{\omega} gq\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}. \end{split}$$

Remark 26

We use p(0) in Eq. (2.22a) to get $\boldsymbol{u}(0)$ and $r_{\alpha}(0)$. For a given p(0), the initial displacement is the unique solution of (2.22a), where we replace p by p(0).

Proof. (of Theorem 9) For proving the Theorem 9, we use the structure of the displacement U belonging to the space of Reissner-Mindlin displacements $\mathcal{V}_{RM} = \{ \boldsymbol{U} \in H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^3), \varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{U}) = 0 \}$ and by Lemma 20, \boldsymbol{U} can be presented by $\boldsymbol{u} + z\boldsymbol{r}$, where $(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{r})$ is the displacement-rotation defined on ω . In order to use the property $\varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{V}) = 0$, we then multiply the Eq. (1.37a) by $\boldsymbol{V} = \boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s}$ with $(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) \in \mathcal{X}_K$, we thus obtain

$$-\int_{M} (\nabla \cdot \sigma(\boldsymbol{U})) \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \, dV + \alpha \int_{M} \nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \, dV = \int_{M} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \, dV.$$

It is equivalent to write

$$-\int_{\Omega} (\nabla \cdot \sigma(\boldsymbol{U})) \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

2.5. Derivation of the Biot-Naghdi shell model

Applying the Green formula and using the boundary condition, we obtain

$$\underbrace{\int_{\Omega} \sigma(\boldsymbol{U}) \colon \varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{X}}_{I} + \underbrace{\alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{X}}_{J} = \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{X}}_{K}.$$
(2.23)

We then have

$$I = \int_{\Omega} \sigma^{ij}(\boldsymbol{U})\varepsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{V})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$

=
$$\int_{\Omega} \sigma^{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{U})\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} \sigma^{33}(\boldsymbol{U})\varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{V})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{=0}$$

+
$$\int_{\Omega} \sigma^{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{U})\varepsilon_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{V})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega} \sigma^{3\beta}(\boldsymbol{U})\varepsilon_{3\beta}(\boldsymbol{V})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$

=
$$\underbrace{\int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha\betakl}\varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{U})\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{I_{1}} + \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha3kl}\varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{U})\varepsilon_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{V})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{I_{2}}$$

+
$$\underbrace{\int_{\Omega} E^{3\betakl}\varepsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{U})\varepsilon_{3\beta}(\boldsymbol{V})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{I_{3}}.$$
 (2.24)

From Lemma 24, one has

$$I_{1} = \int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha\beta33} \varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha\beta\beta\sigma} \varepsilon_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{=0} + \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{U})$$

Similarly, we simplify I_2 by applying Lemma 24,

$$I_{2} = \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha 3\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha 3}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{=0} + \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha 333} \varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha 3}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{=0} + \int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha 33\sigma} \varepsilon_{3\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha 3}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha 3\rho 3} \varepsilon_{\rho 3}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha 3}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega} E^{\alpha 3\rho 3} \varepsilon_{\rho 3}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha 3}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \mu \int_{\Omega} g^{\alpha \rho} \varepsilon_{\rho 3}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha 3}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$
(2.26)
And the third term of (2.24) becomes

$$I_{3} = \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} E^{3\beta\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{3\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{=0} + \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} E^{3\beta33} \varepsilon_{33}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{3\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{=0} + \int_{\Omega} E^{3\beta3\sigma} \varepsilon_{3\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{3\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega} E^{3\beta\rho3} \varepsilon_{\rho3}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{3\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega} E^{3\beta\rho3} \varepsilon_{\rho3}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{3\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \mu \int_{\Omega} g^{\beta\rho} \varepsilon_{\rho3}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{3\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$
(2.27)

Therefore, from (2.25), (2.26) and (2.27), we obtain that,

$$I = I_{1} + I_{2} + I_{3}$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} [\lambda g^{\alpha\beta} g^{\rho\sigma} + \mu(g^{\alpha\rho} g^{\beta\sigma} + g^{\alpha\sigma} g^{\beta\rho})] \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$- \frac{\lambda^{2}}{\lambda + 2\mu} \int_{\Omega} g^{\alpha\beta} g^{\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + 4\mu \int_{\Omega} g^{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon_{3\alpha}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} [\frac{2\lambda\mu}{\lambda + 2\mu} g^{\alpha\beta} g^{\rho\sigma} + \mu(g^{\alpha\rho} g^{\beta\sigma} + g^{\alpha\sigma} g^{\beta\rho})] \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$+ 4\mu \int_{\Omega} g^{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon_{3\alpha}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} A^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + 4\mu \int_{\Omega} g^{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon_{3\alpha}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \qquad (2.28)$$

where

$$A^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} = \frac{2\lambda\mu}{\lambda+2\mu}g^{\alpha\beta}g^{\rho\sigma} + \mu(g^{\alpha\rho}g^{\beta\sigma} + g^{\alpha\sigma}g^{\beta\rho}).$$
(2.29)

As in the previous chapter, we neglect term z in the expression of $g^{\alpha\beta}$ and then (2.28) becomes

$$I = \int_{\Omega} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{X} + 4\mu \int_{\Omega} g^{\alpha\beta} \varepsilon_{3\alpha}(\boldsymbol{U}) \varepsilon_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{V}) \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}) + z\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})] [\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v} + z\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}))] \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$+ 4\mu \int_{\Omega} a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$= e \int_{\omega} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^2}{12} \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})] \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$+ 4\mu e \int_{\omega} a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{x}, \quad (2.30)$$

where

$$a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \frac{2\mu\lambda}{\lambda+2\mu}a^{\alpha\beta}a^{\rho\sigma} + \mu(a^{\alpha\rho}a^{\beta\sigma} + a^{\alpha\sigma}a^{\beta\rho}).$$

2.5. Derivation of the Biot-Naghdi shell model

On the otherwise, the second term of (2.23) implies that

$$J = \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \alpha \int_{\Gamma_0} p \, \boldsymbol{V} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} \, d\Gamma - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p \, \mathrm{div} \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$
$$= -\alpha \int_{\Omega} p \, \mathrm{div} \boldsymbol{v} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p \mathrm{div}(z\boldsymbol{s}) \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

We continue with the term K,

$$K = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

Consequently, (2.23) becomes

$$\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^2}{12} \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})]\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + 4\mu \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta}\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p \, \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \quad \forall (\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) \in \mathcal{X}_N,$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r});(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})) + \mathcal{B}_{1}^{N}(p;(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})) = \mathcal{L}_{1}^{N}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}).$$
(2.31)

Similarly, we get the weak form of (1.37b) by multiplying by q in $H^1_0(\Omega),$

$$\int_{\Omega} \partial_t (c_0 p + \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{U}) q \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} (\Delta p) q \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega} g q \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \ \forall q \in H_0^1(\Omega).$$
(2.32)

For convenience, we replace $\partial_t p$ by p' and $\partial_t U$ by U'. So, for all q in $H_0^1(\Omega)$, (2.32) is equivalent to

$$\underbrace{\int_{\Omega} c_0 p' q \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} (\operatorname{div} \mathbf{U}') q \, d\mathbf{X} - \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Gamma_0} q(\nabla p \cdot \overrightarrow{\mathbf{n}}) \, d\Gamma}_{LS} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \, d\mathbf{X}}_{RS} = \underbrace{\int_{\Omega} g q \, d\mathbf{X}}_{RS},$$

We have

$$LS = \int_{\Omega} p' q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} (\operatorname{div} \mathbf{U}') q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} p' q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} (\mathbf{u}' + z\mathbf{r}') q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X},$$

and

$$RS = \int_{\Omega} gq\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

Then, (2.32) becomes

$$c_0 \int_{\Omega} p' q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \left(\mathbf{u}' + z \mathbf{r}' \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} = \int_{\Omega} g q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X},$$

or

$$\mathcal{A}_{2}^{N}(p;q) + \mathcal{B}_{2}^{N}((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r});q) = \mathcal{L}_{2}^{N}(q).$$
(2.33)
n obtain Theorem (9).

From (2.31) and (2.33), we can obtain Theorem (9).

63

Succeedingly, we derive the well-posedness of the weak problem (2.22).

2.6 Well-posedness

In this section, we will prove the well-posedness of the problem (2.22) introduced in theorem (9) and prove that its solution p belongs to $L^{\infty}(0, T, H^1(\Omega)) \cap H^1(0, T; L^2(\Omega))$. For the well-posedness (see Theorem 10), we also face the difficulty as in the previous chapter. Therefore, we firstly prove the existence and uniqueness of U of the weak form of constitutive equation (1.37a) by Banach-Nečas-Babuška theorem when p is given (see Lemma 30). We then prove the existence and uniqueness of p in the weak form of mass conservation equation (1.37b) by making use of the semi-discrete Galerkin method and the theory of initial value problem for liner systems (see Lemma 32, 33 & 34).

Theorem 10 Let $p_0 \in H^1(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{f} \in H^1(0, T; L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3))$ and $g \in L^2(\Omega \times]0, T[)$. Then the problem (2.22) is well posed and its solution p belongs to $L^{\infty}(0, T, H^1(\Omega)) \cap H^1(0, T; L^2(\Omega))$.

The proof of Theorem 10 is comprised of two steps and each step is composed of a series of lemmas.

Step 1. Let us begin by providing an existence and uniqueness result of the displacement $\boldsymbol{u}(p)$ and rotation $\boldsymbol{r}(p)$ for the equation (2.22a) when p is given. First of all, we recall the rigid displacement lemma in the hybrid functional framework introduced in [24]. It is a version of the well known infinitesimal rigid displacement of [8] and [22] for a surface with little regularity.

Lemma 27 Let $\boldsymbol{v} \in H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$, $s_{\alpha} \in H^1(\omega)$ and $\varphi \in W^{2,\infty}(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$.

1. If $\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) = 0$, then there exist a unique $\psi \in L^2(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that

$$\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} = \psi \wedge \partial_{\alpha} \varphi.$$

2. If $\delta_{\alpha 3}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) = 0$, then $\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3} = -s_{\alpha}$ belongs to $H^{1}(\omega)$. Furthermore $s_{\alpha} = -\pi_{\alpha\beta} \psi \cdot \boldsymbol{a}^{\beta}$, with $\pi_{11} = \pi_{22} = 0$ et $\pi_{12} = -\pi_{21} = \sqrt{a}$.

3. If in addition $\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) = 0$, then ψ is equal to a constant vector of \mathbb{R}^3 and we have:

 $v(x) = c + \psi \wedge \varphi(x). \tag{2.34}$

Proof. We remark that if $\delta_{\alpha 3}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) = 0$, then $\partial_{\alpha \beta} \boldsymbol{s} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 \in L^2(\omega)$. Indeed, $\partial_{\alpha \beta} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 = \partial_{\beta}(\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 - \partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \partial_{\beta} \boldsymbol{a}_3) \in L^2(\omega)$ since $\boldsymbol{a}_3 \in L^{\infty}(\omega, \mathbb{R}^3)$ and $\partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 = -s_{\alpha} \in H^1(\omega)$. Thus, $\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) =$

 $-(\partial_{\alpha\beta}\boldsymbol{v} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v}) \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{3} = 0$. To conclude, it is enough to use the rigid displacement lemma for the Koiter Shell introduced in Lemma 12.

Remark 28

If $\boldsymbol{v} \in H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$, $s_{\alpha} \in H^1(\omega)$ and $\varphi \in W^{2,\infty}(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that $\boldsymbol{v} = 0$ on γ_0 and $\varphi(\gamma_0)$ is not included in a straight line, then $\boldsymbol{v} = 0$ and $s_{\alpha} = 0$ a.e. on ω . Therefore, one can check that:

$$\|\|(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\|\|_{N} = \left(\sum_{\alpha,\beta} \|\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \|\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \|\delta_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2}\right)^{1/2}$$
(2.35)

is a norm on \mathcal{X}_N .

We prove in the following lemma the equivalence between (2.4) and (2.35).

Lemma 29 The norm

$$\left\|\left\|(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\right\|\right\|_{N} = \left(\sum_{\alpha\beta} \|\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \sum_{\alpha\beta} \|\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \sum_{\alpha} \|\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2}\right)^{1/2},$$

is equivalent to the norm (2.4) of \mathcal{X}_N .

Proof. We use the standard contradiction argument. Let us assume that there exists a sequence $v_n \in \mathcal{X}_N$ such that

$$\|(\boldsymbol{v}_n, \boldsymbol{s}_n)\|_{\mathcal{X}_N} = 1 \qquad \text{but} \qquad \|\|(\boldsymbol{v}_n, \boldsymbol{s}_n)\|\|_N \longrightarrow 0 \text{ when } n \to +\infty.$$
(2.36)

There exists a subsequence, still denoted $(\boldsymbol{v}_n, \boldsymbol{s}_n) \in \mathcal{X}_N$ such that

$$\boldsymbol{v}_n \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{v}, \ (s_{\alpha})_n \rightharpoonup s_{\alpha}, \ \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}_n) \rightharpoonup \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}), \ \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}_n, s_n) \rightharpoonup \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}), \ \text{ and } \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{v}_n, \boldsymbol{s}_n) \rightharpoonup \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s})$$

weakly in their respective spaces. By Rellich's theorem, we have

$$(\boldsymbol{v}_n, \boldsymbol{s}_n) \longrightarrow (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s})$$
 strongly in $L^2(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3) \times L^2(\omega)^2$.

Moreover, as $\|\|(\boldsymbol{v}_n, \boldsymbol{s}_n)\|\|_N \to 0$, it holds that

$$\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}_n) \to 0, \ \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}_n, \boldsymbol{s}_n) \to 0, \ \text{and} \ \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{v}_n, \boldsymbol{s}_n) \to 0 \text{ strongly in } L^2(\omega).$$
 (2.37)

Therefore, we get

$$\gamma_{lphaeta}(oldsymbol{v}) = \chi_{lphaeta}(oldsymbol{v},oldsymbol{s}) = \delta_{lpha3}(oldsymbol{v},oldsymbol{s}) = 0$$

By the infinitesimal rigid displacement lemma 27 and boundary conditions, we first conclude that $\boldsymbol{v} = \psi = 0$ and thus $s_{\alpha} = 0$ a.e. in ω .

Let us now introduce the two-dimensional vector $(w_n)_{\alpha} = \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha}$. We have $w_n \to 0$ strogly in $L^2(\omega; \mathbb{R}^2)$. Let us define

$$2e_{\alpha\beta}(w) = \partial_{\alpha}w_{\beta} + \partial_{\beta}w_{\alpha}.$$

It is easy to see that

$$e_{\alpha\beta}(w_n) = \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}_n) + \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \partial_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{a}_{\beta} \longrightarrow 0$$
 strongly in $L^2(\omega)$.

Then, by (2.37) and the two-dimensional Korn inequality 5, we deduce that

$$w_n \longrightarrow 0$$
 strongly in $H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^2)$.

Next, we note that

$$\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_\alpha = \partial_{\rho} ((w_n)_\alpha) - \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{a}_\alpha \longrightarrow 0 \text{ strongly in } L^2(\omega), \qquad (2.38)$$

since $\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{a}_{\alpha} \in L^{\infty}(\omega)$. Moreover, as $(s_{\alpha})_n \to 0$ in $L^2(\omega)$ strongly, and $\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 = \gamma_{\rho 3}(\boldsymbol{v}_n, \boldsymbol{s}_n) - (s_{\alpha})_n$, then $\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 \to 0$ strongly in $L^2(\omega)$. We deduce that $\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{v}_n \to 0$ in $L^2(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ strongly. Thus, $\boldsymbol{v}_n \to 0$ in $H^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ strongly.

Next, since

$$e_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{s}_n) = \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}_n, \boldsymbol{s}_n) - \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \partial_{\beta}\boldsymbol{a}_3 + \partial_{\beta}\boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \partial_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{a}_3) + \Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\beta}(s_{\rho})_n,$$

we see by (2.37)

$$e_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{s}_n) \longrightarrow 0$$
 strongly in $L^2(\omega)$.

Thus, again by the two-dimensional Korn inequality, we conclude that

$$\mathbf{s}_n \longrightarrow 0$$
 strongly in $H^1(\omega)^2$.

Combining now the convergence of \boldsymbol{v}_n and \boldsymbol{s}_n , we see that $||(\boldsymbol{v}_n, \boldsymbol{s}_n)||_{\mathcal{X}_N} \to 0$, which contradicts the hypothesis and proves the lemma.

Now, we derive the main proof of the well-posedness by the following lemma,

Lemma 30

For a given \overline{p} in $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\Omega))$ and \boldsymbol{f} in $H^1(0,T;L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3))$, there exists a unique solution $(\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p))$ in \mathcal{X}_N solving, for a.e. t in (0,T),

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}((\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p));(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})) = \mathcal{L}_{1,p}^{N}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) \quad \forall (\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) \in \mathcal{X}_{N},$$
(2.39)

where $\mathcal{L}_{1,p}^{N}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) = \mathcal{L}_{1}^{N}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) - \mathcal{B}_{1}^{N}(p;(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})).$

66

Proof. We will prove the well-posedness by using the Banach-Nečas-Babuška theorem . For all $(\boldsymbol{u}(p), \boldsymbol{r}(p))$ in \mathcal{X}_N , we have

$$\sup_{(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\in\mathcal{X}_{N}} \frac{\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}((\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p));(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}))}{\|(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\|_{\mathcal{X}_{N}}} \geq \frac{\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}((\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p));(\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p)))}{\|(\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p))\|_{\mathcal{X}_{N}}}$$
$$\geq \frac{\min\{c;\frac{c^{3}}{12};4\mu c\}\|\|\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p)\|\|_{\mathcal{X}_{N}}}{\|(\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p))\|_{\mathcal{X}_{N}}}$$
$$\geq \frac{\min\{c;\frac{c^{3}}{12};4\mu c\}C\|\|\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p)\|\|_{\mathcal{X}_{N}}}{\|(\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p))\|_{\mathcal{X}_{N}}}$$
$$= \min\{c;\frac{c^{3}}{12};4\mu c\}C\|\|\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p)\|\|_{\mathcal{X}_{N}},$$

by using Remark 28 and Lemma 29.

Therefore, for all $(\boldsymbol{u}(p), \boldsymbol{r}(p))$ in \mathcal{X}_N , there exists $\theta = \min\{c; \frac{c^3}{12}; 4\mu c\}C$ such that

$$\sup_{(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\in\mathcal{X}_N} \frac{\mathcal{A}_1^N((\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p));(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}))}{\|(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\|_{\mathcal{X}_N}} \ge \theta \|\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p)\|_{\mathcal{X}_N}.$$
(2.40)

On the other hand, for all $(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s})$ in \mathcal{X}_N , suppose that

$$\mathcal{A}_1^N((\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p));(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})) = 0 \ \forall (\boldsymbol{u}(p),\boldsymbol{r}(p)) \in \mathcal{X}_N.$$

Hence, we have

$$0 = \mathcal{A}_1^N((\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}); (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s})) \ge \min\{c; \frac{c^3}{12}; 4\mu c\} ||\!| (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) ||\!|_N^2 \ge \min\{c; \frac{c^3}{12}; 4\mu c\} C ||(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) ||_{\mathcal{X}_N}^2 \ge 0.$$

Therefore,

$$(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) \equiv \boldsymbol{0}. \tag{2.41}$$

Additionally, there exist positive constants C_1 , C_2 , C_3 , C_4 such that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L}_{1,p}^{N}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) &= \alpha \int_{\omega} \overline{p} \mathrm{div} \boldsymbol{v} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \alpha \int_{\omega} (\int_{-e/2}^{e/2} p \mathrm{div}(z\boldsymbol{s}) \, dz) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\omega} e \, \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &\leq C_{1} \|\overline{p}\|_{0,\omega} \|\mathrm{div} \boldsymbol{v}\|_{0,\omega} + C_{2} \|\overline{p}\|_{0,\omega} \|\boldsymbol{s}\|_{H^{1}(\omega)} + C_{3} \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{0,\omega} \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{0,\omega} \\ &\leq C_{4} \sqrt{2 \|\overline{p}\|_{0,\omega}^{2}} + \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{0,\omega}^{2} \sqrt{\|\mathrm{div} \boldsymbol{v}\|_{0,\omega}^{2}} + \|\boldsymbol{s}\|_{H^{1}(\omega)}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{0,\omega}^{2}, \end{aligned}$$

thanks to Cauchy-Schwarz inequality. Note that $\bar{p}(x) = \int_{-e/2}^{e/2} p(x, z) dz$. Therefore, with a given x, there exists a second of C and the f

Therefore, with a given p, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|\mathcal{L}_{1,p}^{N}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})| \leq C\sqrt{\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{H^{1}(\omega,\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}} + \|\boldsymbol{s}\|_{H^{1}(\omega)}^{2}} = C\|(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\|_{\mathcal{X}_{N}}.$$
(2.42)

Combining (2.40), (2.41) and (2.42), we can see that the bilinear form $\mathcal{A}^{N}(\cdot; \cdot)$ and the continuous linear form $\mathcal{L}_{1,p}^{N}(\cdot, \cdot)$ satisfy the conditions of the Banach-Nečas-Babuška theorem. So, the problem (2.39) is well-posed.

Comment. We are able to prove this theorem by using the Lax-Milgram lemma. Thanks to the inequality (1.39) and the equivalence between two norms $\||\cdot|\|_N$ and $||\cdot||_{\mathcal{X}_N}$, we obtain the continuity and coercivity of \mathcal{A}_1^N . More precisely, by the Holder inequality and the upper bounded quality of $a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma}$ and \sqrt{a} , there exist C_1 , C_2 , C_3 and C_4 such that

$$\begin{split} |\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r});(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}))| &= \left| \int_{\omega}^{\omega} e^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^{2}}{12}\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})]\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right. \\ &+ 4\mu \int_{\omega}^{\omega} e^{\alpha\beta\delta}\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \\ &\leq C_{1} \left| \int_{\omega}^{\omega} \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right| + C_{2} \left| \int_{\omega}^{\omega} \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \\ &+ C_{3} \left| \int_{\omega}^{\omega} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \\ &\leq C_{1} ||\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})||_{L^{2}(\omega)} ||\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v})||_{L^{2}(\omega)} + C_{2} ||\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})||_{L^{2}(\omega)} ||\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})||_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ &+ C_{3} ||\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})||_{L^{2}(\omega)} ||\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})||_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ &+ C_{4} ||\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})||_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + ||\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})||_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + ||\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})||_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \Big)^{1/2} \\ &\times \left(||\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})||_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + ||\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})||_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + ||\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})||_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \Big)^{1/2} \\ &= C_{4} |||(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})||_{N} |||(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})||_{N}, \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_{N}. \end{split}$$

By the equivalence between two norms $\| \cdot \|_N$ and $\| \cdot \|_{\mathcal{X}_N}$, there exists a constant C_5 such that

$$|\mathcal{A}_1^N(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v})| \le C_5 |||\boldsymbol{u}|||_{\mathcal{X}_N} |||\boldsymbol{v}|||_{\mathcal{X}_N}, \qquad \forall \boldsymbol{u}, \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_N.$$
(2.43)

For the coercivity, by the inequality (1.39) and the relation of two norms $\| \cdot \|_N$ and $\| \cdot \|_{\mathcal{X}_N}$, there exist constants C'_1 , C'_2 ; C'_3 and C'_4 such that

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{A}_{1}^{K}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{v})| &= \left| \int_{\omega}^{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v})\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^{2}}{12} \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})]\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right. \\ &+ 4\mu \int_{\omega}^{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta}\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \\ &\geq C_{1}' \int_{\omega}^{\omega} |\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})|^{2} d\boldsymbol{x} + C_{2}' \int_{\omega}^{\omega} |\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})|^{2} d\boldsymbol{x} + C_{3}' \int_{\omega}^{\omega} |\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})|^{2} d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &\geq \min\{C_{1}';C_{2}';C_{3}'\} \int_{\omega}^{\omega} (|\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v})|^{2} + |\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})|^{2} + |\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})|^{2}) d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \min\{C_{1}';C_{2};C_{3}'\} |||(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})||_{N}^{2} \geq C_{4}'||(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})||_{\mathcal{X}_{N}}^{2}, \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{X}_{N}. \end{aligned}$$

From (2.43), (2.44) and the Lax-Milgram Lemma, Lemma 30 is proved.

Remark 31

Since the mapping $p \mapsto (\boldsymbol{u}(p), \boldsymbol{r}(p))$ is a continuous affine mapping from $L^2(\Omega)$ to \mathcal{X}_N : There exists a constant C such that

$$\forall p_1, p_2 \in L^2(\Omega), \|(\boldsymbol{u}(p_1), \boldsymbol{r}(p_1)) - (\boldsymbol{u}(p_2), \boldsymbol{r}(p_2))\|_{\mathcal{X}_N} \leq C \|p_1 - p_2\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$$

Hence, (2.22) has the equivalent implicit formulation: Find p in $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega)) \cap L^{2}(0,T;H^{1}(\Omega))$ satisfying (2.22c) and for a.e t in (0,T)

$$c_0 \int_{\Omega} p' q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}'(p) + z\mathbf{r}'(p)) q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} g q \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} \quad \forall q \in H_0^1(\Omega), \quad (2.45)$$

with $(\boldsymbol{u}(p), \boldsymbol{r}(p))$ defined by (2.39).

For proving the well-posedness of the semi-discrete problem (2.50), it is convenient to split $\boldsymbol{u}(p)$ and $\boldsymbol{r}(p)$ as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}(p) &= \overline{\boldsymbol{u}} + \widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(p), \\ \boldsymbol{r}(p) &= \overline{\boldsymbol{r}} + \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(p), \end{cases}$$
(2.46)

where $(\overline{\boldsymbol{u}}, \overline{\boldsymbol{r}}) \in \mathcal{X}_N$ is the unique solution of

$$\forall (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) \in \mathcal{X}_N, \mathcal{A}_1^N((\overline{\boldsymbol{u}}, \overline{\boldsymbol{r}}); (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s})) = (\boldsymbol{f}, (\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a})_{\Omega}, \text{ a.e. } t \in]0, T[, \qquad (2.47)$$

and $(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(p), \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(p)) \in \mathcal{X}_N$ is the unique solution of

$$\forall (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) \in \mathcal{X}_N, \mathcal{A}_1^N((\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(p), \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(p)); (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s})) = \alpha(p, \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a})_{\Omega}, \text{ a.e. } t \in]0, T[.$$
(2.48)

According to the proof of Theorem 9, since the term I is in both (2.23) and (2.30), we see that

$$e \int_{\omega} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^2}{12} \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})]\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + 4\mu e \int_{\omega} a^{\alpha\beta}\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ = (\sigma(\boldsymbol{U}),\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V})\sqrt{a})_{\Omega}.$$

It leads to

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r});(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})) = (\sigma(\boldsymbol{U}),\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{V})\sqrt{a})_{\Omega}.$$
(2.49)

Subsequently, we consider the second step of proof of Theorem 10.

Step 2. We use the Galerkin method to construct a solution *p*.

Let $(\theta_n)_{n\geq 1}$ be a smooth basis of $H_0^1(\Omega)$ and let Q_k be the space spanned by $(\theta_i)_{i=1}^k$, i.e., $Q_k = \operatorname{Vect}\{\theta_1, \dots, \theta_k\}$. Then, our semi-discrete problem reads: Find

$$p_k(t) = \sum_{i=1}^k \pi_i(t)\theta_i \in H^1(0, T; Q_k),$$

such that

$$c_{0} \int_{\Omega} p_{k}^{\prime} \theta_{i} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\tilde{\mathbf{u}}_{k}^{\prime} + z\tilde{\mathbf{r}}_{k}^{\prime}) \theta_{i} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p_{k} \cdot \nabla \theta_{i} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}$$
$$= -\alpha \int_{\omega} \operatorname{div}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\prime} + z\bar{\mathbf{r}}^{\prime}) \theta_{i} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \int_{\Omega} g \theta_{i} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} \quad 1 \le i \le k , \qquad (2.50a)$$
$$p_{k}(0) = p_{k0}, \qquad (2.50b)$$

where $(\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}, \bar{\boldsymbol{r}})$ is defined by (2.47), $\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_k = \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(p_k)$, $\tilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_k = \tilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(p_k)$, i.e. $\boldsymbol{u}(p_k) = \bar{\boldsymbol{u}} + \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_k$, $\boldsymbol{r}(p_k) = \bar{\boldsymbol{r}} + \tilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_k$ and $p_{k0} \in Q_k$ satisfies

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|p_{k0} - p_0\|_{H^1(\Omega)} = 0.$$

Afterwards, we proceed the well-posedness of the problem (2.50) by the Lemma 32. More precisely, we present (2.50) as a square system of k linear ODEs of order one in matrix form and then using the theory of initial value problem for linear systems and the technique of solution splitting (2.46).

Lemma 32

Let $p_0 \in H^1(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{f} \in H^1(0,T; L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3))$, $g \in L^2(\Omega \times]0, T[)$. The semi-discrete problem (2.50) has exactly one solution on [0,T].

Proof. Thanks to (2.48), we have

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}\big((\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\pi_{i}'(t)\theta_{i}),\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(\pi_{i}'(t)\theta_{i}));(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})\big) = \alpha\big(\pi_{i}'(t)\theta_{i},\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{v}\sqrt{a}\big)_{\Omega} + \alpha(\pi_{i}'(t)\theta_{i},\operatorname{div}(z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a})_{\Omega},\\ \mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}\big((\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{i}),\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(\theta_{i}));(\boldsymbol{v}\pi_{i}'(t),\boldsymbol{s}\pi_{i}'(t))\big) = \alpha\big(\theta_{i},\pi_{i}'(t)\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{v}\sqrt{a}\big)_{\Omega} + \alpha(\theta_{i},\pi_{i}'(t)\operatorname{div}(z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a})_{\Omega}.$$

Hence, we obtain

$$\mathcal{A}_1^N((\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\pi_i'(t)\theta_i),\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(\pi_i'(t)\theta_i));(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})) = \mathcal{A}_1^N((\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_i),\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(\theta_i));(\boldsymbol{v}\pi_i'(t),\boldsymbol{s}\pi_i'(t))).$$

This implies that

$$\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\pi_i'(t)\theta_i) = \widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_i)\pi_i'(t),$$

$$\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(\pi_i'(t)\theta_i) = \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(\theta_i)\pi_i'(t).$$

Combining the above equality and the note $(\boldsymbol{u}'(p), \boldsymbol{r}'(p)) = (\boldsymbol{u}(p'), \boldsymbol{r}(p'))$, we write (2.50) in matrix form and define the following vectors and matrices

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{P}_{i} &= \pi_{i}, \ 1 \leq i \leq k, \\ \mathbf{C}_{i,j} &= c_{0}(\theta_{j}, \theta_{i}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega}, \ 1 \leq i, j \leq k, \\ \mathbf{A}_{i,j} &= \alpha(\operatorname{div}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{j}) + \operatorname{div}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{zr}}(\theta_{j})), \theta_{i}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega}, \ 1 \leq i, j \leq k, \\ \mathbf{D}_{i,j} &= \frac{\kappa}{\mu}(\nabla\theta_{j}, \nabla\theta_{i}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega}, \ 1 \leq i, j \leq k. \end{aligned}$$

With this notation, writing the time derivative with a prime, (2.50) is a square system of k linear ODEs of order one: Find $P \in [H^1(0,T)]^k$ such that

$$\begin{cases} (\mathbf{C} + \mathbf{A})\mathbf{P}' + \mathbf{D}\mathbf{P} &= \mathbf{H}, \ \forall t \in [0, T], \\ \mathbf{P}(0) &= \mathbf{P}_0, \end{cases}$$
(2.51)

where **H** is the vector of the right-hand side of (2.50a). Note that **C** and **D** are square, symmetric matrices. Next, we will prove that they are positive-definite.

For $\mathbf{Z} \in \mathbb{R}^k$, we have

$$\mathbf{Z}^{T}\mathbf{C}\mathbf{Z} = c_{0} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} (\theta_{j}, \theta_{i}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega} Z_{i}Z_{j} = c_{0} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} (Z_{j}\theta_{j}, Z_{i}\theta_{i}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega} = c_{0} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} \|Z_{i}\theta_{i}a^{1/4}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}$$
$$\geq c_{0} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} \sqrt{\delta} \|Z_{i}\theta_{i}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \geq 0.$$

Since c_0 and δ are both positive constant, if $\mathbf{Z}^T \mathbf{C} \mathbf{Z} = 0$ then $\sum_{i,j=1}^k Z_i \theta_i = 0$. Because $\{\theta_n\}_{n \ge 1}$ is a basis of $H_0^1(\Omega)$, $Z_i = 0$ for all *i*. It follows that $\mathbf{Z} = 0$. Therefore $\mathbf{Z}^T \mathbf{C} \mathbf{Z} > 0$ for all $\mathbf{Z} \neq 0$ and \mathbf{C} is a positive-definite matrix. Similarly, for matrix \mathbf{D} we have,

$$\mathbf{Z}^{T}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{Z} = \frac{\kappa}{\mu} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} (\nabla\theta_{j}, \nabla\theta_{i}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega} Z_{i}Z_{j} = \frac{\kappa}{\mu} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} (Z_{j}\nabla\theta_{j}, Z_{i}\nabla\theta_{i}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega}$$
$$= \frac{\kappa}{\mu} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} \|Z_{i}\nabla\theta_{i}a^{1/4}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \ge \frac{\kappa}{\mu}\sqrt{\delta} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} \|Z_{i}\nabla\theta_{i}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \ge \frac{\kappa}{\mu}\sqrt{\delta}C\|Z_{i}\theta_{i}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \ge 0,$$

by using Poincaré's inequality.

Since *C* and δ are both positive constant, if $\mathbf{Z}^T \mathbf{D} \mathbf{Z} = 0$ then $\sum_{i,j=1}^k Z_i \theta_i = 0$. Because $\{\theta_n\}_{n \ge 1}$ is a basis of $H_0^1(\Omega)$, $Z_i = 0$ for all *i*. It follows that $\mathbf{Z} = 0$. Therefore $\mathbf{Z}^T \mathbf{D} \mathbf{Z} > 0$ for all $\mathbf{Z} \neq 0$ and \mathbf{D} is a positive-definite matrix.

Regarding **A**, by choosing $p = \theta_i$ and $(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) = (\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_j), \tilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(\theta_j))$ in (2.48), we consider that

$$(\boldsymbol{A})_{i,j} = \mathcal{A}_1^N[(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_i), \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(\theta_i)); (\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_j), \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(\theta_j))].$$

Note that \mathbf{A} is a square, symmetric matrix. We prove that \mathbf{A} is positive by the following part. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{Z}^{T}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{Z} &= \mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}[(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{i}),\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(\theta_{i}));(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}(\theta_{j}),\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}(\theta_{j}))]Z_{i}Z_{j} &= (\sigma(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{U}}(\theta_{i})),\varepsilon(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{V}}(\theta_{j}))\sqrt{a})_{\Omega}Z_{i}Z_{j} \\ &\geq \sqrt{\delta}(\sigma(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{U}}(\theta_{i})),\varepsilon(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{V}}(\theta_{j})))_{\Omega}Z_{i}Z_{j} \\ &= 2\sqrt{\delta}\mu(\varepsilon(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{U}}(\theta_{i})),\varepsilon(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{V}}(\theta_{j})))_{\Omega}Z_{i}Z_{j} + \sqrt{\delta}\lambda(\operatorname{div}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{U}}(\theta_{i})),\operatorname{div}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{V}}(\theta_{j})))_{\Omega}Z_{i}Z_{j} \\ &= 2\sqrt{\delta}\mu(\sum_{i}\varepsilon(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{U}}(\theta_{i}))Z_{i},\sum_{j}\varepsilon(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{V}}(\theta_{j}))Z_{j})_{\Omega} + \sqrt{\delta}\lambda(\sum_{i}\operatorname{div}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{U}}(\theta_{i}))Z_{i},\sum_{j}\operatorname{div}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{V}}(\theta_{j}))Z_{j})_{\Omega} \\ &= 2\sqrt{\delta}\mu\|\sum_{i}\varepsilon(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{U}}(\theta_{i}))Z_{i}\|_{\Omega}^{2} + \sqrt{\delta}\lambda\|\sum_{i}\operatorname{div}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{U}}(\theta_{i}))Z_{i}\|_{\Omega}^{2} \geq 0. \end{aligned}$$

Then, we conclude that the matrix $\mathbf{C}+\mathbf{A}$ is square, symmetric, positive definite. Hence, (2.50) has exactly one solution on [0, T] by the theory of initial value problem for linear systems (Theorem 7.4 in [38]).

Let us prove now that the sequences (p_k) and $(\boldsymbol{u}(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}(p_k))$ of the semi-discrete problem (2.50) are bounded. For obtaining this result, we firstly test (2.39) with $(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k)) = (\boldsymbol{u}(p'_k), \boldsymbol{r}(p'_k))$, (2.50a) with p_k , add two equations and integrate with respect to time on]0, t[for arbitrary $t \in [0, T]$. Next, we test (2.50a) with p'_k , differentiating in time (2.39) written for $p = p_k$, testing the resulting equation (2.50a) with $(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k))$, adding the two equations and integrating with respect to time. Finally, we add all equations together and apply the Young, Hölder's inequalities and the inequality (1.39). We itemize them in the following lemma.

Lemma 33

Let $p_0 \in H^1(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{f} \in H^1(0, T; L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3))$, $g \in L^2(\Omega \times]0, T[)$.

i. The solution p_k and $(\boldsymbol{u}(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}(p_k))$ of the semi-discrete problem (2.50) satisfy the following uniform bounds:

$$||(\boldsymbol{u}(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}(p_k))||_{L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_N)}^2 + ||p_k||_{L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 + ||\nabla p_k||_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 \le C \text{ and } (2.52a)$$

$$\|(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k))\|_{L^2(0,T;\mathcal{X}_N)}^2 + \|p_k'\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 + \|\nabla p_k\|_{L^\infty(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 \le C,$$
(2.52b)

where C depends only on T, f, p_0 and g.

ii. Moreover, there exists a function \hat{p} in $H^1(0,T;L^2(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}(0,T;H^1(\Omega))$ and functions $\boldsymbol{w}_1, \boldsymbol{w}_2$ in $H^1(0,T;H^1_0(\Omega))$ such that

 $p_k \xrightarrow{*} \hat{p}$ weakly- * in $L^{\infty}(0, T; H^1(\Omega)),$ (2.53a)

 $p_k \longrightarrow \hat{p}$ weakly in $H^1(0, T; L^2(\Omega)),$ (2.53b)

$$(\boldsymbol{u}(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}(p_k)) \longrightarrow (\boldsymbol{w}_1, \boldsymbol{w}_2)$$
 weakly in $H^1(0, T; \mathcal{X}_N)$. (2.53c)

Proof. Following [47], we test (2.39) with $(\boldsymbol{u'}(p_k), \boldsymbol{r'}(p_k))$, (2.50) with p_k , add two equations and integrate with respect to time on (0, t) for arbitrary $t \in [0, T]$. This leads to:

$$\underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t))) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \, dt}_{I_{1}}}_{I_{1}} \\ + \underbrace{\frac{1}{12} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \, dt}_{I_{2}} \\ + \underbrace{4\mu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \, dt}_{I_{3}} \\ + \underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} p_{k}'(t) p_{k}(t) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \, dt}_{I_{4}} + \underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} p_{k}'(t) p_{k}(t) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \, dt}_{I_{4}} + \underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} g p_{k}(t) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \, dt}_{I_{5}} + \underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot [\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) + z \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}(t))] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \, dt}_{I_{6}}.$$

Using the symmetric property of $\gamma_{\alpha\beta}$ and applying the inequality (1.39) to I_1 , there exists a positive constants c_1 such that

$$\begin{split} I_{1} &= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t))) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \, dt \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t))) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)))]' \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \, dt \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \int_{0}^{t} [\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t))) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)))]' \, dt \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t))) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t))) - \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0})) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}))] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t))) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t))) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} |\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)))|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0})) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}. \end{split}$$

Similarly, thanks to the symmetric property of $\chi_{\alpha\beta}$ and the inequality (1.39), there exists a

positive constants c_2 such that

$$\begin{split} I_{2} &= \frac{1}{12} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t)))]' \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t)))]' dt \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t)))] \\ &\quad - \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0}(t))) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0}))] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0}))] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0})) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0})) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0})) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0}(t))) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0})) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0}(t))) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0})) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0}(t))) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0})) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0})) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0})) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0})) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0})) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0})) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0})) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}_{0})) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}), \boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}_{0}$$

By the symmetric property of $\chi_{\alpha\beta}$ and the inequality (1.39), there exists a positive constants c_3 such that

$$\begin{split} I_{3} &= 4\mu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \, dt \\ &= 2M\mu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} [\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t)))]' \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \, dt \\ &= 2\mu \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} (\int_{0}^{t} [\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t)))]' \, dt) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= 2\mu \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} [\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t)))]' \, dt) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= 2\mu \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} [\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t)))]' \, dt) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= 2\mu \{\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= 2\mu \{\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= 2\mu \{\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= 2\mu \{\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= 2\mu \{\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= 2\mu \{\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= 2\mu \{\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \} \\ &= 2\mu \{\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \} \\ &= 2\mu \{\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}($$

$$= 2\mu \{ \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t))) \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{x} \\ - \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0})) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0})) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \} \\ \ge 2\mu c_{3} \int_{\omega} |\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t)))|^{2} \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{x} \\ - 2\mu \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0})) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0})) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}.$$

Subsequently, we make I_4 clearer,

$$I_{4} = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} p_{k}'(t) p_{k}(t) \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{x} \, dt = \int_{\Omega} (\int_{0}^{t} p_{k}'(t) p_{k}(t) \, dt) \, \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (p_{k}^{2}(t) - p_{k0}^{2}) \, \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} |p_{k}(t)|^{2} \, \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} |p_{k0}|^{2} \, \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}.$$

Applying the Young and Hölder inequalities to I_5 , we have

$$\begin{split} I_{5} &= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} gp_{k}(t) \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} \, dt \\ &\leq \sqrt{M} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} gp_{k}(t) \, d\mathbf{X} \, dt \leq \sqrt{M} \int_{0}^{t} \|g\|_{0,\Omega} \|p_{k}(t)\|_{0,\Omega} \\ &\leq \sqrt{M} \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{2}} \int_{0}^{t} \|g\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} \, dt + \sqrt{M} \frac{\varepsilon_{2}}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \|p_{k}(t)\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} \\ &\leq \sqrt{M} \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{2}} \|g\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \sqrt{M} \frac{\varepsilon_{2}}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla p_{k}(t)\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} \\ &\leq \sqrt{M} \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{2}} \|g\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \sqrt{M} \frac{\varepsilon_{2}}{2} \|\nabla p_{k}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Lastly, analogous to I_5 , we derive the upper bound of I_6 by the Young and Hölder inequalities

$$\begin{split} I_{6} &= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot [\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) + z\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}(t))] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} dt \\ &\leq \sqrt{M} \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{0,\Omega} \|\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) + z\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}(t))\|_{0,\Omega} \, dt \\ &\leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}} \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} \, dt + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{1}}{2} \int_{0}^{t} [\|\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t))\|_{0,\omega}^{2} + \frac{e}{2} \|\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}(t))\|_{0,\omega}^{2}] dt \\ &\leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}} \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3}))}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{1}}{2} \|(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}),\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))\|_{L^{2}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_{N})}^{2} \quad (e \ll 1). \end{split}$$

where ε_1 and ε_2 are positive constants from Young's inequality.

Consequently, one gets

$$\begin{split} \frac{c_{1}}{2} & \int_{\omega} |\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)))|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \frac{c_{2}}{24} \int_{\omega} |\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t)))|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ 2c_{3}\mu \int_{\omega} |\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t)))|^{2} \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{x} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} |p_{k}(t)|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla p_{k}(t)|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \, dt \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\omega} e^{a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma}} \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0})) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}))) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ \frac{1}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0})) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0})) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ 2\mu \int_{\omega} e^{a^{\alpha\beta}} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0})) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0})) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} |p_{k0}|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &+ \sqrt{M} \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{2}} \|g\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \sqrt{M} \frac{\varepsilon_{2}}{2} \|\nabla p_{k}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}} \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3}))}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{1}}{2} \|(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))\|_{L^{2}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_{N})}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Since $0 < \sqrt{\delta} \le \sqrt{a(x)} \le \sqrt{M} < \infty$ (see (2)-page 12),

$$\begin{split} c_{4}\sqrt{\delta} \|(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k}(t)),\boldsymbol{r}(p_{k}(t)))\|_{\mathcal{X}_{N}}^{2} &+ \frac{\sqrt{\delta}}{2} \|p_{k}(t)\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} + \frac{\kappa\sqrt{\delta}}{\eta} \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla p_{k}(t)\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} dt \\ &\leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}))\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0})) \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ \frac{\sqrt{M}}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}),\boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0}))\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}),\boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0})) \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ 2\mu\sqrt{M} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}),\boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0}))\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}),\boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0})) \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2} \int_{\Omega} |p_{k0}|^{2} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &+ \sqrt{M} \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{2}} \|g\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \sqrt{M} \frac{\varepsilon_{2}}{2} \|\nabla p_{k}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}} \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3}))}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{1}}{2} \|(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}),\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_{N})}^{2}, \end{split}$$

here $c_4 = \min\{\frac{c_1}{2}; \frac{c_2}{24}; 2c_3\mu\}.$

It follows to

$$\begin{split} &(c_{4}\sqrt{\delta} - \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{1}}{2})\|(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_{N})}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{\delta}}{2}\|p_{k}(t)\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} + (\frac{\kappa\sqrt{\delta}}{\eta} - \sqrt{M}\frac{\varepsilon_{2}}{2})\|\nabla p_{k}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} \\ &\leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2} \int_{\omega} e^{a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma}}\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}))\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}))\,d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ \frac{\sqrt{M}}{24} \int_{\omega} e^{3} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma}\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0}))\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0}))\,d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ 2\mu\sqrt{M} \int_{\omega} e^{a^{\alpha\beta}}\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0}))\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}(p_{k0}), \boldsymbol{r}(p_{k0}))\,d\boldsymbol{x} + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2} \int_{\Omega} |p_{k0}|^{2}\,d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &+ \sqrt{M}\frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{2}}\|g\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}}\|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3}))}^{2}. \end{split}$$

By choosing the ε_1 and ε_2 suitably, *i.e.*, $\varepsilon_1 < \frac{2c_4\sqrt{\delta}}{\sqrt{M}}$ and $\varepsilon_2 < \frac{2\kappa\sqrt{\delta}}{\eta\sqrt{M}}$, we obtain that

$$\|(\boldsymbol{u}(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}(p_k))\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_N)}^2 + \|p_k\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 + \|\nabla p_k\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 < C_1,$$
(2.54)

here C_1 depends only on T, $\|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3))}$, $\|p_0\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}$ and $\|g\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}$.

We have just proved the inequality (2.52a). Next, we derive the inequality (2.52b) by testing (2.50a) with p'_k , it leads

$$\int_{\Omega} |p'_{k}|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \left(\mathbf{u}'(p_{k}) + z\mathbf{r}'(p_{k}) \right) p'_{k} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p_{k} \cdot \nabla p'_{k} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} = \int_{\Omega} gp'_{k} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}.$$
(2.55)

And differentiating in time (2.22a) written for $p = p_k$,

$$\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k))\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^2}{12}\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k))\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s})]\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ + 4\mu \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta}\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k))\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p'_k \, \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}' \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

Testing the above achieving equation with $(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k))$,

$$\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k))\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k)) + \frac{e^2}{12}\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k))\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k))]\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + 4\mu \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta}\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k))\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k))\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p'_k \, \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k) + z\boldsymbol{r}'(p_k))\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}' \cdot (\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k) + z\boldsymbol{r}'(p_k))\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$
(2.56)

Adding the two equations (2.55) and (2.56) then integrating with respect to time, we obtain

$$\underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}))\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k})) + \frac{e^{2}}{12} \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}),\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}),\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))]\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}dt}_{Y_{1}} + \underbrace{4\mu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}),\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}),\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}dt}_{Y_{2}} + \underbrace{\frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p_{k} \cdot \nabla p_{k}' \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}dt}_{Y_{4}} = \underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}' \cdot (\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}) + z\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}dt}_{Y_{5}} + \underbrace{\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} gp_{k}' \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}dt}_{Y_{6}}.$$
(2.57)

Applying the inequality (1.39), there are positive constants c_1', c_2', c_3' such that

$$\begin{split} Y_{1} + Y_{2} \\ &= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}))\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k})) + \frac{e^{2}}{12} \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &+ 4\mu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k})) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k})) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &\geq c_{1}' \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\omega} [e|\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}))|^{2} + \frac{e^{3}}{12} |\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))|^{2} + 4\mu e |\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))|^{2}] \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &\geq c_{2}' \sqrt{\delta} \int_{0}^{t} |||(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))|||^{2} dt \geq c_{3}' \sqrt{\delta} \int_{0}^{t} ||(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))||^{2} dt \\ &= c_{3}' \sqrt{\delta} ||(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))||^{2}_{L^{2}(0,t;\mathcal{X}_{N})} \, . \end{split}$$

Using the bounds of \sqrt{a} and integration with respect to time, we carry out the lower bound of $Y_3 + Y_4$,

$$Y_{3} + Y_{4} = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} |p_{k}'|^{2} \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} dt + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p_{k} \cdot \nabla p_{k}' \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} dt$$

$$\geq \sqrt{\delta} \int_{0}^{t} \|p_{k}'\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \, dt + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (|\nabla p_{k}(t)|^{2} - |\nabla p_{k0}|^{2}) \sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X}$$

$$\geq \sqrt{\delta} \|p_{k}'\|_{L^{2}(0,t;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{\delta}}{2} \|\nabla p_{k}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} - \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2} \|\nabla p_{k0}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} .$$

In the following, we employ the Young and Hölder inequalities to find the upper bound of Y_5 ,

$$\begin{split} Y_{5} &= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}' \cdot [\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}) + z\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k})] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} dt \\ &\leq \sqrt{M} \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{f}'\|_{0,\Omega} \|\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t)) + z\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}(t))\|_{0,\Omega} \, dt \\ &\leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}'} \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{f}'\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} \, dt + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{1}'}{2} \int_{0}^{t} [\|\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}(t))\|_{0,\omega}^{2} + \frac{e}{2} \|\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}(t))\|_{0,\omega}^{2}] dt \\ &\leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}'} \|\boldsymbol{f}'\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3}))}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{1}'}{2} \|(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}),\boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k}))\|_{L^{2}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_{N})}^{2} \quad (e \ll 1). \end{split}$$

Similar to Y_5 , we also derive the lower bound of Y_6 ,

$$Y_{6} = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} gp_{k}'(t)\sqrt{a} \, d\mathbf{X} \, dt \leq \sqrt{M} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} gp_{k}'(t) \, d\mathbf{X} \, dt \leq \sqrt{M} \int_{0}^{t} \|g\|_{0,\Omega} \|p_{k}(t)\|_{0,\Omega}$$
$$\leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{2}'} \int_{0}^{t} \|g\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} \, dt + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{2}'}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \|p_{k}'(t)\|_{0,\Omega}^{2} \leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{2}'} \|g\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{2}'}{2} \|p_{k}'\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2},$$

where ε'_1 and ε'_2 are positive constants from Young inequality. Therefore, (2.57) becomes

$$\begin{split} c'_{3}\sqrt{\delta} \parallel (\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k})) \parallel_{L^{2}(0,t;\mathcal{X}_{N})} + \sqrt{\delta} \parallel p'_{k} \parallel_{L^{2}(0,t;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{\delta}}{2} \parallel \nabla p_{k} \parallel_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ \leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{1}'} \parallel \boldsymbol{f}' \parallel_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3}))} + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{1}'}{2} \parallel (\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k})) \parallel_{L^{2}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_{N})} + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon_{2}'} \parallel g \parallel_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} \\ + \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon_{2}'}{2} \parallel p'_{k} \parallel_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2} \parallel \nabla p_{k0} \parallel_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} . \end{split}$$

It implies to

$$(c'_{3}\sqrt{\delta} - \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon'_{1}}{2}) \parallel (\boldsymbol{u}'(p_{k}), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_{k})) \parallel_{L^{2}(0,T;\mathcal{X}_{N})} + (\sqrt{\delta} - \frac{\sqrt{M}\varepsilon'_{2}}{2}) \parallel p'_{k} \parallel_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{\delta}}{2} \parallel \nabla p_{k} \parallel_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ \leq \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon'_{1}} \parallel \boldsymbol{f}' \parallel_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{3}))} + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2\varepsilon'_{2}} \parallel \boldsymbol{g} \parallel_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{M}}{2} \parallel \nabla p_{k0} \parallel_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} .$$

By choosing the ε'_1 and ε'_2 suitably, *i.e.*, $\varepsilon'_1 < \frac{2c'_3\sqrt{\delta}}{\sqrt{M}}$ and $\varepsilon'_2 < \frac{2\sqrt{\delta}}{\sqrt{M}}$, we obtain that

$$||(\boldsymbol{u}'(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}'(p_k))||_{L^2(0,T;\mathcal{X}_N)}^2 + ||p_k'||_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 + ||\nabla p_k||_{L^\infty(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}^2 \le C_2,$$

here C_2 depends only on T, $\|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^3))}$, $\|p_0\|_{L^\infty(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}$ and $\|\boldsymbol{g}\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}$. This inequality implies (2.52b) in Lemma 33. From (2.52), we have that $\|p_k\|_{L^\infty(0,T;H^1(\Omega))}$, $\|p_k\|_{H^1(0,T;L^2(\Omega))}$ and $\|(\boldsymbol{u}(p_k), \boldsymbol{r}(p_k))\|_{H^1(0,T;\mathcal{X}_N)}^2$ are uniformly bounded. This yields (2.53). We just finished the proof of Lemma 33. Lastly, we prove that the pressure solution \hat{p} , which is derived in Lemma 33, satisfies (2.45) and (2.22c).

The limit \hat{p} in Lemma 33 solves (2.45) and (2.22c).

Proof. We pass to the limit in (2.39) after having replaced p by p_k and based on (2.53c),

$$\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{w}_1) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \frac{1}{12} \int_{\omega} e^3 \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{w}_1, \boldsymbol{w}_2) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ + 4\mu \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{w}_1, \boldsymbol{w}_2) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \int_{\Omega} \hat{p} \, \operatorname{div} \, (\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

By uniqueness of (2.39), we have $\boldsymbol{w}_1 = \boldsymbol{u}(\hat{p})$ and $\boldsymbol{w}_2 = \boldsymbol{r}(\hat{p})$. Then passing to the limit in (2.50), we also obtain that \hat{p} solves (2.45) and the continuity in time of \hat{p} gives the initial condition (2.22c).

Proof. (of Theorem 10). From Lemma 30 and Lemma 32, we can derive that the problem (2.22) is well posed. The remain of theorem is proved by Lemma 33 and Lemma 34.

2.7 Boundary value problem

In this section, we derive the boundary value problem that is, at least formally, equivalent to the Biot-Naghdi weak equations (2.22). Let us consider the boundary of Ω and ω :

$$\partial \omega = \gamma_0 \cup \gamma_1 \text{ and } \partial \Omega = \Gamma_0 \cup \Gamma_1 = \gamma_0 \times (-\frac{e}{2}, \frac{e}{2}) \cup \gamma_1 \times (-\frac{e}{2}, \frac{e}{2}),$$

and introduce the space

$$H^1_{\Gamma_0}(\Omega) = \{ q \in H^1(\Omega); q = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_0 \}.$$

We recall the variational formulation of the problem corresponding to the linearized Biot-Naghdi shell model. For data (\mathbf{f}, g) in $L^2(0, T; L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3)) \times L^2(\Omega \times]0, T[)$, it reads: Find $(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{r}) \in \mathcal{V}_N$ and $p \in \mathcal{W}_N$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{A}((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})) &= 0 \quad \forall (\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) \in \mathcal{X}_N, \\ \mathcal{B}((\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);q) &= 0 \quad \forall q \in H^1_{\Gamma_0}(\Omega), \end{cases}$$
(2.58)

where

80

Lemma 34

2.7. Boundary value problem

$$\mathcal{A}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})] = \mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}),(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})] + \mathcal{B}_{1}^{N}[p,(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})] - \mathcal{L}_{1}^{N}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})$$

$$= \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u})\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{e^{2}}{12}\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})]\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$+ 4\mu \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta}\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v}+z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$- \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v}+z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}. \qquad (2.59)$$

Next, we state the system of partial differential equations of the Biot-Naghdi shell model (2.58) in the case when $\partial \omega = \gamma_0 \cup \gamma_1$.

Theorem 11

If the solution $(u, r) \in \mathcal{V}_N$ and $p \in \mathcal{W}_N$ of the corresponding problem (2.22) of Theorem 9 is smooth enough, it also satisfies the boundary value problem:

$$-\partial_{\rho}((n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3})\sqrt{a}) + \alpha\nabla(p\sqrt{a}) = \boldsymbol{f}\sqrt{a}, \text{ in } \Omega\times]0, T[$$

$$(-m_{|\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}))\boldsymbol{a}_{\rho}\sqrt{a} + \alpha z\nabla(p\sqrt{a}) = z\boldsymbol{f}\sqrt{a}, \text{ in } \Omega\times]0, T[$$

$$\partial_{t}(c_{0}p + \alpha \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u} + z\boldsymbol{r}))\sqrt{a} - \frac{\kappa}{\eta}\operatorname{div}(\nabla p\sqrt{a}) = g\sqrt{a}, \text{ in } \Omega\times]0, T[$$

$$\boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{r} = \boldsymbol{0} \text{ on } \gamma_{0}, \qquad (2.60)$$

$$p = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{0},$$

$$((n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3})\sqrt{a})n_{\rho} - \alpha p\sqrt{a}\boldsymbol{\nu} = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{1},$$

$$m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{\rho}\sqrt{a} n_{\sigma} - \alpha zp\sqrt{a}\boldsymbol{\nu} = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{1},$$

$$\nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}\sqrt{a} = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{1},$$

where

$$n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}) = ea^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma}\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u}), \qquad (2.61a)$$

$$m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) = \frac{e^3}{12} a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}), \qquad (2.61b)$$

$$t^{\beta}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) = 4\mu e a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})$$
(2.61c)

and for an arbitrary tensor with differentiable covariant components,

γ

$$m^{\alpha\beta}|_{\beta} = \partial_{\beta}m^{\alpha\beta} + \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\beta\sigma}m^{\beta\sigma} + \Gamma^{\beta}_{\beta\sigma}m^{\alpha\sigma}.$$

Proof. Let us remind the tensors:

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}) &= \gamma_{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{v}) = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{a}_{\rho} + \partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma}),\\ \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) &= \chi_{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) = \frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{s}_{\rho|\sigma} + \boldsymbol{s}_{\sigma|\rho}) + \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + \partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{a}_{3}) \end{split}$$

and

$$\delta_{\beta 3}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) = rac{1}{2} (\partial_{\beta} \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_3 + s_{\beta}).$$

Hence, combining with the symmetry property of $n^{\rho\sigma}$ and $m^{\rho\sigma}$ we obtain that

$$n^{
ho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\gamma_{
ho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v})=n^{
ho\sigma}\partial_{
ho}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma},$$

and

$$m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})=m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})(\boldsymbol{s}_{\rho|\sigma}+\partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3}).$$

Therefore, $\mathcal{A}_1^N[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}),(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})]$ becomes:

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}),(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})] = \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\beta}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\beta}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{a}_{3}]\sqrt{a}\,d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{s}_{\rho|\sigma} + t^{\beta}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{s}_{\beta}]\sqrt{a}\,d\boldsymbol{X} - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p\,\mathrm{div}(\boldsymbol{v}+z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a}\,d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

Then, we rewrite \mathcal{A}

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})] &= \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\beta}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\beta}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot a_{3}]\sqrt{a}\,d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &+ \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{s}_{\rho|\sigma} + t^{\beta}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{s}_{\beta}]\sqrt{a}\,d\boldsymbol{X} - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p\,\mathrm{div}(\boldsymbol{v}+z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a}\,d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &- \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v}+z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a}\,d\boldsymbol{X}. \end{aligned}$$

By changing the indices of two terms $t^{\beta}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\beta}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{a}_{3}$ and $t^{\beta}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{s}_{\beta}$ from β to ρ , we obtain

$$\mathcal{A}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})] = \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}]\sqrt{a} \cdot \partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{s}_{\rho|\sigma} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \, \boldsymbol{s}_{\rho} \sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{X} \\ - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

From (2.58), we see that $\mathcal{A}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})] = 0$ for all $(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) \in \mathcal{X}_N$, so one takes $(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s}) = (\boldsymbol{v},0)$

$$\mathcal{A}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);(\boldsymbol{v},0)] = \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}]\sqrt{a} \cdot \partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p \operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{v}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

Applying the Green theorem to the first and second term and using the elimination of $(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s})$ on

82

2.7. Boundary value problem

 Γ_0 , we have

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}]\sqrt{a} \cdot \partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &= -\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} \partial_{\rho}([n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}]\sqrt{a}) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &+ \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Gamma_{0}\cup\Gamma_{1}} ([n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}]\sqrt{a})n_{\rho} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, d\boldsymbol{\Gamma} \\ &= -\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} \partial_{\rho}([n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}]\sqrt{a}) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &+ \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Gamma_{1}} ([n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}]\sqrt{a})n_{\rho} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, d\boldsymbol{\Gamma} \end{split}$$

and

$$\alpha \int_{\Omega} p \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \alpha \int_{\Gamma_0 \cup \Gamma_1} p\left(\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s}\right) \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} d\Gamma - \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a}) \cdot \left(\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s}\right) d\boldsymbol{X}$$
$$= \alpha \int_{\Gamma_1} p(\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s}) \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} d\Gamma - \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a}) \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} + z\boldsymbol{s}) d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

So we get that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);(\boldsymbol{v},0)] &= -\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} \partial_{\rho} ([n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}]\sqrt{a}) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &+ \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Gamma_{1}} ([n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}]\sqrt{a})n_{\rho} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, d\Gamma \\ &- \alpha \int_{\Gamma_{1}} p \, \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} d\Gamma + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a}) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}. \end{aligned}$$

Then we derive that:

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_{\rho}([n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma}+m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3}+t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}]\sqrt{a})+\alpha e\nabla\left(p\sqrt{a}\right) &=e\boldsymbol{f}\sqrt{a} \text{ in }\Omega,\\ ([n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma}+m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3}+t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}]\sqrt{a})n_{\rho}-\alpha ep\boldsymbol{n}\sqrt{a} &=\boldsymbol{0} \text{ on }\Gamma_{1}. \end{cases}$$
(2.62)

Similarly, taking $(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s}) = (0, \boldsymbol{s})$, one can check that

$$\mathcal{B}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);(0,\boldsymbol{s})] = \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{s}_{\rho|\sigma}\sqrt{a}\,d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\,s_{\rho}\sqrt{a}\,d\boldsymbol{X} - \alpha \int_{\Gamma_{1}} p\,(z\boldsymbol{s})\cdot\boldsymbol{n}\sqrt{a}d\Gamma + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a})\cdot(z\boldsymbol{s})\,d\boldsymbol{X} = \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})(\partial_{\sigma}s_{\rho} - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\rho\sigma}s_{\alpha})\sqrt{a}\,d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\,s_{\rho}\sqrt{a}\,d\boldsymbol{X} - \alpha \int_{\Gamma_{1}} p\,(z\boldsymbol{s})\cdot\boldsymbol{n}\sqrt{a}d\Gamma + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a})\cdot(z\boldsymbol{s})\,d\boldsymbol{X}$$

Chapter 2. Biot-Naghdi poroelastic shell model

$$= \underbrace{\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{r}) (\partial_{\sigma} s_{\rho}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{I_{1}} - \underbrace{\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{r}) \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\rho\sigma} s_{\alpha} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{I_{2}} + \underbrace{\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{r}) s_{\rho} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}}_{I_{2}} - \alpha \int_{\Gamma_{1}} p\left(z\boldsymbol{s}\right) \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} d\Gamma + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a}) \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

In detail, we make ${\cal I}_1$ clearer

$$\begin{split} I_{1} &= -\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} \partial_{\sigma} [m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\sqrt{a}] s_{\rho} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Gamma_{0}\cup\Gamma_{1}} n_{\sigma} [m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\sqrt{a}] s_{\rho} d\Gamma \\ &= -\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [\partial_{\sigma} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\sqrt{a} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\sqrt{a}] s_{\rho} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Gamma_{1}} n_{\sigma} [m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\sqrt{a}] s_{\rho} d\Gamma \\ &= -\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [\partial_{\sigma} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\sqrt{a} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\alpha\sigma}\sqrt{a}] s_{\rho} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Gamma_{1}} n_{\sigma} [m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\sqrt{a}] s_{\rho} d\Gamma \\ &= -\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [\partial_{\sigma} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\alpha\sigma}]\sqrt{a} \, s_{\rho} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Gamma_{1}} n_{\sigma} [m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\sqrt{a}] s_{\rho} d\Gamma. \end{split}$$

by $\partial_{\rho}\sqrt{a} = \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\alpha\rho}\sqrt{a}$. Next, exchanging the index of I_2 between ρ and α ,

$$I_2 = \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} m^{\alpha\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{r}) \Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\sigma} \sqrt{a} \, s_{\rho} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

Therefore

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);(\boldsymbol{0},\boldsymbol{s})] &= I_1 - I_2 + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \, s_{\rho} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \alpha \int_{\Gamma_1} p\left(z\boldsymbol{s}\right) \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} d\Gamma + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a}) \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &= -\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [\partial_{\sigma} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\alpha\sigma}] \sqrt{a} \, s_{\rho} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} m^{\alpha\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\sigma} \sqrt{a} \, s_{\rho} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Gamma_1} n_{\sigma} [m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \sqrt{a}] s_{\rho} d\Gamma + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \sqrt{a} \, s_{\rho} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \alpha \int_{\Gamma_1} p\left(z\boldsymbol{s}\right) \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} d\Gamma \\ &\quad + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a}) \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &= -\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [\partial_{\sigma} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\alpha\sigma} + m^{\alpha\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\sigma}] \sqrt{a} \, s_{\rho} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Gamma_1} n_{\sigma} [m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \sqrt{a}] s_{\rho} d\Gamma + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \sqrt{a} \, s_{\rho} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \alpha \int_{\Gamma_1} p\left(z\boldsymbol{s}\right) \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} d\Gamma \\ &\quad + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a}) \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}. \end{split}$$

Exchanging the indices of $m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\alpha\sigma}$ and $m^{\alpha\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\sigma}$ between ρ and α , one has

$$\begin{aligned} &(\partial_{\sigma}m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})+m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\alpha\sigma}+m^{\alpha\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\sigma})\sqrt{a}\,s_{\rho}\\ &=(\partial_{\sigma}m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})+m^{\rho\alpha}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\sigma\alpha}+m^{\alpha\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\rho}_{\sigma\alpha})\sqrt{a}\,s_{\rho}\\ &=(\partial_{\sigma}m^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})+m^{\alpha\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\sigma\alpha}+m^{\alpha\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\Gamma^{\rho}_{\sigma\alpha})\sqrt{a}\,s_{\rho}\quad(m^{\rho\sigma}\text{ is symmetric})\\ &=m^{\sigma\rho}_{|\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\sqrt{a}s_{\rho}.\end{aligned}$$

Then,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);(\boldsymbol{0},\boldsymbol{s})] \\ &= -\frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} m_{|\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \sqrt{a} \, s_{\rho} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Gamma_{1}} n_{\sigma} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \sqrt{a} s_{\rho} d\Gamma + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \sqrt{a} \, s_{\rho} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &\quad -\alpha \int_{\Gamma_{1}} p\left(z\boldsymbol{s}\right) \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} d\Gamma + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a}) \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &= \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [-m_{|\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})] \sqrt{a} \, s_{\rho} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Gamma_{1}} n_{\sigma} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \sqrt{a} \, s_{\rho} d\Gamma \\ &\quad -\alpha \int_{\Gamma_{1}} p\left(z\boldsymbol{s}\right) \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} d\Gamma + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a}) \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &= \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [-m_{|\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})] \sqrt{a} \, \boldsymbol{a}_{\rho} \cdot \boldsymbol{s} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Gamma_{1}} n_{\sigma} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \sqrt{a} \, \boldsymbol{a}_{\rho} \cdot \boldsymbol{s} \, d\Gamma \\ &\quad -\alpha \int_{\Gamma_{1}} p\left(z\boldsymbol{s}\right) \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} d\Gamma + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a}) \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &= \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [-m_{|\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})] \sqrt{a} \, \boldsymbol{a}_{\rho} \cdot \boldsymbol{s} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a}) \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &= \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Omega} [-m_{|\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})] \sqrt{a} \, \boldsymbol{a}_{\rho} \cdot \boldsymbol{s} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \nabla(p\sqrt{a}) \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot (z\boldsymbol{s}) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{1}{e} \int_{\Gamma_{1}} n_{\sigma} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \sqrt{a} \, \boldsymbol{a}_{\rho} \cdot \boldsymbol{s} \, d\Gamma - \alpha \int_{\Gamma_{1}} p\left(z\boldsymbol{s}\right) \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} d\Gamma. \end{split}$$

Hence we get

$$\begin{cases} (-m_{\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}))\sqrt{a}\,\boldsymbol{a}_{\rho} + \alpha ez\nabla(p\sqrt{a}) &= ze\boldsymbol{f}\sqrt{a} \text{ in }\Omega,\\ m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{\rho}\sqrt{a}\,n_{\sigma} - \alpha ezp\,\boldsymbol{n}\sqrt{a} &= \boldsymbol{0} \text{ on }\Gamma_{1}. \end{cases}$$
(2.63)

Next, we work with the weak form

$$\mathcal{B}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);q] = 0 \quad \forall q \in H^1_{\Gamma_0}(\Omega),$$

where

$$\mathcal{B}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);q] = c_0 \int_{\Omega} p' q \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} (\boldsymbol{u}' + z\boldsymbol{r}') q \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega} g q \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

Applying the Green theorem to the third term, we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} = \int_{\Gamma_0 \cup \Gamma_1} (\nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}) q \sqrt{a} \, d\Gamma - \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\nabla p \sqrt{a}) q \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$
$$= \int_{\Gamma_1} (\nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{n}) q \sqrt{a} \, d\Gamma - \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\nabla p \sqrt{a}) q \, d\boldsymbol{X}.$$

Then, it follows that

$$\mathcal{B}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);q] = \int_{\Omega} (c_0 p' \sqrt{a} + \alpha \operatorname{div} (\boldsymbol{u}' + z\boldsymbol{r}')\sqrt{a} - \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \operatorname{div}(\nabla p \sqrt{a}) - g\sqrt{a})q \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \alpha \int_{\Gamma_1} (\nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{n})q\sqrt{a} \, d\Gamma.$$

Since $\mathcal{B}[(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{r}, p); q] = 0$ for all q in $H^1(\Omega)$,

$$\begin{cases} c_0 p' \sqrt{a} + \alpha \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}' + z\boldsymbol{r}') \sqrt{a} - \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \operatorname{div}(\nabla p \sqrt{a}) &= g \sqrt{a} \text{ in } \Omega, \\ \nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \sqrt{a} &= 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_1. \end{cases}$$
(2.64)

From (2.62), (2.63) and (2.64) we obtain the Theorem (11).

Now, we consider the Biot-Naghdi shell model in the case where $\partial \omega = \gamma_0$.

Theorem 12

Assume that $\partial w = \gamma_0$, so that

$$\mathcal{X}_N = H_0^1(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3) \times H_0^1(\omega)^2$$
 and $\mathcal{W}_N = L^{\infty}(0, T; L^2(\Omega)) \cap L^2(0, T; H_0^1(\Omega)).$

If the solution $(u, r) \in \mathcal{V}_N$ and $p \in \mathcal{W}_N$ of the corresponding problem (2.22) of Theorem 9 is smooth enough, it also satisfies the boundary value problem:

$$-\partial_{\rho}((n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3})\sqrt{a}) + \alpha\nabla(p\sqrt{a}) = \boldsymbol{f}\sqrt{a}, \text{ in } \Omega\times]0, T[$$

$$(-m_{|\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}))\boldsymbol{a}_{\rho}\sqrt{a} + \alpha z\nabla(p\sqrt{a}) = z\boldsymbol{f}\sqrt{a}, \text{ in } \Omega\times]0, T[$$

$$\partial_{t}(c_{0}p + \alpha \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u} + z\boldsymbol{r}))\sqrt{a} - \frac{\kappa}{\eta}\operatorname{div}(\nabla p\sqrt{a}) = g\sqrt{a}, \text{ in } \Omega\times]0, T[$$

$$\boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{r} = \boldsymbol{0} \text{ on } \gamma_{0},$$

$$p = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{0},$$

$$(2.65)$$

2.7. Boundary value problem

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})] &= \int_{\omega} [n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}]\sqrt{a} \cdot \partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{v} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ \int_{\omega} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r})\boldsymbol{s}_{\rho|\sigma}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\omega} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r}) \, \boldsymbol{s}_{\rho}\sqrt{a} d\boldsymbol{x} - \alpha \int_{\Omega} p \operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{v}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &- \alpha \int_{\Omega} p \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{z}\boldsymbol{s})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{s}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}, \\ \mathcal{B}[(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{r},p);q] = c_{0} \int_{\Omega} p'q\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} (\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}' + \boldsymbol{r}')q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \alpha \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{z}\boldsymbol{r}')q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &+ \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \nabla q \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \int_{\omega} \overline{g}q\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. Following the same steps in Theorem 11, we obtain Theorem 12.

Remark 35

- i. The solution regularity depends on the regularity of chart defining the shell midsurface. In the case where the chart is of class C^3 , O. Iosifescu in [53] has established the H^2 -regularity of the solution in a local covariant or contravariant framework.
- ii. For our Hybrid Naghdi's formulation of the present work and also for Cartesian equations where the surface is globally $W^{2,\infty}$, the solution regularity is still an open problem.
- iii. In a recent work [63], I. Merabet and S. Nicaise have introduced a new mixed formulation for Nagdhi's shell which is appropriate for folded surfaces and have approximated the solution of the problem using the DK method. The standard a priori error analysis of such methods uses additional regularity on the solution but in [63], I. Merabet and S. Nicaise have carried out an error analysis which only requires the regularity of the weak solution.

Conclusion: In this chapter, we established the derivation of a poroelastic shell model of Naghdi type coupled with the Biot model. It is the Biot-Naghdi poroelastic shell model. We also proved the well-posedness of the resulting equations by the theory of DAEs and Galerkin semi-discrete method. Moreover, we obtain the strong formulation of Naghdi-Biot coupled model which we use for establishing the fluid-structure interaction between incompressible flow and poroelastic shell structure in Chapter 3.

Chapter 3

Interaction between a fluid and a poroelastic shell

In this chapter, we carry out the fluid-structure interaction between incompressible flow and poroelastic shell structure. We use the incompressible Stokes for the free fluid and the Biot-Naghdi poroelastic shell model, which we derived in Theorem 11, for the poroelastic shell structure. In process of proving the well-posedness of this model (see Theorem 13), we have trouble imposing the conditions on the interface which are mass conservation, balance of stress and the Beavers-Joseph-Saffman conditions. Therefore, the Lagrange multiplier method is employed to impose weakly this condition. We assume that the boundaries and the interface between the fluid and the poroelastic material are fixed. The proof proceeds by constructing a semi-discrete Galerkin approximations, deriving the discrete inf-sup condition and adopting the theory of differential-algebraic equations (DAEs)[26].

3.1 Introduction

The interaction between a free fluid and a deformable porous medium is found a wide range of applications: ground-surface water flow, reservoir engineering and blood-vessel interactions. We have three common coupling models: Stokes-Darcy [42, 48, 57, 78, 87, 89], Stokes-Biot[2, 82] and Navier-Stokes-Biot [3, 27, 31]. In Stokes-Darcy model, the fluid flow is governed by Stokes equations and the flow in a porous medium is governed by Darcy equations. Coupling the Stokes and Darcy equations has become a very active area of research because of its potential for practical applications. Such models can be used to describe physiological phenomena like the blood motion in vessels, hydrological systems in which surface water percolates through rocks and sand, and various industrial processes involving filtration. One serious problem today is surface water and groundwater contamination resulting from leaky underground storage tanks, chemical spills, and various human activities. A model coupling the Stokes-Darcy equations with a transport equation [87] can be used to study the spread of pollution released in the water and assess the danger. J.M. Urquiza [86] considered a weak formulation of the coupled problem which allows to use classical Stokes finite elements in the fluid domain, and standard continuous piecewise polynomials in the porous medium domain. In his work, the formulation of Stokes equations is standard while a Galerkin least-squares formulation is used for a mixed form of Darcy equations, as in [2]. Unlike Stokes-Darcy model, coupling the Stokes-Biot equations adopt the Biot system [10] for fluid in the poroelastic media. An alternative partitioned approach for the coupled Stokes-Biot problem based on the Nitsche's method is studied in [29]. The resulting method is loosely coupled and non-iterative with conditional stability. Different to the method in [28], which is suitable for the pressure formulation of Darcy flow, the Nitsche's method can handle the mixed Darcy formulation. In [2], the authors focus on the the monolithic scheme for full-dimensional Stokes-Biot problem with the approximation of the continuity of normal velocity condition through the use of a Lagrange multiplier. They consider the mixed formulation for Darcy flow in the Biot system, which provides a locally mass conservation flow approximation and an accuracy Darcy velocity. The advantage of the Lagrange multiplier method is that it does not involve a penalty parameter and it can enforce the continuity of normal velocity with machine precision accuracy on matching grids. The most popular fluid-structure interaction (FSI) is Navier-Stokes-Biot coupling model. In which, the Navier-Stokes equations describes the incompressible fluid. The finite element approximation of the FSI problem [3] is involved due to the fact that both subproblems are indefinite. In this work, the authors design residual-based stabilization techniques for Biot systems, motived by the variational multiscale approach. Then, they state the monolithic Navier-Stokes-Biot system with the appropriate transmission conditions at the interface. For the solution of the coupled system, they adopt both monolithic solvers and heterogeneous domain decomposition strategies. In Navier-Stokes-Biot coupling model, the transmission conditions on the interface have a essential role. The Beavers-Joseph-Saffman (BJS) condition ([5], [54], [81]) describes the slip boundary conditions between the fluid and elastic shell.

In our work, we use the Stokes equations for the incompressible free fluid and the Biot-Naghdi shell model, which we derived in section 2.7, for the poroelastic shell structure. Mass conservation, balance of stress and the BJS condition are imposed on the interface. A Lagrange multiplier method is employed to impose weakly this condition. We assume that the boundaries and the interface between the fluid and the poroelastic material are fixed. The proof proceeds by constructing a semi-discrete Galerkin approximations and for the existence of the solution we adopt the theory of differential-algebraic equations (DAEs)[26].

3.2 Problem setting

3.2.1 Stokes-Biot-Naghdi poroelastic shell model

We consider a multiphysics model problem for a free fluid's interaction with a flow in a deformable porous media, where the simulation domain Ω in \mathbb{R}^3 is a union of non-overlapping polygonal region Ω_f and $\widetilde{\Omega}_p$. Here Ω_f is a free region with flow governed by the Stokes equations and $\widetilde{\Omega}_p$ is a poroelastic shell structure governed by the Biot-Naghdi system.

3.2. Problem setting



Figure 3.1: Domain Ω

Note that, for the poroelastic shell structure, we do not work directly on $\widetilde{\Omega}_p$ but on $\Omega_p = \Phi(\widetilde{\Omega}_p)$ with Φ being the chart given in 1.1. Let (\boldsymbol{u}_f, p_f) be the velocity-pressure pair in Ω_f and (\boldsymbol{U}_p, p_p) be the displacement-pressure pair in Ω_p and let \boldsymbol{u}_p be the velocity in Ω_p . Remind that $\boldsymbol{U}_p = \boldsymbol{\eta}_p + z\boldsymbol{r}_p$ with $(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p)$ is a displacement-rotation pair in ω_p , where $\omega_p \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is the midsurface of Ω_p and satisfies $\varphi(\omega_p) = \widetilde{\omega}_p$. By the quality of Naghdi shell, we see that $\widetilde{\omega}_p \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ is the midsurface of $\widetilde{\Omega}_p$. More precisely,

$$\widetilde{\Omega}_p = \widetilde{\omega}_p \times (-e/2, e/2) \text{ and } \Omega_p = \omega_p \times (-e/2, e/2).$$
(3.1)

Let $\Gamma_f = \partial \Omega \cap \partial \Omega_f = \Gamma_f^{in} \cup \Gamma_f^{out}$ and $\widetilde{\Gamma}_p = \partial \Omega \cap \partial \widetilde{\Omega}_p = \widetilde{\Gamma}_p^0 \cup \widetilde{\Gamma}_p^1 \cup \widetilde{\Gamma}_p^{ext}$. We also denote $\Gamma_p = \partial \Omega_p = \Gamma_p^0 \cup \Gamma_p^1 \cup \Gamma_p^{ext}$.



Figure 3.2: Domain $\widetilde{\Omega}_p$ and Ω_p

Here

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}_{p}^{ext} = \varphi^{+}(\Gamma_{p}^{ext}) \text{ with } \varphi^{+}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, e/2) = \varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) + \frac{e}{2}\boldsymbol{a}_{3}(\boldsymbol{x}),$$
(3.2a)

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}_{fp} = \varphi^{-}(\Gamma_{fp}) \text{ with } \varphi^{-}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, -e/2) = \varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) - \frac{e}{2}\boldsymbol{a}_{3}(\boldsymbol{x}).$$
 (3.2b)

In the following, we derive the relationship between the area element of the midsurface in the chart φ and area elements of surfaces Γ_{fp} and Γ_p^{ext} in charts φ^+ and φ^- .

Lemma 36

Let S_{ε} be a surface given by $\bar{S}_{\varepsilon} = \varphi_{\varepsilon}(\bar{\omega})$ where $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) = \varphi(x) + \varepsilon a_3(x), x \in \omega, \varphi \in W^{2,\infty}(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$ being the chart defining the shell midsurface.

We let $a_{\varepsilon}(x) = |\partial_1 \varphi_{\varepsilon} \wedge \partial_2 \varphi_{\varepsilon}|^2$ so that $\sqrt{a_{\varepsilon}}$ is the area element of the surface S_{ε} in the chart φ_{ε} . Then, if ε is small enough, the area element a_{ε} associated to the surface S_{ε} in the chart φ_{ε} is given by:

$$a_{\varepsilon} = a(1 - 4\varepsilon \mathbf{H} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)), \qquad (3.3)$$

where **H** is the mean curvature of the midsurface S and \sqrt{a} is the area element of the midsurface S in the chart φ .

Proof. From the definition of $\partial_{\alpha}\varphi_{\varepsilon}$, we have:

$$\sqrt{a_{\varepsilon}(x)} = |\partial_1 \varphi_{\varepsilon} \wedge \partial_2 \varphi_{\varepsilon}| = |(\boldsymbol{a}_1 - \varepsilon b_1^{\beta} \boldsymbol{a}_{\beta}) \wedge (\boldsymbol{a}_2 - \varepsilon b_2^{\beta} \boldsymbol{a}_{\beta})|.$$

It follows that:

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{a_{\varepsilon}(x)} &= |\boldsymbol{a}_{1} \wedge \boldsymbol{a}_{2} - \varepsilon b_{2}^{2}(\boldsymbol{a}_{1} \wedge \boldsymbol{a}_{2}) - \varepsilon b_{1}^{1}(\boldsymbol{a}_{1} \wedge \boldsymbol{a}_{2}) + \varepsilon^{2}(b_{2}^{1}b_{2}^{2}(\boldsymbol{a}_{1} \wedge \boldsymbol{a}_{2}) + b_{2}^{1}b_{1}^{2}(\boldsymbol{a}_{2} \wedge \boldsymbol{a}_{1}))| \\ &= |\boldsymbol{a}_{1} \wedge \boldsymbol{a}_{2} - \varepsilon(b_{1}^{1} + b_{2}^{2})(\boldsymbol{a}_{1} \wedge \boldsymbol{a}_{2}) + \varepsilon^{2}(b_{1}^{1}b_{2}^{2} - b_{2}^{1}b_{1}^{2})(\boldsymbol{a}_{1} \wedge \boldsymbol{a}_{2})| \\ &= |(\boldsymbol{a}_{1} \wedge \boldsymbol{a}_{2})||(1 - \varepsilon(b_{1}^{1} + b_{2}^{2}) + \varepsilon^{2}(b_{1}^{1}b_{2}^{2} - b_{2}^{1}b_{1}^{2}))|. \end{split}$$

Recall that $\mathbf{H} = 1/2(b_1^1 + b_2^2)$ and $\mathbf{K} = b_1^1 b_2^2 - b_2^1 b_1^2$ are the mean curvature and the Gaussian curvature of the midsurface S, respectively. Then we obtain:

$$\sqrt{a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})} = |\boldsymbol{a}_1 \wedge \boldsymbol{a}_2||1 - 2\varepsilon \mathbf{H} + \varepsilon^2 \mathbf{K}|.$$

Hence, since **K** is in $W^{1,\infty}(\omega; \mathbb{R}^3)$, $a_{\varepsilon}(x)$ can be written

$$a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) = |\boldsymbol{a}_1 \wedge \boldsymbol{a}_2|^2 (1 - 4\varepsilon \mathbf{H} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)).$$

3.2. Problem setting

Remark 37

Therefore, thanks to the previous lemma, the area element $a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})$ of the surface S_{ε} can be approximated by the area element of the surface S when ε is small enough. In other words one can assume that:

$$dS_{\varepsilon} = \sqrt{a}d\boldsymbol{x}$$

Therefore, we have:

$$\int_{\widetilde{\Gamma}^{ext}} F(\boldsymbol{x}) d\widetilde{\Gamma} = \int_{\Gamma^{ext}} F(\boldsymbol{x}) \sqrt{a_{e/2}} \, dx = \int_{\Gamma^{ext}} F(\boldsymbol{x}) \sqrt{a} \, dx, \qquad (3.4)$$

$$\int_{\widetilde{\Gamma}_{fp}} F(\boldsymbol{x}) d\widetilde{\Gamma} = \int_{\Gamma_{fp}} F(\boldsymbol{x}) \sqrt{a_{-e/2}} \, dx = \int_{\Gamma_{fp}} F(\boldsymbol{x}) \sqrt{a} \, dx.$$
(3.5)

Next, we introduce the Stokes and Biot-Naghdi models.

Let $\mu_f > 0$ be the fluid viscosity, let f_f be the body force term in Ω_f . Let $D(\boldsymbol{u}_f)$ and $\sigma_f(\boldsymbol{u}_f, p_f)$ denote, respectively, the strain tensor and the stress tensor,

$$D(\boldsymbol{u}_f) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}_f + \nabla \boldsymbol{u}_f^T \right), \quad \boldsymbol{\sigma}_f(\boldsymbol{u}_f, p_f) = -p_f \mathbf{I} + 2\mu_f D(\boldsymbol{u}_f). \tag{3.6}$$

In the free fluid region Ω_f , (\boldsymbol{u}_f, p_f) satisfies the incompressible Stokes equations

$$-\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}_f(\boldsymbol{u}_f, p_f) = \boldsymbol{f}_f \text{ in } \Omega_f \times (0, T], \qquad (3.7a)$$

$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{u}_f = 0 \text{ in } \Omega_f \times (0, T], \qquad (3.7b)$$

where T > 0 is the final time.

In this section, we consider the relative velocity of the fluid within the porous structure \boldsymbol{u}_p as another unknown via the Darcy's law. Therefore, we couple also the Darcy's law to the Biot-Naghdi model. More detailed, let \boldsymbol{f}_p be in $L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega_p,\mathbb{R}^3))$ and g be in $L^2(\Omega_p\times]0,T[),$ $((\boldsymbol{\eta}_p,\boldsymbol{r}_p),\boldsymbol{u}_p,p_p)$ satisfy the Biot-Naghdi shell model and Darcy's equation:

$$-\partial_{\rho}((n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma}+m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3}+t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\boldsymbol{a}_{3})\sqrt{a})+\alpha e\nabla\left(p_{p}\sqrt{a}\right)=e\boldsymbol{f}_{p}\sqrt{a}\text{ in }\Omega_{p}\times\left(0,T\right],$$

$$(3.8a)$$

$$(-m_{\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p}) + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p}))\boldsymbol{a}_{\rho}\sqrt{a} + \alpha ez\nabla(p_{p}\sqrt{a}) = ze\boldsymbol{f}_{p}\sqrt{a} \text{ in } \Omega_{p}\times(0,T],$$
(3.8b)

$$c_0 p'_p \sqrt{a} + \alpha \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{\eta}'_p + z \boldsymbol{r}'_p) \sqrt{a} - \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}_p \sqrt{a}) = g \sqrt{a} \text{ in } \Omega_p \times (0, T],$$
(3.8c)

$$\frac{\mu_p}{\kappa} \boldsymbol{u}_p + \nabla p_p = 0 \text{ in } \Omega_p \times (0, T], \quad (3.8d)$$

where c_0 is the constrained specific storage coefficient, κ is the permeability of porous medium, $\mu_p > 0$ is the Lamé coefficient and $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ is the Biot-Willis constant, which is usually around one.

Recall that $m_{|\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}$ is the covariant derivative of tensor defined by

$$m_{\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) = \partial_{\sigma} m^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) + m^{\alpha\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \Gamma_{\sigma\alpha}^{\sigma} + m^{\alpha\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \Gamma_{\sigma\alpha}^{\rho}.$$
(3.9)

3.2.2 Boundary and initial conditions

The above system of equations needs to be complemented by a set of boundary and initial conditions. Let \mathbf{n}_f , \mathbf{n}_p and $\mathbf{\nu}_p$ be the outward unit normal vectors to $\partial\Omega_f$, $\partial\Omega_p$ and $\partial\omega_p$, respectively. Since the boundary conditions have no significant impact on the fluid poroelastic interaction, for simplicity they are chosen such that the normal fluid stress is prescribed on inlet and outlet boundaries:

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{f}\boldsymbol{n}_{f} = -p_{in}(t)\,\boldsymbol{n}_{f} \text{ on } \Gamma_{f}^{in} \times (0,T], \qquad (3.10a)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{f}\boldsymbol{n}_{f} = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{f}^{out} \times (0, T].$$
(3.10b)

On the boundary of Ω_p , we impose

$$\boldsymbol{\eta}_p = \boldsymbol{r}_p = \boldsymbol{0} \text{ on } \gamma_p^0 \times (0, T], \ p_p = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_p^0 \times (0, T], \ \boldsymbol{u}_p \cdot \mathbf{n}_p = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_p^1 \times (0, T],$$
(3.11a)

$$\left(\left[n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p)\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma}+m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p,\boldsymbol{r}_p)\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_3+t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p,\boldsymbol{r}_p)\boldsymbol{a}_3\right]\sqrt{a}\right)n_{\rho}-\alpha e p_p \sqrt{a}\,\boldsymbol{\nu}_p=\boldsymbol{0} \text{ on } \Gamma_p^1\times(0,T],\quad(3.11\text{b})$$

$$m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p)\boldsymbol{a}_{\rho}\sqrt{a} \ n_{\sigma} - \alpha ezp_p\sqrt{a} \ \boldsymbol{n}_p = \boldsymbol{0} \ \text{on} \ \Gamma_p^1 \times (0, T], \ \nabla p_p \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_p\sqrt{a} = 0 \ \text{on} \ \Gamma_p^1 \times (0, T].$$
(3.11c)

To avoid the issue with restricting the mean value of the pressure, we assume that $|\Gamma_p^0| > 0$. For proving the well-posedness of the weak formulation, we also need that $dist(\Gamma_p^1, \Gamma_{fp}) > 0$. For more details, see [46].

Later, we set the initial conditions

$$p_p(\boldsymbol{X}, 0) = p_{p,0}(\boldsymbol{X}) \text{ in } \Omega_p, \boldsymbol{X} = (x, z).$$
(3.12)

Remark 38

The initial condition $\boldsymbol{U}_p(\boldsymbol{X}, 0) = \boldsymbol{\eta}_p(x, 0) + z \boldsymbol{r}_p(x, 0)$ is computed by solving the Naghdi equations when $p_p(\boldsymbol{X}, 0)$ is given.

3.2.3 Interface conditions

For a discussion on the interface conditions on the fluid-poroelasticity interface Γ_{fp} , see [3, 83, 66, 67]. For mass conservation, we require that the normal fluid flux must be continuous across the interface

(Mass conservation)
$$\boldsymbol{u}_f \cdot \mathbf{n}_f + \alpha \partial_t \boldsymbol{U}_p \cdot \mathbf{n}_p + \boldsymbol{u}_p \cdot \mathbf{n}_p = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{fp} \times (0, T].$$

Note that, on the interface Γ_{fp} , $\boldsymbol{U}_p(x, -e/2) = \boldsymbol{\eta}_p(x) - \frac{e}{2}\boldsymbol{r}_p(x)$, we then obtain

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{f} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{f} + \alpha (\partial_{t} \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p} - \frac{e}{2} \partial_{t} \boldsymbol{r}_{p}) \cdot \mathbf{n}_{p} + \boldsymbol{u}_{p} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{p} = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_{fp} \times (0, T].$$
(3.13)

3.3. Weak formulation and Analysis

For the balance of the normal components of stress in fluid phase across Γ_{fp} , one have

$$-(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_f \mathbf{n}_f) \cdot \mathbf{n}_f = p_p \quad \text{on } \Gamma_{fp} \times (0, T].$$
(3.14)

The conservation of momentum requires that the stress of the porous medium is balanced by the stress of fluid, that is, the total stresses of the fluid and the poroelastic medium must match at the interface:

(Momentum conservation)
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}_f \mathbf{n}_f + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_p \mathbf{n}_p = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_{fp} \times (0, T].$$
 (3.15)

Finally, the tangential component of the fluid stress (which is equal to the one of the solid phase) is supposed to be proportional to the slip rate according to the Beavers-Joseph-Saffman (BJS) condition

$$(BJS \ condition) \qquad -(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_f \mathbf{n}_f) \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_f = \mu_f \alpha_{BJS} \sqrt{\kappa^{-1}} \left(\boldsymbol{u}_f - \alpha (\partial_t \boldsymbol{\eta}_p - \frac{e}{2} \partial_t \boldsymbol{r}_p) \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_f \tag{3.16}$$

here τ_f is the unit tangent vector on Γ_{fp} and $\alpha_{BJS} \ge 0$ is an experimentally determined friction coefficient.

3.3 Weak formulation and Analysis

3.3.1 Weak formulation

In this section, we construct an appropriate variational formulation of Stokes-Biot-Naghdi system (3.7) and (3.8) coupled by the interface conditions in 3.2.3.

In order to find weak formulation, we introduce our functional framework.

- For the Biot-Naghdi model, we introduce

$$\mathcal{X}_p = \{ \boldsymbol{\xi}_p \in H^1(\omega_p, \mathbb{R}^3) : \boldsymbol{\xi}_p = 0 \text{ on } \gamma_p^0 \}, \ \mathcal{S}_p = \{ \boldsymbol{s}_p \in [H^1(\omega_p, \mathbb{R})]^2 : \boldsymbol{s}_p = 0 \text{ on } \gamma_p^0 \}, \\ \mathcal{V}_p = \{ \boldsymbol{v}_p \in H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega_p) : \boldsymbol{v}_p \cdot \mathbf{n}_p = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_p^1 \}, \ \mathcal{W}_p = \{ w_p \in H^1(\Omega_p) : w_p = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_p^0 \}, \end{cases}$$

where $H(\operatorname{div},\Omega_p)$ is the space of $[L^2(\Omega_p)]^3$ -vector with divergence in $L^2(\Omega_p)$ with a norm

$$\|\boldsymbol{v}_p\|_{H(\operatorname{div},\Omega_p)} = (\|\boldsymbol{v}_p\|_{L^2(\Omega_p,\mathbb{R}^3)}^2 + \|\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_p\|_{L^2(\Omega_p)}^2)^{1/2}.$$

- For the Stokes equations, we set

$$\mathcal{V}_f = \{ \boldsymbol{v}_f \in [H^1(\Omega_f)]^3 : \boldsymbol{v}_f = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_f \} \text{ and } \mathcal{W}_f = L^2(\Omega_f).$$

We define the global velocity and pressure spaces:

$$\boldsymbol{V} = \{ \boldsymbol{v} = (\boldsymbol{v}_f, \boldsymbol{v}_p) \in \mathcal{V}_f \times \mathcal{V}_p \} \text{ and } W = \{ w = (w_f, w_p) \in \mathcal{W}_p \times \mathcal{W}_f \}$$

equipped with the norms

$$\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{V} = (\|\boldsymbol{v}_{f}\|_{H^{1}(\Omega_{f},\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{v}_{p}\|_{H^{1}(\Omega_{p},\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2})^{1/2},$$

$$\|w\|_{W} = (\|w_{f}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{f},\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + \|w_{p}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2})^{1/2}.$$

The weak formulation is obtained by multiplying the equations in each region by suitable test functions, integrating by parts in space and utilizing the interface and boundary conditions. Let us itemize the weak formulation in each region:

• The variational formulation of the Biot-Naghdi shell equations now reads: Given $t \in (0, T]$, find $(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p(t), \boldsymbol{r}_p(t), \boldsymbol{u}_p(t), p_p(t))$ in $\mathcal{X}_p \times \mathcal{S}_p \times \mathcal{V}_p \times \mathcal{W}_p$ such that

$$\begin{split} -\int_{\Omega_p} \partial_{\rho} (\left[n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p) \boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \partial_{\sigma} \boldsymbol{a}_3 + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \boldsymbol{a}_3 \right] \sqrt{a}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi}_p \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &+ \alpha e \int_{\Omega_p} \nabla(p_p \sqrt{a}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi}_p \, d\boldsymbol{X} = e \int_{\Omega_p} \boldsymbol{f}_p \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi}_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ &- \int_{\Omega_p} m_{|\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \boldsymbol{a}_\rho \cdot \boldsymbol{s}_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega_p} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \boldsymbol{a}_\rho \cdot \boldsymbol{s}_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ &+ \alpha e \int_{\Omega_p} z \nabla(p_p \sqrt{a}) \cdot \boldsymbol{s}_p d\boldsymbol{X} = e \int_{\Omega_p} z \boldsymbol{f}_p \cdot \boldsymbol{s}_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ &\int_{\Omega_p} \partial_t \big(c_0 p_p + \alpha \text{div} \, (\boldsymbol{\eta}_p + z \boldsymbol{r}_p) \big) w_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega_p} \text{div} \, (\boldsymbol{u}_p \sqrt{a}) w_p \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega_p} g w_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ &\frac{\mu_p}{\kappa} \int_{\widetilde{\Omega}_p} \boldsymbol{u}_p \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_p \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\widetilde{\Omega}_p} \nabla p_p \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_p \, d\boldsymbol{X} = 0, \quad \text{for all} \, \left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_p, \boldsymbol{s}_p, \boldsymbol{v}_p, w_p \right) \text{ in } \mathcal{X}_p \times \mathcal{S}_p \times \mathcal{V}_p \times \mathcal{W}_p \end{split}$$

Applying the Green Theorem, the boundary conditions and domain transposition from $\widetilde{\Omega}_p$ to Ω_p , the weak formulation of Biot-Naghdi is written

$$\begin{split} \int_{\omega_p} -\partial_{\rho} (\left[n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p) \boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \partial_{\sigma} \boldsymbol{a}_3 + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \boldsymbol{a}_3 \right] \sqrt{a}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi}_p \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \alpha \int_{\Gamma_1 \cup \Gamma_{fp}} p_p \sqrt{a} \, \boldsymbol{\xi}_p \cdot \mathbf{n}_p \, d\Gamma \\ &+ \alpha \int_{\Gamma_{fp}} [(p_p \mathbf{n}_p) \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_f] \left[\boldsymbol{\xi}_p \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_f \right] \sqrt{a} \, d\Gamma - \alpha \int_{\Omega_p} p_p \sqrt{a} \, \mathrm{div} \, \boldsymbol{\xi}_p \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega_p} \boldsymbol{f}_p \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi}_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ &- \int_{\omega_p} m_{|\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \boldsymbol{a}_\rho \cdot \boldsymbol{s}_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\omega_p} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \boldsymbol{a}_\rho \cdot \boldsymbol{s}_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \alpha \int_{\Gamma_1 \cup \Gamma_{fp}} p_p \sqrt{a} \, (z \boldsymbol{s}_p) \cdot \mathbf{n}_p \, d\Gamma \\ &+ \alpha \int_{\Gamma_{fp}} [(p_p \mathbf{n}_p) \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_f] \left[(-\frac{e}{2} \boldsymbol{s}_p) \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_f \right] \sqrt{a} \, d\Gamma - \alpha \int_{\Omega_p} p_p \sqrt{a} \, \mathrm{div}(z \boldsymbol{s}_p) \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega_p} \boldsymbol{f}_p \cdot (z \boldsymbol{s}_p) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ &\int_{\Omega_p} \partial_t \big(c_0 p_p + \alpha \mathrm{div}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p + z \boldsymbol{r}_p) \big) w_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega_p} \mathrm{div}(\boldsymbol{u}_p \sqrt{a}) w_p \, d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega_p} g w_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}, \\ &\frac{\mu_p}{\kappa} \int_{\Omega_p} \boldsymbol{u}_p \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_p \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Gamma_{fp}} p_p \, \boldsymbol{v}_p \cdot \mathbf{n}_p \sqrt{a} \, d\Gamma - \int_{\Omega_p} p_p \mathrm{div}(\boldsymbol{v}_p \sqrt{a}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} = 0. \end{split}$$

Adding the all four equations and applying the interface conditions, the balance of the normal components of stress (3.14) and BJS condition (3.16), the weak form of the Biot-

3.3. Weak formulation and Analysis

Naghdi becomes

$$-\int_{\omega_{p}} \partial_{\rho} \left[\left[n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p}) \boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p}) \partial_{\sigma} \boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p}) \boldsymbol{a}_{3} \right] \sqrt{a} \right] \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \int_{\omega_{p}} m_{|\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p}) \boldsymbol{a}_{\rho} \cdot \boldsymbol{s}_{p} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ + \int_{\omega_{p}} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p}) \boldsymbol{a}_{\rho} \cdot \boldsymbol{s}_{p} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \alpha \int_{\Gamma_{p}^{1}} p_{p} \sqrt{a} \left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} + z \boldsymbol{s}_{p} \right) \cdot \mathbf{n}_{p} \, d\Gamma - \alpha \int_{\Omega_{p}} p_{p} \sqrt{a} \, \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} + z \boldsymbol{s}_{p}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ + \int_{\Omega_{p}} \partial_{t} \left(c_{0} p_{p} + \alpha \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p} + z \boldsymbol{r}_{p}) \right) w_{p} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega_{p}} \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}_{p} \sqrt{a}) w_{p} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ + \frac{\mu_{p}}{\kappa} \int_{\Omega_{p}} \boldsymbol{u}_{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_{p} \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega_{p}} p_{p} \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v}_{p} \sqrt{a}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Gamma_{fp}} p_{p} \sqrt{a} \left[\alpha(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} - \frac{e}{2} \boldsymbol{s}_{p}) + \boldsymbol{v}_{p} \right] \cdot \mathbf{n}_{p} \, d\Gamma \\ - \int_{\Gamma_{fp}} \mu_{f} \alpha_{BJS} \sqrt{\kappa^{-1}} \left(\left[\boldsymbol{u}_{f} - \alpha(\partial_{t} \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p} - \frac{e}{2} \partial_{t} \boldsymbol{r}_{p}) \right] \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_{f} \right) \left(\alpha(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} - \frac{e}{2} \boldsymbol{s}_{p}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_{f} \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}. \quad (3.17)$$

• Using the boundary conditions (3.11b)-(3.11c) and the definitions of $n^{\rho\sigma}$, $m^{\rho\sigma}$ and t^{ρ} , we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\omega} &-\partial_{\rho} (\left[n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}\right]\sqrt{a}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \int_{\omega} m_{|\sigma}^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\boldsymbol{a}_{\rho} \cdot \boldsymbol{s}_{p}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ \int_{\omega} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\boldsymbol{a}_{\rho} \cdot \boldsymbol{s}_{p}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \alpha \int_{\Gamma_{p}^{1}} p_{p}\sqrt{a} \, (\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} + z\boldsymbol{s}_{p}) \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_{p} \, d\Gamma \\ &= \int_{\omega} (\left[n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} + m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} + t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\boldsymbol{a}_{3}\right]\sqrt{a}) \cdot \partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ \int_{\omega} m^{\sigma\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})s_{\sigma|\rho}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\omega} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})s_{\rho}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \int_{\omega} n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p})\boldsymbol{a}_{\sigma} \cdot \partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\omega} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})(\partial_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{a}_{3} \cdot \partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} + s_{\sigma|\rho}) \cdot \partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ \int_{\omega} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})(\boldsymbol{a}_{3} \cdot \partial_{\rho}\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} + s_{\rho})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \int_{\omega} n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p})\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}) \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\omega} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\omega} t^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\delta_{\rho3}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \int_{\omega} n^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p})\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}) \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\omega} m^{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\omega} t^{\beta}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \int_{\omega} e^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \left[\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p})\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}) + \frac{e^{2}}{12}\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p})\right]\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ 4\mu_{p}\int_{\omega} e^{\alpha\beta\delta}\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}. \end{split}$$
Then (3.18) becomes

$$\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \left[\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_p) + \frac{e^2}{12} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_p, \boldsymbol{s}_p) \right] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ + 4\mu_p \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_p, \boldsymbol{s}_p) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \alpha \int_{\Omega_p} p_p \sqrt{a} \, \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_p + z \boldsymbol{s}_p) \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ + \int_{\Omega_p} \partial_t \left(c_0 p_p + \alpha \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p + z \boldsymbol{r}_p) \right) w_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega_p} \operatorname{div} \, (\boldsymbol{u}_p \sqrt{a}) w_p \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{\mu_p}{\kappa} \int_{\Omega_p} \boldsymbol{u}_p \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_p \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ - \int_{\Omega_p} p_p \operatorname{div} \, (\boldsymbol{v}_p \sqrt{a}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Gamma_{fp}} p_p \sqrt{a} \, \left[\alpha(\boldsymbol{\xi}_p - \frac{e}{2} \boldsymbol{s}_p) + \boldsymbol{v}_p \right] \cdot \mathbf{n}_p \, d\Gamma \\ - \int_{\Gamma_{fp}} \mu_f \alpha_{BJS} \sqrt{\kappa^{-1}} \left(\left[\boldsymbol{u}_f - \alpha(\partial_t \boldsymbol{\eta}_p - \frac{e}{2} \partial_t \boldsymbol{r}_p) \right] \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_f \right) \left(\alpha(\boldsymbol{\xi}_p - \frac{e}{2} \boldsymbol{s}_p) \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_f \right) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ = \int_{\Omega_p} \boldsymbol{f}_p \cdot (\boldsymbol{\xi}_p + z \boldsymbol{s}_p) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega_p} g w_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}. \tag{3.18}$$

• Following, the weak form of the Stokes system reads as follow: Given $t \in (0, T]$, find $(\boldsymbol{u}_f(t), p_f(t))$ in $\mathcal{V}_f \times \mathcal{W}_f$ for all (\boldsymbol{v}_f, w_f) in $\mathcal{V}_f \times \mathcal{W}_f$.

$$\begin{split} -\int_{\widetilde{\Gamma}_{fp}} \boldsymbol{v}_f \cdot (\boldsymbol{\sigma_f} \mathbf{n}_f) \, d\widetilde{\Gamma} &- \int_{\widetilde{\Gamma}_{fp}} (\boldsymbol{v}_f \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_f) [(\boldsymbol{\sigma_f} \mathbf{n}_f) \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_f] \, d\widetilde{\Gamma} - \int_{\Gamma_f^{in} \cup \Gamma_f^{out}} \boldsymbol{v}_f \cdot (\boldsymbol{\sigma_f} \mathbf{n}_f) \, d\Gamma \\ &- \int_{\Omega_f} p_f \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v}_f \, d\boldsymbol{X} + 2\mu_f \int_{\Omega_f} D(\boldsymbol{u}_f) : D(\boldsymbol{v}_f) \, dX = \int_{\Omega_f} \boldsymbol{f}_f \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_f \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ \int_{\Omega_f} \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}_f \, w_f \, d\boldsymbol{X} = 0. \end{split}$$

Applying the domain transposition (3.5) to the integrations on $\widetilde{\Gamma}_{fp}$, using the boundary conditions (3.10) of $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{f} \mathbf{n}_{f}$ on $\Gamma_{f}^{in} \cup \Gamma_{f}^{out}$ and the interface condition (3.14) and BJS (3.16), then adding two equations, one have

$$-\int_{\Omega_{f}} p_{f} \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v}_{f} d\boldsymbol{X} + 2\mu_{f} \int_{\Omega_{f}} D(\boldsymbol{u}_{f}) : D(\boldsymbol{v}_{f}) d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega_{f}} \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}_{f} w_{f} d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Gamma_{fp}} p_{p}(\boldsymbol{v}_{f} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{f}) \sqrt{a} d\Gamma$$
$$+ \int_{\Gamma_{fp}} \mu_{f} \alpha_{BJS} \sqrt{\kappa^{-1}} \left(\left[\boldsymbol{u}_{f} - \alpha(\partial_{t} \boldsymbol{u}_{p} - \frac{e}{2} \partial_{t} \boldsymbol{r}_{p}) \right] \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_{f} \right) (\boldsymbol{v}_{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_{f}) \sqrt{a} d\Gamma$$
$$= \int_{\Omega_{f}} \boldsymbol{f}_{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_{f} d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Gamma_{f}^{in}} (\boldsymbol{v}_{f} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{f}) p_{in}(t) d\Gamma. \qquad (3.19)$$

• Finally, we write the weak formulation of Stokes-Biot-Naghdi system by adding together equations (3.18) and (3.19): For $t \in (0,T]$, find $\boldsymbol{\eta}_p(t) \in \mathcal{X}_p$, $\boldsymbol{r}_p(t) \in \mathcal{S}_p$, $\boldsymbol{u}_p(t) \in \mathcal{V}_p$,

3.3. Weak formulation and Analysis

$$p_{p}(t) \in \mathcal{W}_{p}, \mathbf{u}_{f}(t) \in \mathcal{V}_{f} \text{ and } p_{f}(t) \in \mathcal{W}_{f}$$

$$\int_{\omega}^{\infty} e^{\alpha^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma}} \Big[\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p})\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}) + \frac{e^{2}}{12} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p})\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p}) \Big] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$+ 4\mu_{p} \int_{\omega}^{\infty} e^{\alpha^{\alpha\beta}\delta_{\alpha3}}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p})\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \alpha \int_{\Omega_{p}}^{\infty} p_{p}\sqrt{a} \, \mathrm{div}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} + z\boldsymbol{s}_{p}) \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$+ \int_{\Omega_{p}}^{\infty} \partial_{t}(c_{0}p_{p} + \alpha\mathrm{div}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p} + z\boldsymbol{r}_{p}))w_{p}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega_{p}}^{\infty}\mathrm{div}(\boldsymbol{u}_{p}\sqrt{a})w_{p} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{\mu_{p}}{\kappa} \int_{\Omega_{p}}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{u}_{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_{p} \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$- \int_{\Omega_{p}}^{\infty} p_{p}\mathrm{div}(\boldsymbol{v}_{p}\sqrt{a}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega_{f}}^{\infty} p_{f} \, \mathrm{div} \, \boldsymbol{v}_{f} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + 2\mu_{f} \int_{\Omega_{f}}^{\infty} D(\boldsymbol{u}_{f}) : D(\boldsymbol{v}_{f}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega_{f}}^{\infty}\mathrm{div} \, \boldsymbol{u}_{f} \, w_{f} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$+ \int_{\Gamma_{fp}}^{\infty} \mu_{f}\alpha_{BJS}\sqrt{\kappa^{-1}}([\boldsymbol{u}_{f} - \alpha(\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p} - \frac{e}{2}\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{r}_{p})] \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_{f}) \left([\boldsymbol{v}_{f} - \alpha(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} - \frac{e}{2}\boldsymbol{s}_{p})] \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_{f})\sqrt{a} \, d\Gamma$$

$$+ \int_{\Gamma_{fp}}^{\infty} p_{p}\sqrt{a} \, (\boldsymbol{v}_{f} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{f} + [\alpha(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} - \frac{e}{2}\boldsymbol{s}_{p}) + \boldsymbol{v}_{p}] \cdot \mathbf{n}_{p}) \, d\Gamma = \int_{\Omega_{p}}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{f}_{p} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} + z\boldsymbol{s}_{p})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X}$$

$$+ \int_{\Omega_{p}}^{\infty} gw_{p}\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega_{f}}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{f}_{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_{f} \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Gamma_{f}^{in}}^{in} (\boldsymbol{v}_{f} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{f})p_{in}(t) \, d\Gamma$$

$$(3.20)$$
for all $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} \in \mathcal{X}_{p}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p} \in \mathcal{S}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p} \in \mathcal{V}_{p}, w_{p} \in \mathcal{W}_{p}, \boldsymbol{v}_{f} \in \mathcal{V}_{f}, w_{f} \in \mathcal{W}_{f}.$

• We consider the interface terms

$$I_{\Gamma_{fp}} = a_{BJS} \big(\boldsymbol{u}_f, \partial_t \boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \partial_t \boldsymbol{r}_p; \boldsymbol{v}_f, \boldsymbol{\xi}_p, \boldsymbol{s}_p \big) + b_{\Gamma} \big(\boldsymbol{\xi}_p, \boldsymbol{s}_p, \boldsymbol{v}_f, \boldsymbol{v}_p; p_p \big),$$
(3.21)

where

$$\begin{aligned} a_{BJS}(\boldsymbol{u}_{f},\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{r}_{p};\boldsymbol{v}_{f},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p}) &= \\ \int_{\Gamma_{fp}} \mu_{f}\alpha_{BJS}\sqrt{\kappa^{-1}} \Big[\big(\boldsymbol{u}_{f} - \alpha(\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p} - \frac{e}{2}\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{r})\big) \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_{f} \Big] \Big[\big(\boldsymbol{v}_{f} - \alpha(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} - \frac{e}{2}\boldsymbol{s}_{p})\big) \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_{f} \Big] \sqrt{a} \, d\Gamma, \\ b_{\Gamma}\big(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p},\boldsymbol{v}_{f},\boldsymbol{v}_{p};p_{p}\big) &= \big(\boldsymbol{v}_{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_{f} + \alpha(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} - \frac{e}{2}\boldsymbol{s}_{p}) \cdot \mathbf{n}_{p} + \boldsymbol{v}_{p} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{p};p_{p}\sqrt{a}\big)_{\Gamma_{fp}}. \end{aligned}$$

Using the interface condition for balance of the normal components of stress (3.14), we set

$$\lambda = -(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_f \mathbf{n}_f) \cdot \mathbf{n}_f = p_p; \quad \text{on } \Gamma_{fp} \times (0, T],$$
(3.22)

which will be used as a Lagrange multiplier to impose the mass conservation interface condition (3.13). Then, $I_{\Gamma_{fp}}$ becomes

$$I_{\Gamma_{fp}} = a_{BJS} \big(\boldsymbol{u}_f, \partial_t \boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \partial_t \boldsymbol{r}_p; \boldsymbol{v}_f, \boldsymbol{\xi}_p, \boldsymbol{s}_p \big) + b_{\Gamma} \big(\boldsymbol{\xi}_p, \boldsymbol{s}_p, \boldsymbol{v}_f, \boldsymbol{v}_p; \lambda \big).$$
(3.23)

For well-posedness of b_{Γ} , we need that $\lambda \in \Lambda = (\mathcal{V}_p \cdot \mathbf{n}_p)'$. Here the space $\mathcal{V}_p \cdot \mathbf{n}_p$ is defined by

$$\mathcal{V}_p \cdot \mathbf{n}_p = \{ \boldsymbol{v}_p \cdot \mathbf{n}_p; \, \boldsymbol{v}_p \in \mathcal{V}_p \}.$$
(3.24)

According to the normal trace theorem, since $\boldsymbol{v}_p \in \mathcal{V}_p \subset H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega_p)$, then $\boldsymbol{v}_p \cdot \mathbf{n}_p \in H^{-1/2}(\partial \Omega_p)$. Moreover, since $\boldsymbol{v}_p \cdot \mathbf{n}_p = 0$ on Γ_p^1 and $\operatorname{dist}(\Gamma_p^0, \Gamma_{fp}) \geq s > 0$, then $\boldsymbol{v}_p \cdot \mathbf{n}_p \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{fp})$ (see [46]). Then we take $\Lambda = H^{1/2}(\Gamma_{fp})$.

• The Lagrange multiplier variational formulation of Stokes/Biot-Naghdi couple is: For $t \in (0,T]$, find $\boldsymbol{\eta}_p(t) \in \mathcal{X}_p$, $\boldsymbol{r}_p(t) \in \mathcal{S}_p$, $p_p(t) \in \mathcal{W}_p$, $\boldsymbol{u}_p(t) \in \mathcal{V}_p$, $\boldsymbol{u}_f(t) \in \mathcal{V}_f$, $p_f(t) \in \mathcal{W}_f$ and $\lambda(t) \in \Lambda$ such that

$$\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} \big[\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p) \gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_p) + \frac{e^2}{12} \chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_p, \boldsymbol{s}_p) \big] \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ + 4\mu_p \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta} \delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \boldsymbol{r}_p) \delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_p, \boldsymbol{s}_p) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \alpha \int_{\Omega_p} p_p \sqrt{a} \, \mathrm{div} \, (\boldsymbol{\xi}_p + z \boldsymbol{s}_p) \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ + \int_{\Omega_p} \partial_t \big(c_0 p_p + \alpha \mathrm{div}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_p + z \boldsymbol{r}_p) \big) w_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega_p} \mathrm{div}(\boldsymbol{u}_p \sqrt{a}) w_p \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \frac{\mu_p}{\kappa} \int_{\Omega_p} \boldsymbol{u}_p \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_p \, \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ - \int_{\Omega_p} p_p \mathrm{div}(\boldsymbol{v}_p \sqrt{a}) \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Omega_f} p_f \, \mathrm{div} \, \boldsymbol{v}_f \, d\boldsymbol{X} + 2\mu_f \int_{\Omega_f} D(\boldsymbol{u}_f) : D(\boldsymbol{v}_f) \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega_f} \mathrm{div} \, \boldsymbol{u}_f \, w_f \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ + a_{BJS} \big(\boldsymbol{u}_f, \partial_t \boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \partial_t \boldsymbol{r}_p; \boldsymbol{v}_f, \boldsymbol{\xi}_p, \boldsymbol{s}_p \big) + b_{\Gamma} \big(\boldsymbol{\xi}_p, \boldsymbol{s}_p, \boldsymbol{v}_f, \boldsymbol{v}_p; \boldsymbol{\lambda} \big) = \int_{\Omega_p} \boldsymbol{f}_p \cdot (\boldsymbol{\xi}_p + z \boldsymbol{s}_p) \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} \\ + \int_{\Omega_p} g w_p \sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{X} + \int_{\Omega_f} \boldsymbol{f}_f \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_f \, d\boldsymbol{X} - \int_{\Gamma_f^{in}} (\boldsymbol{v}_f \cdot \mathbf{n}_f) p_{in}(t) \, d\Gamma, \qquad (3.25a) \\ b_{\Gamma} \big(\partial_t \boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \partial_t \boldsymbol{r}_p, \boldsymbol{u}_f, \boldsymbol{u}_p; \boldsymbol{\mu} \big) = 0, \qquad (3.25b)$$

for all $\boldsymbol{\xi}_p \in \mathcal{X}_p, \, \boldsymbol{s}_p \in \mathcal{S}_p, \, w_p \in \mathcal{W}_p, \, \boldsymbol{v}_p \in \mathcal{V}_p, \, \boldsymbol{v}_f \in \mathcal{V}_f, \, w_f \in \mathcal{W}_f \text{ and } \mu \in \Lambda.$ We write (3.25) in short form,

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}((\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p});(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p})) + \alpha b_{p}(p_{p}\sqrt{a},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}) + \alpha b_{p}(p_{p}\sqrt{a},z\boldsymbol{s}_{p}) + c_{0}(\partial_{t}p_{p},w_{p}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega_{p}} - \alpha b_{p}(w_{p}\sqrt{a},\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p}) \\ - \alpha b_{p}(w_{p}\sqrt{a},z\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{s}_{p}) - b_{p}(w_{p},\boldsymbol{u}_{p}\sqrt{a}) + a_{p}(\boldsymbol{u}_{p},\boldsymbol{v}_{p}) + b_{p}(p_{p},\boldsymbol{v}_{p}\sqrt{a}) + b_{f}(p_{f},\boldsymbol{v}_{f}) + a_{f}(\boldsymbol{u}_{f},\boldsymbol{v}_{f}) \\ - b_{f}(w_{f},\boldsymbol{u}_{f}) + b_{\Gamma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p},\boldsymbol{v}_{f},\boldsymbol{v}_{p};\boldsymbol{\lambda}) + a_{BJS}(\boldsymbol{u}_{f},\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{r}_{p};\boldsymbol{v}_{f},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p}) = (g\sqrt{a},w_{p})_{\Omega_{p}} \\ + (\boldsymbol{f}_{p},(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}+z\boldsymbol{s}_{p})\sqrt{a})_{\Omega_{p}} + (\boldsymbol{f}_{f},\boldsymbol{v}_{f})_{\Omega_{f}} + b_{\Gamma in}(\boldsymbol{v}_{f},p_{in}) \quad (3.26a) \\ b_{\Gamma}(\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{r}_{p},\boldsymbol{u}_{f},\boldsymbol{u}_{p};\boldsymbol{\mu}) = 0. \quad (3.26b)$$

 $b_{\Gamma}(\partial_t \boldsymbol{\eta}_p, \partial_t \boldsymbol{r}_p, \boldsymbol{u}_f, \boldsymbol{u}_p; \mu) = 0.$ where

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}((\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p});(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p})) = \int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} [\gamma_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}_{p})\gamma_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{v}_{p}) + \frac{e^{2}}{12}\chi_{\rho\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\chi_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p})]\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x}, \\ + 4\mu_{p}\int_{\omega} e \, a^{\alpha\beta}\delta_{\alpha3}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p},\boldsymbol{r}_{p})\delta_{\beta3}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p},\boldsymbol{s}_{p})\sqrt{a} \, d\boldsymbol{x},$$

$$\begin{split} b_p(p_p, \boldsymbol{\xi}_p) &= -(p_p, \operatorname{div} \, \boldsymbol{\xi}_p)_{\Omega_p}, \quad b_f(p_f, \boldsymbol{v}_f) = -(p_f, \operatorname{div} \, \boldsymbol{v}_f)_{\Omega_f}, \\ a_f(\boldsymbol{u}_f, \boldsymbol{v}_f) &= 2\mu_f \big(D(\boldsymbol{u}_f), D(\boldsymbol{v}_f) \big)_{\Omega_f}, \quad a_p(\boldsymbol{u}_p, \boldsymbol{v}_p) = \mu_p \kappa^{-1} (\boldsymbol{u}_p, \boldsymbol{v}_p \sqrt{a})_{\Omega_p} \\ b_{\Gamma^{in}}(\boldsymbol{v}_f, p_{in}) &= \int_{\Gamma^{in}_f} p_{in}(t) \boldsymbol{n}_f \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_f \, d\Gamma. \end{split}$$

In the next section, we construct the semi-discrete formulation of (3.26) and use the DEA theory, the discrete Lagrange multiplier and inf-sup conditions for proceeding its well-posedness.

3.3.2Analysis: Semi-discrete formulation

Let \mathcal{T}_h^f and \mathcal{T}_h^p be shape-regular and quasi-uniform partitions of Ω_f and Ω_p , respectively, both consisting of affine elements with maximal element diameter h. The two partitions may be non-matching at the interface Γ_{fp} . For the discretization of the fluid velocity and pressure we choose finite element spaces $\mathcal{V}_f^h \subset \mathcal{V}_f$ and $\mathcal{W}_f^h \subset \mathcal{W}_f$, which are assumed to be inf-sup stable. For the discretization of the porous medium, we choose $\mathcal{V}_p^h \subset \mathcal{V}_p$ and $\mathcal{W}_p^h \subset \mathcal{W}_p$ to be any of well-known inf-sup stable mixed finite element spaces. The global spaces are

$$\boldsymbol{V}^{h} = \{\boldsymbol{v}_{h} = (\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}) \in \mathcal{V}_{f}^{h} \times \mathcal{V}_{p}^{h}\} \text{ and } W^{h} = \{w_{h} = (w_{f,h}, w_{p,h}) \in \mathcal{W}_{p}^{h} \times \mathcal{W}_{f}^{h}\}.$$
 (3.27)

To approximate the structure displacement, we make use of a conforming Lagrange finite element spaces $\mathcal{X}_p^h \subset \mathcal{X}_p$ and $\mathcal{S}_p^h \subset \mathcal{S}_p$. We set also $\mathbf{X}_p^h = \mathcal{X}_p^h \times \mathcal{S}_p^h$. Note that the finite element spaces $\mathcal{V}_{f,h}$, $\mathcal{V}_{p,h}$, $\mathcal{X}_{p,h}$ and $\mathcal{S}_{p,h}$ satisfy the homogeneous boundary conditions on external boundaries (3.11). For the discrete Lagrange multiplier space we take

$$\Lambda^h = \mathcal{V}_{p,h} \cdot \mathbf{n}_p |_{\Gamma_{fp}}.$$
(3.28)

Therefore, the semi-discrete continuous-in-time coupled problem is: Given $p_{p,h}(0)$, for $t \in (0,T]$, find $\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}(t) \in \mathcal{X}_p^h, \, \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}(t) \in \mathcal{S}_p^h, \, \boldsymbol{u}_{p,h}(t) \in \mathcal{V}_p^h, \, p_{p,h}(t) \in \mathcal{W}_p^h, \, \boldsymbol{u}_{f,h}(t) \in \mathcal{V}_f^h, \, p_{f,h} \in \mathcal{W}_f^h$ and $\lambda_h(t) \in \Gamma^h$ for all $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h} \in \mathcal{X}_p^h, \, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h} \in \mathcal{S}_p^h, \, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h} \in \mathcal{V}_p^h, \, w_{p,h} \in \mathcal{W}_p^h, \, \boldsymbol{v}_f^h \in \mathcal{V}_f^h, \, w_{f,h} \in \mathcal{W}_f^h$ and $\mu_h \in \Gamma^h$

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}((\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{r}_{p,h});(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})) + \alpha b_{p}(p_{p,h}\sqrt{a},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}) + \alpha b_{p}(p_{p,h}\sqrt{a},z\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h}) + c_{0}(\partial_{t}p_{p,h},w_{p,h}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega_{p}} \\ - \alpha b_{p}(w_{p,h}\sqrt{a},\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}) - \alpha b_{p}(w_{p,h}\sqrt{a},z\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}) - b_{p}(w_{p,h},\boldsymbol{u}_{p,h}\sqrt{a}) + a_{p}(\boldsymbol{u}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}) \\ + b_{p}(p_{p,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}\sqrt{a}) + b_{f}(p_{f,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}) + a_{f}(\boldsymbol{u}_{f,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}) - b_{f}(w_{f,h},\boldsymbol{u}_{f,h}) + b_{\Gamma}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h};\lambda_{h}) \\ + a_{BJS}(\boldsymbol{u}_{f,h},\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h},\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{r}_{p,h};\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h}) = (g\sqrt{a},w_{p,h})_{\Omega_{p}} + (\boldsymbol{f}_{p},(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}+z\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})\sqrt{a})_{\Omega_{p}} \\ + (\boldsymbol{f}_{f},\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h})_{\Omega_{f}} + b_{\Gamma^{in}}(\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h},p_{in}), \quad (3.29a) \\ b_{\Gamma}(\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h},\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{r}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{u}_{f,h},\boldsymbol{u}_{p,h};\boldsymbol{\mu}_{h}) = 0. \quad (3.29b)$$

 $b_{\Gamma}(\partial_t \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, \partial_t \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{u}_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{u}_{p,h}; \mu_h) = 0.$

We state the main result of this chapter in the following theorem,

Theorem 13 For $\boldsymbol{f}_f \in L^{\infty}(0,T;(\mathcal{V}_f^h)'), \, \boldsymbol{f}_p \in L^{\infty}(0,T;(\mathcal{X}_p^h)'), \, g \in L^{\infty}(0,T;(\mathcal{W}_p^h)') \text{ and } p_{p,h}(0) \in \mathcal{W}_p^h, \text{ there}$ exists a unique solution $(\boldsymbol{u}_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{u}_{p,h}, p_{f,h}, p_{p,h}, \lambda_h)$ in $L^{\infty}(0, T; \mathcal{V}_f^h) \times W^{1,\infty}(0, T; \mathcal{X}_p^h) \times L^{\infty}(0, T; \mathcal{V}_p^h) \times L^{\infty}(0, T; \mathcal{W}_f^h) \times W^{1,\infty}(0, T; \mathcal{W}_p^h) \times L^{\infty}(0, T; \mathcal{N}_p^h)$ of the weak formulation (3.29).

For proving Theorem 13, we firstly derive the existence by writing (3.29) in matrix form and using the DAE theory (see Lemma 39). We then prove the uniqueness by the discrete inf-sup condition (see Lemma 43).

More detailed, let $\{\phi_{\eta_p,i}\}$, $\{\phi_{r_p,i}\}$, $\{\phi_{u_p,i}\}$, $\{\phi_{u_f,i}\}$, $\{\phi_{p_f,i}\}$ and $\{\phi_{\lambda,i}\}$ be bases of \mathcal{X}_p^h , \mathcal{S}_p^h , \mathcal{V}_p^h , \mathcal{W}_p^h , \mathcal{W}_f^h , \mathcal{W}_f^h and Λ^h . We define the matrices A_{η_p} , A_{r_p} , $A_{u_f}^{BJS}$, $A_{\eta_p}^{BJS}$, $A_{u_f}^{BJS}$, $A_{u_f}^{BJS}$, $A_{u_f}^{BJS}$, B_{η_p} , B_{r_p} , B_{u_p} , $B_{\eta_p,\Gamma}$, $B_{u_p,\Gamma}$, F_{η_p} , F_{r_p} , F_{u_f} , G_{p_p} , $B_{\Gamma^{in}}$ as follow

$$\begin{split} A_{\eta_p} &= \mathcal{A}_1^N \left[(\phi_{\eta_p,j}, 0); (\phi_{\eta_p,i}, \phi_{r_p,i}) \right], A_{r_p} = \mathcal{A}_1^N \left[(0, \phi_{r_p,j}); (\phi_{\eta_p,i}, \phi_{r_p,i}) \right], \\ A_{u_p} &= a_p (\phi_{u_p,j}, \phi_{u_p,i}), A_{u_f} = a_f (\phi_{u_f,j}; \phi_{u_f,i}) \\ A_{u_f}^{BJS} &= a_{BJS} (\phi_{u_f,j}, 0, 0; \phi_{u_f,i}, \phi_{u_p,i}, \phi_{r_p,i}), \\ A_{\eta_p}^{BJS} &= a_{BJS} (0, \phi_{\eta_p,j}, 0; \phi_{u_f,i}, \phi_{\eta_p,i}, \phi_{r_p,i}), \\ A_{r_p}^{BJS} &= a_{BJS} (0, 0, \phi_{r_p,j}; \phi_{u_f,i}, \phi_{\eta_p,i}, \phi_{r_p,i}), \\ B_{u_f} &= b_f (\phi_{p_f,j}; \phi_{u_f,i}), B_{\eta_p} = b_p (\phi_{p_p,j}, \phi_{\eta_p,i}), \\ B_{u_f} &= b_p (\phi_{p_p,j}, z\phi_{r_p,i}), B_{u_p} = b_p (\phi_{p_p,j}, \phi_{u_p,j}\sqrt{a}), \\ B_{u_f,\Gamma} &= b_{\Gamma} (\phi_{u_f,j}, 0, 0, 0; \phi_{\lambda,i}), B_{\eta_p,\Gamma} = b_{\Gamma} (0, \phi, \phi_{u_p,j}; \phi_{\lambda,i}), \\ B_{r_p,\Gamma} &= b_{\Gamma} (0, 0, \phi_{r_p,j}, 0; \phi_{\lambda,i}), B_{u_p,\Gamma} = b_{\Gamma} (0, 0, 0, \phi_{u_p,j}; \phi_{\lambda,i}), \\ G_p &= (g\sqrt{a}; \phi_{p_p,i})_{\Omega_p}, F_p = (f_p\sqrt{a}, \phi_{\eta_p,i} + z\phi_{r_p,i})_{\Omega_p}, \\ F_{u_f} &= (f_f\sqrt{a}, \phi_{u_f,i})_{\Omega_f}, B_{\Gamma^{in}} = (p_{in}, \phi_{u_f,i}). \end{split}$$

Taking in (3.26a) - (3.26b)

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{u}_{f}(t, \boldsymbol{x}) &= \sum_{i} u_{f,i}(t) \phi_{\boldsymbol{u}_{p},i}; \ \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p}(t, \boldsymbol{x}) = \sum_{i} \eta_{p,i}(t) \phi_{\eta_{p},i}; \ \boldsymbol{r}_{p}(t, \boldsymbol{x}) = \sum_{i} r_{p,i}(t) \phi_{\boldsymbol{r}_{p},i}; \\ p_{f}(t, \boldsymbol{x}) &= \sum_{i} p_{f,i}(t) \phi_{p_{f},i}; \ p_{p}(t, \boldsymbol{x}) = \sum_{i} p_{p,i}(t) \phi_{p_{p},i}; \ \lambda(t, \boldsymbol{x}) = \sum_{i} \lambda_{i}(t) \phi_{\lambda,i}; \\ \boldsymbol{u}_{p}(t, \boldsymbol{x}) &= \sum_{i} u_{p,i}(t) \phi_{u_{p},i}, \end{aligned}$$

with time-dependent coefficients $\overline{\boldsymbol{u}}_f$, $\overline{\boldsymbol{u}}_p$, $\overline{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_p$, $\overline{\boldsymbol{r}}_p$, \overline{p}_f , \overline{p}_p , $\overline{\lambda}$, we get the matrix-vector system of (3.26):

$$\begin{split} A_{\eta_p} \, \overline{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_p + A_{r_p} \, \overline{\boldsymbol{r}}_p + \alpha (B_{\eta_p}^T + B_{r_p}^T) \, \overline{p}_p + c_0 M \, \partial_t \overline{p}_p - \alpha B_{\eta_p} \, \partial_t \overline{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_p - \alpha B_{r_p} \, \partial_t \overline{\boldsymbol{r}}_p - B_{u_p} \, \overline{\boldsymbol{u}}_p \\ &+ A_{u_p} \overline{\boldsymbol{u}}_p + B_{u_p}^T \overline{p}_p + B_{u_f}^T \, \overline{p}_f + A_{u_f} \, \overline{\boldsymbol{u}}_f - B_{u_f} \, \overline{\boldsymbol{u}}_f + (B_{u_f,\Gamma}^T + B_{\eta_p,\Gamma}^T + B_{r_p,\Gamma}^T + B_{u_p,\Gamma}^T) \, \lambda \\ &+ A_{u_f}^{BJS} \, \overline{\boldsymbol{u}}_f + A_{u_p}^{BJS} \, \partial_t \overline{\boldsymbol{u}}_p + A_{r_p}^{BJS} \, \partial_t \overline{\boldsymbol{r}}_p = G_p + F_p + F_{u_f} + B_{\Gamma^{in}}, \\ B_{u_f,\Gamma} \, \overline{\boldsymbol{u}}_f + B_{\eta_p,\Gamma} \, \partial_t \overline{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_p + B_{r_p,\Gamma} \, \partial_t \overline{\boldsymbol{r}}_p + B_{u_p,\Gamma} \, \partial_t \overline{\boldsymbol{u}}_p = 0. \end{split}$$

Therefore, the above weak form can be written in the matrix form

$$EX'(t) + HX(t) = L(t)$$
 (3.30)

-

0

where

The theory of DAEs say that, if the matrix $s\mathbf{E}+\mathbf{H}$ is nonsingular for some $s \neq 0$, the equation (3.30) has a solution. So the idea here is to prove that $s\mathbf{E}+\mathbf{H}$ is nonsingular when s=1or $\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{H}$ is nonsingular ou invertible. To state the desired result, we note that

$$\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{H} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{u_f}^{BJS} + A_{u_f} & 0 & 0 & 0 & B_{u_f}^{\mathrm{T}} & 0 & B_{u_f,\Gamma}^{\mathrm{T}} \\ 0 & A_{\eta_p}^{BJS} + A_{\eta_p} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \alpha B_{\eta_p}^{T} & B_{\eta_p,\Gamma}^{T} \\ 0 & 0 & A_{u_p} & 0 & 0 & B_{u_p}^{T} & B_{u_p,\Gamma}^{T} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & A_{r_p}^{BJS} + A_{r_p} & 0 & \alpha B_{r_p}^{T} & B_{r_p,\Gamma}^{T} \\ -B_{u_f} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\alpha B_{\eta_p} & -B_{u_p} & -\alpha B_{r_p} & 0 & c_0 M & 0 \\ -B_{u_f,\Gamma} & -B_{\eta_p,\Gamma} & -B_{u_p,\Gamma} & -B_{r_p,\Gamma} & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

an be written as a block 2 × 2 matrix $\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{H} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A} & \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \\ -\mathbf{B} & \mathbf{C} \end{bmatrix}$, where

It c $\begin{bmatrix} -\mathbf{B} & \mathbf{C} \end{bmatrix}$

$$\mathbf{A} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{u_f}^{BJS} + A_{u_f} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & A_{\eta_p}^{BJS} + A_{\eta_p} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & A_{u_p} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & A_{r_p}^{BJS} + A_{r_p} \end{bmatrix}, \\ \mathbf{B} = \begin{bmatrix} B_{u_f} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha B_{\eta_p} & B_{u_p} & \alpha B_{r_p} \\ B_{u_f,\Gamma} & B_{\eta_p,\Gamma} & B_{u_p,\Gamma} & B_{r_p,\Gamma} \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathbf{C} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & c_0 M & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Subsequently, we derive our desired results by the theory of DEAs.

Lemma 39

If **A** and **C** are positive semi-definite and $\ker(\mathbf{A}) \cap \ker(\mathbf{B}) = \ker(\mathbf{C}) \cap \ker(\mathbf{B}^T) = \{0\}$, then $\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{H}$ is invertible.

Proof. The proof is inspired by the Son-Young Yi's work [91] and the Horn-Johnson's book (page 431,[52]). For convenience, we remind here some main points. Let $\mathbf{U} = (\mathbf{U}_1, \mathbf{U}_2)^{\mathrm{T}}$ and suppose that $(\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{H})\mathbf{U} = 0$. This follows

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{A}\mathbf{U}_1 + \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{U}_2 = 0, \\ -\mathbf{B}\mathbf{U}_1 + \mathbf{C}\mathbf{U}_2 = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.31)

Hence, we obtain that $\mathbf{U}_1^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{A} \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{U}_1^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{U}_2 = \mathbf{U}_1^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{A} \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{U}_2^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{C} \mathbf{y} = 0$. Since \mathbf{A} and \mathbf{C} are positive semidefinite, we have that if $\mathbf{U}_1^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{A} \mathbf{x} = 0$ and $\mathbf{U}_2^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{C} \mathbf{y} = 0$, then $\mathbf{A}\mathbf{x} = 0$ and $\mathbf{C}\mathbf{x} = 0$ [52] (page 431). Then $\mathbf{U}_1 \in \ker(\mathbf{A})$ and $\mathbf{U}_2 \in \ker(\mathbf{B})$. Combining with (3.31), we get $\mathbf{U}_1 \in \ker(\mathbf{A}) \cap \ker(\mathbf{B}) = \{0\}$ and $\mathbf{U}_2 \in \ker(\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}}) \cap \ker(\mathbf{C}) = \{0\}$, *i.e.*, $\mathbf{U}=\mathbf{0}$ or $\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{H}$ is invertible. \Box

To prove the conditions of Lemma 39, we do not use the matrices **A**, **B** and **C** directly. We will use the bilinear forms that are associated with those matrices. We define then bilinear forms $\phi_A(.,.), \phi_B(.,.)$ and $\phi_C(.,.)$ on $(\mathbf{V}^h \times \mathcal{X}_p^h \times \mathcal{S}_p^h) \times (\mathbf{V}^h \times \mathcal{X}_p^h \times \mathcal{S}_p^h), (\mathbf{V}^h \times \mathcal{X}_p^h \times \mathcal{S}_p^h) \times (\mathbf{W}^h \times \Lambda^h)$ and $(\mathbf{W}^h \times \Lambda^h) \times (\mathbf{W}^h \times \Lambda^h)$, respectively:

$$\begin{split} \phi_A\big((\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}), (\boldsymbol{v}_h, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})\big) =& A_1^N\big[(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}); (\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})\big] + a_p(\boldsymbol{u}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}) + a_f(\boldsymbol{u}_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}) \\ &+ a_{BJS}(\boldsymbol{u}_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}; \boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h}), \\ \phi_B\big((\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}), (w_h, \mu_h)\big) =& b_f(\boldsymbol{u}_{f,h}, w_{f,h}) + b_p(\boldsymbol{u}_{p,h}, w_{p,h}) + \alpha b_p(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, w_{p,h}) \\ &+ b_\Gamma(\boldsymbol{u}_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{u}_{p,h}; \mu), \\ \phi_C\big((p_h, \mu_h), (w_h, \lambda_h)\big) =& c_0(p_{p,h}\sqrt{a}; w_{p,h})_{\Omega_p}. \end{split}$$

Note that $\boldsymbol{u}_h = (\boldsymbol{u}_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{u}_{p,h}), \ \boldsymbol{v}_h = (\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}) \in \boldsymbol{V}_h \text{ and } p_h = (p_{f,h}, p_{p,h}), \ w_h = (w_{f,h}, w_{p,h}) \in W_h.$

The first condition in Lemma 39, \mathbf{A} and \mathbf{B} are positive semi-definite matrices, is obtained by the two following lemmas,

$Lemma \ 40$

The bilinear ϕ_A is positive semidefinite, that is, for any $(\boldsymbol{v}_h, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h}) \in \boldsymbol{V}^h \times \mathcal{X}_p^h \times \mathcal{S}_p^h$,

 $\phi_A\big((\boldsymbol{v}_h, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h}), (\boldsymbol{v}_h, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})\big) \ge 0.$ (3.32)

Proof. The assumptions on the fluid viscosity μ_f and the material coefficients κ and μ_p imply that the bilinear forms $A_N^1(\cdot, \cdot)$, $a_f(\cdot, \cdot)$ and $a_p(\cdot, \cdot)$ are coercive. In particular, thanks to Poincaré inequality, there exist positive constants c_N , c_p , c_f such that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{1}^{N} \big((\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p}); (\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p}) \big) &\geq c_{N} \| (\boldsymbol{v}_{p}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p}) \|_{\mathcal{X}_{N}}^{2} & \forall (\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p}) \in \mathcal{X}_{N} = \mathcal{X}_{p} \times \mathcal{S}_{p}, \\ a_{p}(\boldsymbol{v}_{p}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p}) &\geq c_{p} \| \boldsymbol{v}_{p} \|_{\mathcal{V}_{p}}^{2} & \forall \boldsymbol{v}_{p} \in \mathcal{V}_{p}, \\ a_{f}(\boldsymbol{v}_{f}, \boldsymbol{v}_{f}) &\geq c_{f} \| \boldsymbol{v}_{f} \|_{\mathcal{V}_{f}}^{2} & \forall \boldsymbol{v}_{f} \in \mathcal{V}_{f}, \\ a_{BJS}(\boldsymbol{v}_{f}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p}; \boldsymbol{v}_{f}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p}) &\geq \sqrt{\delta} \mu_{f} \alpha_{BJS} \| \kappa^{-1/4} (\boldsymbol{v}_{f} - \alpha(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p} - \frac{e}{2} \boldsymbol{s}_{p})) \|_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{fp})}^{2} \geq 0 \quad (a \geq \delta > 0) \\ & \forall (\boldsymbol{v}_{f}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p}) \in \mathcal{V}_{f} \times \mathcal{X}_{p} \times \mathcal{S}_{p}. \end{aligned}$$

From the above inequalities, we get (3.32). It means that A is a positive semi-definite matrix. \Box

Similarly, we get the same result for \mathbf{C} by the following lemma,

The bilinear ϕ_C is positive semidefinite, that is, for any $(w_h, \lambda_h) \in \mathbf{W}^h \times \Lambda^h$, $\phi_C((w_h, \lambda_h), (w_h, \lambda_h)) \ge 0.$

Proof. The proof is straightforward since $c_0 \ge 0$.

Afterwards, we introduce the kernel spaces of the above bilinear forms. Let

$$\ker(\phi_A) = \left\{ (\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}) \in \boldsymbol{V}^h \times \mathcal{X}_p^h \times \mathcal{S}_p^h : \phi_A ((\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}), (\boldsymbol{v}_h, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})) = 0, \\ \forall (\boldsymbol{v}_h, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h}) \in \boldsymbol{V}^h \times \mathcal{X}_p^h \times \mathcal{S}_p^h \right\}, \\ \ker(\phi_B) = \left\{ (\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}) \in \boldsymbol{V}^h \times \mathcal{X}_p^h \times \mathcal{S}_p^h : \phi_B ((\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}), (w_h, \mu_h)) = 0, \\ \forall (w_h, \mu_h) \in \boldsymbol{W}^h \times \Lambda^h \right\}, \\ \ker(\phi_B^T) = \left\{ (w_h, \mu_h) \in \boldsymbol{W}^h \times \Lambda^h : \phi_B ((\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}), (w_h, \mu_h)) = 0, \\ \forall (\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{\eta}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{r}_{p,h}) \in \boldsymbol{V}^h \times \mathcal{X}_p^h \times \mathcal{S}_p^h \right\}, \\ \ker(\phi_C) = \left\{ (p_h, \mu_h) \in \boldsymbol{W}^h \times \Lambda^h : \phi_C ((p_h, \mu_h), (w_h, \lambda_h)) = 0, \\ \forall (w_h, \mu_h) \in \boldsymbol{W}^h \times \Lambda^h \right\}.$$

We note that $\ker(\phi_A) = \ker(\mathbf{A})$, $\ker(\phi_B) = \ker(\mathbf{B})$, $\ker(\phi_{B^T}) = \ker(\mathbf{B}^T)$ and $\ker(\phi_C) = \ker(\mathbf{C})$. We then show that the second condition in Lemma 39 is satisfied.

Lemma 42

The bilinear forms ϕ_A and ϕ_B satisfy

$$\ker(\phi_A) \cap \ker(\phi_B) = \{0\}.$$

Proof. From the coercivity of $A_1^N[\cdot;\cdot]$, $a_p(\cdot,\cdot)$, $a_f(\cdot,\cdot)$ and the non-negativity of $a_{BJS}(\cdot,\cdot)$ follow that $\ker(\phi_A) = 0$. And we can easily see that $\{0\} \in \ker(\phi_B)$. So we obtain $\ker(\phi_A) \cap \ker(\phi_B) = \{0\}$.

Now for proving that ker(\mathbf{B}^T) ={0}, we state a discrete inf-sup condition, which will be utilized to control the pressure in two region and the Lagrange multiplier. Following [46], we define a semi-norm in Λ^h

$$|\mu_h|_{\Lambda^h}^2 = a_p \big(\boldsymbol{u}_{p,h}^*(\mu_h), \boldsymbol{u}_{p,h}^*(\mu_h) \big)$$

where $(\boldsymbol{u}_{p,h}^*(\mu_h), p_{p,h}^*(\mu_h)) \in \mathcal{V}_p^h \times \mathcal{W}_p^h$ is the mixed finite element solution to the Darcy problem with Direchlet condition μ_h on Γ_{fp} :

$$a_p ig(oldsymbol{u}_{p,h}^*(\mu_h), oldsymbol{v}_{p,h} ig) + b_p (p_{p,h}^*(\mu_h), oldsymbol{v}_{p,h}\sqrt{a}) = - \langle oldsymbol{v}_{p,h} \cdot \mathbf{n}_p, \mu_h
angle_{\Gamma_{fp}} \ \ orall oldsymbol{v}_{p,h} \in \mathcal{V}_p^h, \ b_p ig(w_{p,h}, oldsymbol{u}_{p,h}^*(\mu_h)\sqrt{a} ig) = 0 \ \ orall w_{p,h} \in \mathcal{W}_p^h.$$

We equip Λ^h with the norm $\|\mu_h\|_{\Lambda^h}^2 = \|\mu_h\|_{L^2(\Gamma_{fp})}^2 + |\mu_h|_{\Lambda^h}^2$. This norm can be considered as a discrete version of the $H^{1/2}(\Gamma_{fp})$ -norm [46]. For convenience of notation we define the composite norms

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\boldsymbol{v}_{h}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})\|_{\boldsymbol{V} \times \mathcal{X}_{p} \times \mathcal{S}_{p}}^{2} &= \|\boldsymbol{\tau}_{h}\|_{\boldsymbol{V}}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}\|_{\mathcal{X}_{p}}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{s}_{p}\|_{\mathcal{S}_{p}}^{2}, \\ \|(w_{h}, \mu_{h})\|_{\boldsymbol{W} \times \Lambda^{h}}^{2} &= \|w_{h}\|_{\boldsymbol{W}}^{2} + \|\mu_{h}\|_{\Lambda^{h}}^{2}, \end{aligned}$$

and

Lemma 43

$$b(\boldsymbol{v}_h, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h}; w_h) = b_f(w_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}) + b_p(w_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}) + \alpha b_p(w_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h} + z\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h}),$$

$$b_{\Gamma}(\boldsymbol{v}_h, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h}; \mu_h) = b_{\Gamma}(\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}; \mu_h).$$

With these notations, we proceed the following discrete inf-sup condition.

There exists a constant $\beta > 0$ independent of h such that

$$\inf_{\substack{(w_h,\mu_h)\in W^h\times\Lambda^h(\boldsymbol{v}_h,\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})\in\boldsymbol{V}^h\times\mathcal{X}_p^h\times\mathcal{S}_p^h}} \sup_{\substack{b(\boldsymbol{v}_h,\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h};w_h)+b_{\Gamma}(\boldsymbol{v}_h,\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h};\mu_h)}{\|(\boldsymbol{v}_h,\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})\|_{\boldsymbol{V}\times\mathcal{X}_p\times\mathcal{S}_p}\|(w_h,\mu_h)\|_{W\times\Lambda^h}} \geq \beta.$$
(3.33)

Instead of proving Lemma 43 directly, we introduce the other inf-sup condition because its proof is simpler than (3.33).

 $\begin{array}{c|c}
 Lemma 44 \\
 There exists a constant <math>\beta > 0 \text{ independent of } h \text{ such that} \\
 \underset{(w_h,\mu_h)\in \mathbf{W}^h\times\Lambda^h \mathbf{v}_h\in \mathbf{V}^h}{\text{ sup }} \frac{b_f(w_{f,h}, \mathbf{v}_{f,h}) + b_p(w_{p,h}, \mathbf{v}_{p,h}) + (\mathbf{v}_{f,h}\cdot\mathbf{n}_f + \mathbf{v}_{p,h}\cdot\mathbf{n}_p; \mu_h\sqrt{a})_{\Gamma_{fp}}}{\|\mathbf{v}_h\|_{\mathbf{V}}\|(w_h, \mu_h)\|_{W\times\Lambda^h}} \ge \beta. \quad (3.34)$

3.3. Weak formulation and Analysis

Proof. The proof is based on [46]. Firstly, we define two following spaces

$$\boldsymbol{V}^{h}_{\circ} = \left\{ (\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}) \in \boldsymbol{V}^{h} : \left(\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h} \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_{f} + \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h} \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_{p}; \mu_{h} \sqrt{a} \right)_{\Gamma_{fp}} = 0 \text{ for all } \mu_{h} \text{ in } \Lambda^{h} \right\},$$
(3.35)

$$\boldsymbol{V}_{\circ\circ}^{h} = \left\{ (\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}) \in \boldsymbol{V}^{h} : b_{f}(w_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}) + b_{p}(w_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}) = 0 \text{ for all } w_{h} \text{ in } W^{h} \right\}.$$
(3.36)

Due to the Lemmas 5.5 and 5.6 in [46], there exist two positive constants β_1 and β_2 independent of h such that

$$\inf_{w_h \in W^h} \sup_{\boldsymbol{v}_h \in \boldsymbol{V}^h} \frac{b_f(w_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}) + b_p(w_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h})}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_h\|_{\boldsymbol{V}} \|w_h\|_{W}} \ge \beta_1,$$
(3.37)

$$\inf_{\mu_h \in \Lambda^h} \sup_{\boldsymbol{v}_h \in \boldsymbol{V}^h} \frac{\left(\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h} \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_f + \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h} \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_p; \mu_h \sqrt{a}\right)_{\Gamma_{fp}}}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_h\|_{\boldsymbol{V}} \|\mu_h\|_{\Lambda^h}} \ge \beta_2.$$
(3.38)

Given $(w_h, \mu_h) \in W \times \Lambda^h$, if $w_h \neq 0$, from (3.37) there exists $\boldsymbol{v}_h^{\circ} = (\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}^{\circ}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}^{\circ}) \in \boldsymbol{V}_{\circ}^h$ such that

$$\frac{b_f(w_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}^{\circ}) + b_p(w_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}^{\circ})}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_h^{\circ}\|_{\boldsymbol{V}}} \ge \beta_1 \|w_h\|_{W} > 0,$$
(3.39)

where β_1 independent of w_h . If $\mu_h \neq 0$, from (3.38) there exists $\boldsymbol{v}_h^{\circ\circ} = (\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}^{\circ\circ}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}^{\circ\circ}) \in \boldsymbol{V}_{\circ\circ}^h$ such that

$$\frac{\left(\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}^{\circ\circ}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{f}+\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}^{\circ\circ}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{p};\mu_{h}\sqrt{a}\right)_{\Gamma_{fp}}}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_{h}^{\circ\circ}\|_{\boldsymbol{V}}} \geq \beta_{2}\|\mu_{h}\|_{\Lambda^{h}} > 0.$$
(3.40)

We see that, if $w_h \neq 0$

$$\sup_{\boldsymbol{v}_{h}\in\boldsymbol{V}^{h}} \frac{b_{f}(w_{f,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}) + b_{p}(w_{p,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}) + (\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{f} + \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{p};\mu_{h}\sqrt{a})_{\Gamma_{fp}}}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_{h}\|_{\boldsymbol{V}}}$$

$$\geq \frac{b_{f}(w_{f,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}^{\circ}) + b_{p}(w_{p,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}^{\circ}) + (\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}^{\circ}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{f} + \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}^{\circ}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{p};\mu_{h}\sqrt{a})_{\Gamma_{fp}}}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_{h}^{\circ}\|_{\boldsymbol{V}}}$$

$$= \frac{b_{f}(w_{f,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}^{\circ}) + b_{p}(w_{p,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}^{\circ}) + 0}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_{h}^{\circ}\|_{\boldsymbol{V}}} \geq \beta_{1}\|w_{h}\|_{W} \quad \text{by (3.39).}$$

Similarly, if $\mu_h \neq 0$,

$$\sup_{\boldsymbol{v}_{h}\in\boldsymbol{V}^{h}} \frac{b_{f}(w_{f,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}) + b_{p}(w_{p,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}) + (\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{f} + \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{p};\mu_{h}\sqrt{a})_{\Gamma_{fp}}}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_{h}\|_{\boldsymbol{V}}}$$

$$\geq \frac{b_{f}(w_{f,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}^{\circ\circ}) + b_{p}(w_{p,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}^{\circ\circ}) + (\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}^{\circ\circ}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{f} + \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}^{\circ\circ}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{p};\mu_{h}\sqrt{a})_{\Gamma_{fp}}}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_{h}^{\circ\circ}\|_{\boldsymbol{V}}}$$

$$= \frac{(\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}^{\circ\circ}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{f} + \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}^{\circ\circ}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{p};\mu_{h}\sqrt{a})_{\Gamma_{fp}}}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_{h}^{\circ\circ}\|_{\boldsymbol{V}}} \geq \beta_{2}\|\mu_{h}\|_{\Lambda^{h}} \quad \text{by (3.40).}$$

Then,

$$\sup_{\boldsymbol{v}_{h}\in\boldsymbol{V}^{h}} \frac{b_{f}(w_{f,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}) + b_{p}(w_{p,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}) + (\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{f} + \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_{p};\mu_{h}\sqrt{a})_{\Gamma_{fp}}}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_{h}\|_{\boldsymbol{V}}} \\ \geq \frac{\min\{\beta_{1},\beta_{2}\}}{2}(\|w_{h}\|_{W} + \|\mu_{h}\|_{\Lambda^{h}}) \geq \frac{\min\{\beta_{1},\beta_{2}\}}{2}\|(w_{h},\mu_{h})\|_{W\times\Lambda^{h}}.$$

By choosing $\beta = \frac{\min\{\beta_1, \beta_2\}}{2}$, it can be written as

$$\inf_{(w_h,\mu_h)\in \boldsymbol{W}^h\times\Lambda^h} \sup_{\boldsymbol{v}_h\in \boldsymbol{V}^h} \frac{b_f(w_{f,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}) + b_p(w_{p,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}) + \left(\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_f + \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}_p;\mu_h\sqrt{a}\right)_{\Gamma_{fp}}}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_h\|_{\boldsymbol{V}}\|(w_h,\mu_h)\|_{W\times\Lambda^h}} \geq \beta.$$

We completed the proof of Lemma 44. Subsequently, we use it for obtaining Lemma 43. \Box

Proof. (of Lemma 43): By simply taking $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h} = 0$ and $\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h} = 0$ and from Lemma 44 we obtain the positive constant β satisfying (3.33).

From the result of Lemma 44, we derive the third condition of Lemma 39 below,

Lemma 45 The bilinear forms ϕ_C and ϕ_{B^T} satisfy

$$\ker(\phi_C) \cap \ker(\phi_{B^T}) = \{0\}.$$

Proof. The inf-sup condition (3.33) implies $\ker(\phi_{B^T}) = \{0\}$ and we can easily see that $\{0\} \in \ker(\phi_C)$. Therefore this gives $\ker(\phi_C) \cap \ker(\phi_{B^T}) = \{0\}$.

We obtained completely the conditions in Lemma 44 and the discrete inf-sup condition. It is time to prove our main result (Theorem 13).

Proof. (of Theorem 13) The proof is inspired by Theorem 3.1 of [2].

By the DAE theory [26], if the matrix $s\mathbf{E}+\mathbf{H}$ is nonsingular for some $s \neq 0$ and the initial data is consistent, then the equation (3.30) has a solution. Lemma 42 and 45 guarantee that $s\mathbf{E}+\mathbf{H}$ with s = 1 is invertible.

For proving the uniqueness, we assume that there are two solutions satisfying these equations (3.29) with the same initial conditions. Then their difference $(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{p,h}, \tilde{p}_{f,h}, \tilde{p}_{p,h}, \tilde{\lambda}_h)$ satisfies (3.29) with zero data. By taking

$$(\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{s}_{p,h}, \boldsymbol{v}_{p,h}, w_{f,h}, w_{p,h}, \mu_h) = (\partial_t \widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h}, \partial_t \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h}, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{p,h}, \widetilde{p}_{f,h}, \widetilde{p}_{p,h}, \lambda_h),$$
(3.41)

108

3.3. Weak formulation and Analysis

we obtain the energy equality

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}\big((\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h},\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h});(\partial_{t}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h},\partial_{t}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h})\big) + c_{0}(\partial_{t}\widetilde{p}_{p,h},\widetilde{p}_{p,h}\sqrt{a})_{\Omega_{p}} + a_{p}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{p,h},\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{p,h}) + a_{f}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h},\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h}) \\ + a_{BJS}\big(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h},\partial_{t}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h},\partial_{t}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h};\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h},\partial_{t}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h},\partial_{t}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h}) = 0.$$

Because of
$$\int_{D} \varphi \partial_{t} \varphi = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{t} \|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(D)}^{2}, \text{ we write the energy equality as}$$
$$\frac{1}{2} \partial_{t} [\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N} \left((\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}(t), \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h}(t)); (\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}(t), \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h}(t)) \right) + c_{0} \|\widetilde{p}_{p,h}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2}]$$
$$+ a_{p} (\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{p,h}, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{p,h}) + a_{f} (\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h}, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h}) + |\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h} - \alpha \left(\partial_{t} \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h} - \frac{e}{2} \partial_{t} \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h} \right)|_{a_{BJS}}^{2} = 0.$$
(3.44)

where

$$|\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h} - \alpha \left(\partial_t \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h} - \frac{e}{2} \partial_t \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h}\right)|^2_{a_{BJS}} = a_{BJS} \left(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h}, \partial_t \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}, \partial_t \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h}; \widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h}, \partial_t \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}, \partial_t \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h}\right)$$

Integrating in time over [0, t] for arbitrary $t \in (0, T]$, we get

$$\frac{1}{2} [\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N} ((\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}(t), \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h}(t)); (\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}(t), \widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h}(t))) + c_{0} \|\widetilde{p}_{p,h}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2}]$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} [a_{1}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}) + a_{2}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}) + |\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}| - \alpha(\partial_{1}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}, -\frac{e}{2}\partial_{1}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h})| - |ds - 0|$$

$$(3.45)$$

$$+\int_{0}\left[a_{p}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{p,h},\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{p,h})+a_{f}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h},\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h})+\left|\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h}-\alpha\left(\partial_{t}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}-\frac{e}{2}\partial_{t}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h}\right)\right|_{a_{BJS}}\right]ds=0.$$
(3.46)

Because of the coercivity of bilinear forms and $c_0 \ge 0$, we derive that $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h}(t) = 0$, $\tilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h}(t) = 0$, $\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{p,h} = 0$ and $\tilde{p}_{p,h} = 0$ for all t in [0,T]. From the inf-sup condition (3.33) and (3.29a),

$$\beta \| (\widetilde{p}_h, \lambda_h) \|_{W \times \Lambda^2}$$

$$\leq \sup_{(\boldsymbol{v}_{h},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})\in\boldsymbol{V}^{h}\times\mathcal{X}_{p}^{h}\times\mathcal{S}_{p}^{h}} \frac{b_{f}(\widetilde{p}_{f,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h})+b_{p}(\widetilde{p}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h})+\alpha b_{p}(\widetilde{p}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h}+z\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})+b_{\Gamma}(\boldsymbol{v}_{h},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h};\widetilde{\lambda}_{h})}{\|(\boldsymbol{v}_{h},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})\|_{\boldsymbol{V}\times\mathcal{X}_{p}\times\mathcal{S}_{p}}}$$

$$= \sup_{(\boldsymbol{v}_{h},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})\in\boldsymbol{V}^{h}\times\mathcal{X}_{p}^{h}\times\mathcal{S}_{p}^{h}} \{\left[-\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}((\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h},\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h});(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})\right)-a_{p}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{p,h})-a_{f}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h},\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h})-a_{BJS}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{f,h},\partial_{t}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{p,h},\partial_{t}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{r}}_{p,h};\boldsymbol{v}_{f,h},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})\right]/\|(\boldsymbol{v}_{h},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{p,h},\boldsymbol{s}_{p,h})\|_{\boldsymbol{V}\times\mathcal{X}_{p}\times\mathcal{S}_{p}}\}$$

$$= 0.$$

Hence, we conclude that $\widetilde{p}_{f,h}(t) = 0$, $\widetilde{\lambda}_{p,h}(t) = 0$ for all $t \in (0,T]$. Therefore the solution of (3.29) is unique. We finished the proof of Theorem 13.

Conclusion: In this chapter, we carried out the fluid-structure interaction between incompressible flow and poroelastic shell structure. We used the Stokes equations for the incompressible free fluid and the Biot-Naghdi shell model for the poroelastic shell structure. In process of proving the well-posedness of this model (see Theorem 13), we had trouble imposing the conditions on the interface which are mass conservation, balance of stress and the Beavers-Joseph-Saffman conditions. For the existence, we adopted the theory of differential-algebraic equations (DAEs) (see Lemma 39) and for the uniqueness, we used the semi-discrete Galerkin method and the Lagrange multiplier method.

Chapter 4 Numerical simulations

In this chapter, we propose to simulate numerically the poroelastic shell models studied in the previous chapter. We follow the idea of Chaabane and Rivière [37] for the Biot poroelasticity system. Several approaches have been developed for the Biot poroelasticity system. Let us mention them:

- Implicit approach where the fully coupled system is solved;
- Loosely explicit where the mechanical response is only updated every few time steps;
- Iterative scheme where a set of equations is solved iteratively at every time step until a certain tolerance is reached;
- Sequential method where the system is completely decoupled and no iterations are needed.

In this work, we use the sequential approach based on a discontinuous Galerkin discretization.

4.1 Notation

Let us first introduce some notations. Let \mathcal{T}_h be a shape-regular family of triangulations of ω . For a triangle $E \in \mathcal{T}_h$, let h_E be its diameter and set $h = \max_{E \in \mathcal{T}_h} h_E$. For any subdomain Δ of ω and for $k \geq 0$ we define by $\mathbb{P}_k(\Delta)$ the space of polynomials on Δ with degree $\leq k$. We suppose that the mesh is nondegenerate *i.e.* there exists a constant $\tau > 0$ independent of h, such that

$$\frac{h_E}{\rho_E} \le \tau, \quad \forall E \in \mathcal{T}_h.$$

where h_E is the diameter of the element E and ρ_E is the diameter of the largest ball inside of E. Let $k_1 \ge 1$ and $k_2 \ge 1$ are two integers. We define the following finite element spaces

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{X}^{h} &= \{ \boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{C}^{0}(\Omega)^{d}; \forall E \in \mathcal{T}_{h}, \boldsymbol{v}|_{E} \in \mathbb{P}_{k_{1}}(E)^{d} \}, \quad \boldsymbol{X}^{h}_{0} &= \{ \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{X}^{h}; \boldsymbol{v} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega \}, \\ M^{h} &= \{ q \in \mathcal{C}^{0}(\Omega); \forall E \in \mathcal{T}_{h}, q|_{E} \in \mathbb{P}_{k_{2}}(E) \}, \qquad M^{h}_{0} = \{ q \in M^{h}; q = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega \}. \end{aligned}$$

We endow the spaces \boldsymbol{X}_0^h and M_0^h by the norms:

$$\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{X} = \|\varepsilon(\boldsymbol{v})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}, \ \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{X}_{0}^{h}, \\ \|q\|_{M} = \|\kappa^{1/2} \nabla q\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}, \ \forall q \in M_{0}^{h}.$$

4.2 Validation for the Biot poroelasticity system

In this section, we carry out the validation to the following problem

$$\partial_t (c_0 p + \alpha \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}) - \kappa \operatorname{div} (\nabla p) = f \text{ in } \Omega \times [0, T], \qquad (4.1)$$
$$-\nabla \cdot \sigma(\boldsymbol{u}) + \alpha \nabla p = \boldsymbol{g} \text{ in } \Omega \times [0, T]. \qquad (4.2)$$

The system is completed by the following boundary and initial conditions

We define some bilinear forms:

$$\begin{split} a(p,q) &= (\kappa \nabla p, \nabla q)_{\Omega}, \ \forall p,q \in H_0^1(\Omega), \\ b(\boldsymbol{v},q) &= -\alpha(\boldsymbol{v}, \nabla q)_{\Omega}, \ \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \left(H_0^1(\Omega)\right)^d, \forall q \in H_0^1(\Omega), \\ c(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) &= \left(\sigma(\boldsymbol{u}), \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{v})\right)_{\Omega}, \ \forall \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v} \in H_0^1(\Omega). \end{split}$$

We solve Eqs (4.1)-(4.2) at the discrete times $t_i = i\Delta t, i = 0, 1, \dots, N$ where $\Delta t > 0$ denotes the time step and $t_N = T$. Thus a weak form the Biot poroelasticity system reads as:

$$(P) \begin{cases} \text{Find } (p,u) \in \mathbb{M}_0 \times \boldsymbol{X}_0 \text{ such that:} \\ c_0(p',q)_{\Omega} + a(p,q) + b(\boldsymbol{u}',q) &= (f,\boldsymbol{v})_{\Omega}, \\ b(\boldsymbol{v},q) + c(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) &= (g,q)_{\Omega}, \end{cases} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{X}_0, \\ \forall q \in M_0. \end{cases}$$

4.2.1 The numerical approximation

The weak form above is approximated by a finite element approximation in space and a bacward Euler scheme in time, i.e:

$$(P_h) \begin{cases} \text{Find } (p_h, u_h) \in \text{ such that:} \\ c_0(p'_h, q_h)_{\Omega} + a(p_h, q_h) + b(\boldsymbol{u}'_h, q_h) = (f, \boldsymbol{v}_h)_{\Omega}, & \forall \boldsymbol{v}_h \in \boldsymbol{X}^h_0, \\ b(\boldsymbol{v}_h, q_h) + c(\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{v}_h) &= (g, q_h)_{\Omega}, & \forall q_h \in M^h_0 \end{cases}$$

The well-posedness of the numerical scheme problem (P_h) and the error analysis of the method are proved in [37].

4.2.2 The splitting algorithm

The decoupling approach consists of two step:

- Solve for the pressure p_h^{n+1} in the mass balance equation (4.1) by the time-lagging the displacement.
- Use p_h^{n+1} in the momentum equation (4.2) to solve for the displacement \boldsymbol{u}_h^{n+1} .

The functions p_h^{n+1} and \boldsymbol{u}_h^{n+1} denote the value of the discrete solutions p_h and \boldsymbol{u}_h at time t_{n+1} and similar to f and \boldsymbol{g} , *i.e.* $f^n = f(t_n)$ and $\boldsymbol{g}^n = \boldsymbol{g}(t_n)$.

Following the work of Chaabane and Rivière [37], we introduce the numerical scheme: For $1 \le n \le N-1$, solve the following equations:

Step 1: Given $u_h^n \in X_0^h$ and $u_h^{n-1} \in X_0^h$, find $p_h^{n+1} \in M_0^h$ such that

$$\left(c_0 \frac{p_h^{n+1} - p_h^n}{\Delta t}, q\right)_{\Omega} + a(p_h^{n+1}, q) + b\left(\frac{\boldsymbol{u}_h^n - \boldsymbol{u}_h^{n-1}}{\Delta t}, q\right) = (f^{n+1}, q)_{\Omega} \quad \forall q \in M_0^h.$$
(4.3)

Step 2: Find $\boldsymbol{u}_h^{n+1} \in \boldsymbol{X}_0^h$ such that

$$c(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n+1},\boldsymbol{v}) - b(\boldsymbol{v},p_{h}^{n+1}) + \gamma_{1} \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n+1} - \boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n}}{\Delta t}\right)_{\Omega} - \gamma_{1} \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n} - \boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n-1}}{\Delta t}\right)_{\Omega} = (\boldsymbol{g}^{n+1},\boldsymbol{v})_{\Omega}, \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{X}_{0}^{h}, \quad (4.4)$$

where $\gamma_1 > 0$ is a stabilization parameter.

The issue of approximating the primary variables at the initial time step was addressed in [36] where Chaabane and Rivière showed numerically that by choosing a small initial Δt_{init} , the convergence rates do not deteriorate. We approximate p_h^1 and \boldsymbol{u}_h^1 in two following initial steps: Initial step 1: Find $p_h^1 \in M_0^h$ such that

$$\left(c_0 \frac{p_h^1 - p_h^0}{\Delta t_{init}}, q\right)_{\Omega} + a(p_h^1, q) = (f^1, q)_{\Omega}, \quad \forall q \in M_0^h.$$
(4.5)

Initial step 2: Find $\boldsymbol{u}_h^1 \in \boldsymbol{X}_0^h$ such that

$$c(\boldsymbol{u}_h^1, \boldsymbol{v}) - b(\boldsymbol{v}, p_h^1) = (\boldsymbol{g}^1, \boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{X}_0^h.$$

$$(4.6)$$

4.2.3 Numerical tests

In oder to simulate the numerical approximation, we chose the domain Ω is the unit square $\Omega = (0,1) \times (0,1)$ and $\Gamma = \partial \Omega = [0,1] \times \{0,1\} \cup \{0,1\} \times [0,1]$. The source functions and the exact solutions are given as follows:

$$\begin{split} f(x,y,t) &= 30c_0t^2e^{(x+y)/10} + 0.1\alpha(e^t + 6ty^2) - 0.2\kappa(1+t^3)e^{(x+y)/10},\\ g(x,y,t) &= \left(\alpha(1+t^3)e^{(x+y)/10} - 0.2\mu y e^t, -0.2\mu x t^2 - 1.8y t^2 + \alpha(1+t^3)e^{(x+y)/10}\right)^T,\\ \boldsymbol{u}(x,y,t) &= 0.1\left(e^t(y^3+x), t^2(x^3+y^3)\right)^T, \ p(x,y,t) = 10e^{(x+y)/10}(1+t^3). \end{split}$$

The following parameters $\kappa = 1$, $\alpha = 1$, $c_0 = 1$, $\lambda = 1$, $\mu = 1$, $\gamma = \frac{3\alpha^2}{\kappa}$ and initial time step $\Delta t_{int} = 10^{-6}$ are used. The figures 4.1 present the numerical and exact solution of Biot model.



Figure 4.1: Exact and approximate solution

We also obtain the tables which describes the error between the approximate solution and the exact solution.

Pressure rates when $k_1, k_2 = 1$:					
h	Δt	$ p^N - p_h^N _{L^2(\Omega)}$	Rate	$\ \nabla (p^N - p_h^N)\ _{L^2(\Omega)}$	Rate
1/2	1/2	3.33e - 01		1.68e + 00	
1/4	1/16	1.48e - 01	1.17	6.9e - 01	1.28
1/8	1/32	4e - 02	1.89	1.84e - 01	1.91
1/16	1/128	1e - 02	2	4.68e - 02	1.98
Displacement rates when $k_1, k_2 = 1$:					
h	Δt	$\ oldsymbol{u}^N-oldsymbol{u}_h^N\ _{L^2(\Omega)}$	Rate	$\ abla(oldsymbol{u}^N-oldsymbol{u}_h^N)\ _{L^2(\Omega)}$	Rate
1/2	1/2	1.3e - 02		7.23e - 02	
1/4	1/16	3.47e - 03	1.9	2.46e - 02	1.56
1/8	1/32	9.76e - 04	1.83	6.87e - 03	1.84
1/16	1/128	2.54e - 04	1.94	1.78e - 03	1.95
Pressure rates when $k_1, k_2 = 2$:					
h	Δt	$ p^N - p_h^N _{L^2(\Omega)}$	Rate	$\ \nabla (p^N - p_h^N)\ _{L^2(\Omega)}$	Rate
1/2	1/2	4.29e - 01		1.95e + 00	
1/4	1/16	1.58e - 01	1.44	7.18e - 01	1.44
1/8	1/32	4.08e - 02	1.95	1.86e - 01	1.95
1/16	1/128	1e - 02	2	4.69e - 02	1.99
Displacement rates when $k_1, k_2 = 2$:					
h	Δt	$ p^N - p_h^N _{L^2(\Omega)}$	Rate	$\ \nabla (p^N - p_h^N)\ _{L^2(\Omega)}$	Rate
1/2	1/2	1.65e - 02		9.15e - 02	
1/4	1/16	3.98e - 03	2	2.75e - 02	1.73
1/8	1/32	1e - 03	1.99	7.1e - 03	1.95
/ -	/				

Comment: We vary the time step and mesh size accordingly to compute the order of convergence of the method and report the results in the previous tables. We observe that the method exhibits optimal order of convergence.

4.3 Some simulations of the Biot-Naghdi Model

In this section, we apply the algorithm in the previous section to simulate the Biot-Naghdi model in Theorem 9. For the numerical part, we suppose that p does not depend on z, *i.e.*, $p = p(\boldsymbol{x})$. Hence, we simulate our model on two-dimensional domain ω . Recall that $\partial \omega = \gamma$. Using the same mesh in the previous section, we introduce the discrete space of displacements, rotations and pressures

$$\mathcal{X}_{N}^{h} = \left\{ \left(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s} = (s_{\alpha}) \right) \in C^{0}(\omega, \mathbb{R}^{3}) \times [C^{0}(\omega)]^{2}; \forall E \in \mathcal{E}_{h}, \\ \left(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s} = (s_{\alpha}) \right) \Big|_{E} \in \mathbb{P}_{1}(E, \mathbb{R}^{3}) \times \mathbb{P}_{1}(E)^{2}, \ \boldsymbol{v} = s_{\alpha} = 0 \text{ on } \gamma \right\} \subset \mathcal{X}_{N}, \\ \mathcal{W}_{N}^{h} = \left\{ q \in C^{0}(\omega); \forall E \in \mathcal{E}_{h}, \ q|_{E} \in \mathbb{P}_{1}(E), \ q = 0 \text{ on } \gamma \right\} \subset \mathcal{W}_{N}.$$

Thus the discrete problem reads: Find $(\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{r}_h) \in \mathcal{X}_N^h$ and $p_h \in \mathcal{W}_N^h$ such that

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}[(\boldsymbol{u}_{h},\boldsymbol{r}_{h});(\boldsymbol{v}_{h},\boldsymbol{s}_{h})] - \alpha e(p_{h},\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{v}_{h}\sqrt{a})_{\omega} = e(\boldsymbol{f},\boldsymbol{v}_{h}\sqrt{a})_{\omega}, \ \forall (\boldsymbol{v}_{h},\boldsymbol{s}_{h}) \in \mathcal{X}_{N}^{h}, \quad (4.7a)$$

$$c_0(p'_h, q_h\sqrt{a})_\omega + \alpha(\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{u}'_h, q_h\sqrt{a})_\omega + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \big(\nabla p_h, \nabla q_h\sqrt{a}\big)_\omega = \big(g, q_h\sqrt{a}\big)_\omega, \ \forall q_h \in \mathcal{W}_N^h, \tag{4.7b}$$

$$p_h(0) = p_{h,0}.$$
 (4.7c)

We solve Eqs 4.7 at the discrete times $t_i = i\Delta t, i = 0, 1, \dots, N$ where $\Delta t > 0$ denotes the time step and $t_N = T$. The decoupling approach consists of two step:

- Solve for the pressure p_h^{n+1} in the mass balance equation (4.7b) by the time-lagging the displacement.
- Use p_h^{n+1} in the momentum equation (4.7a) to solve for the displacement \boldsymbol{u}_h^{n+1} .

The functions \boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n+1} , \boldsymbol{r}_{h}^{n+1} and p_{h}^{n+1} denote the value of the discrete solutions \boldsymbol{u}_{h} , \boldsymbol{r}_{h} and p_{h} at time t_{n+1} and similar to f and \boldsymbol{g} , *i.e.* $f^{n} = f(t_{n})$ and $\boldsymbol{g}^{n} = \boldsymbol{g}(t_{n})$. Now, we introduce the numerical scheme: For $1 \le n \le N-1$, solve the following equations: **Step 1:** Given $(\boldsymbol{u}_h^n, \boldsymbol{r}_h^n) \in \mathcal{X}_N^h$ and $(\boldsymbol{u}_h^{n-1}, \boldsymbol{r}_h^{n-1}) \in \mathcal{X}_N^h$, find $p_h^{n+1} \in \mathcal{W}_N^h$ such that

$$\frac{c_0}{\delta t} \left(p_h^{n+1} - p_h^n, q \right)_{\omega} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \left(\nabla p_h^{n+1}, \nabla q \right)_{\omega} = \left(g^{n+1}, q \right)_{\omega} - \frac{\alpha}{\delta t} \left(\operatorname{div} \left(\boldsymbol{u}_h^n - \boldsymbol{u}_h^{n-1} \right), q \right)_{\omega}.$$

Step 2: Find $(\boldsymbol{u}_h^{n+1}, \boldsymbol{r}_h^{n+1}) \in \mathcal{X}_N^h$ such that

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{N}[(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n+1},\boldsymbol{r}_{h}^{n+1});(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{s})] + \frac{\gamma_{1}}{\delta t} (\boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n+1} - \boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n},\boldsymbol{v})_{\omega} - \frac{\gamma_{1}}{\delta t} (\boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n} - \boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n-1},\boldsymbol{v})_{\omega} \\ + \frac{\gamma_{1}}{\delta t} (\boldsymbol{r}_{h}^{n+1} - \boldsymbol{r}_{h}^{n},\boldsymbol{s})_{\omega} - \frac{\gamma_{1}}{\delta t} (\boldsymbol{r}_{h}^{n} - \boldsymbol{r}_{h}^{n-1},\boldsymbol{s})_{\omega} = \alpha e (p_{h}^{n+1}, \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v})_{\omega} + e (\boldsymbol{f}^{n+1},\boldsymbol{v})_{\omega}.$$

We approximate p_h^1 , $(\boldsymbol{u}_h^0, \boldsymbol{r}_h^0)$ and $(\boldsymbol{u}_h^1, \boldsymbol{r}_h^1)$ in two following initial steps: **Initial step 0:** Find $(\boldsymbol{u}_h^0, \boldsymbol{r}_h^0) \in \mathcal{X}_N^h$ such that

$$\mathcal{A}_1^N[(oldsymbol{u}_h^0,oldsymbol{r}_h^0);(oldsymbol{v},oldsymbol{s})] = lpha eigg(p_h^0,\mathrm{div}oldsymbol{v}igg)_\omega + eigg(oldsymbol{f}^0,oldsymbol{v}igg)_\omega.$$

Initial step 1: Find $p_h^1 \in \mathcal{W}_0^h$ such that

$$\frac{c_0}{\delta t_{int}} \left(p_h^1 - p_h^0, q \right)_{\omega} + \frac{\kappa}{\eta} \left(\nabla p_h^1, \nabla q \right)_{\omega} = \left(g^1, q \right)_{\omega}.$$

Initial step 2: Find $(\boldsymbol{u}_h^1, \boldsymbol{r}_h^1) \in \mathcal{X}_N^h$ such that

$$\mathcal{A}_1^N[(\boldsymbol{u}_h^1, \boldsymbol{r}_h^1); (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{s})] = \alpha e \left(p_h^1, \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v}
ight)_\omega + e \left(\boldsymbol{f}^1, \boldsymbol{v}
ight)_\omega.$$

116

From the above scheme, we now perform the numerical experiment on the finite element code FreeFem++. We first consider a hyperbolic paraboloid shell. The reference domain ω is the square

$$\omega = \{ (x, y); |x| + |y| \le \sqrt{2b} \},\$$

_

as illustrated in [6] (§1.3.3 & §2.4.2) and the chart φ is defined by

$$\boldsymbol{\varphi}(x,y) = \left(x, y, \frac{c}{b^2}(x^2 - y^2)\right)^T.$$

However, the symmetry properties of the problem allows us to solve it only on the traingle ω' with vertices $(0,0)^T$, $(b,0)^T$ and $(0,b)^T$. We choose here

$$b = 50 \text{ cm}, c = 10 \text{ cm}, c_0 = 1, \kappa = 1, \alpha = 0.8, \eta = 1, g = 0 \text{ and } \boldsymbol{f} = (0, 0, -0.01)^T.$$

The thickness of the shell is e = 0.8 cm. We assume that the shell is clamped on the whole boundary, i.e.

$$\boldsymbol{u}_h = \boldsymbol{r}_h = p = 0 \text{ on } \partial \omega.$$

We refer to $[23](\S6.2)$ for the artificial conditions issued from the symmetry conditions. The mechanical data are

$$E = 2.85 \times 10^9 \,\mathrm{Pa}, \qquad \nu = 0.4.$$

Figure 4.2 presents the numerical solution of Biot-Naghdi model on the hyperbolic paraboloid shell:



Figure 4.2: Solution on a hyperbolic paraboloid shell

Next, we consider an other hyperbolic paraboloid shell where the boundary $\varphi(\partial \omega)$ is not included in a straight line. The reference domain ω of the midsurface is given by

$$\omega =] - R, R[\times] - R, R[,$$

and the chart φ is defined by

$$\varphi(x,y) = \left(x, y, \frac{c}{b^2}(x^2 - y^2)\right)^T.$$

We take here

$$R = 50\sqrt{2}$$
 cm, $b = 50$, $c = 10$, $c_0 = 1$, $\kappa = 1$, $\alpha = 0.8$, $\eta = 1, g = 0$ and $\boldsymbol{f} = (0, 0, -0.01)^T$.

The thickness of the shell is e = 0.8 cm. The mechanical data are

$$E = 2.85 \times 10^9 \,\mathrm{Pa}, \qquad \nu = 0.4.$$

The shell is submitted to a uniform downward pressure. Concerning boundary conditions, we consider the case of hard clamping on the edge

$$\gamma_0 = \{-R\} \times] - R, R[,$$

118

and the shell is free on its remaining edges.

Figure 4.3 presents the numerical solution of Biot-Naghdi model on the hyperbolic paraboloid shell:



Figure 4.3: Solution on the hyperbolic paraboloid shell

Comment: With the simulations on two different domains, we need that c_0 has to be small enough. We observe that the boundary conditions influence our solutions significantly.

Conclusion and Perspectives

In this work, we have done the derivation and the well-posedness of the weak coupled formulation between shell models and Biot model. We made of using two shell models, Naghdi and Koiter, which are respectively respect to two displacement spaces, Kirchhoff-Love and Reissner-Mindlin. In the process of proving the well-posedness, we used the Banach-Nečas-Babuška theorem, splitting method, the semi-discrete Galerkin method and the theory of initial value problem for linear systems. Afterwards, we derived the fluid-structure interaction between incompressible flow and poroelastic shell structure. We use the Stokes system for the incompressible free fluid and the Biot-Naghdi poroelastic shell model for the poroelastic shell structure. In process of proving the well-posedness of this model, we imposed the conditions on the interface which are mass conservation, balance of stress and the Beavers-Joseph-Saffman conditions. Therefore, the Lagrange multiplier method is employed to impose weakly these conditions. We assume that the boundaries and the interface between the fluid and the poroelastic material are fixed. The proof proceeds by constructing a semi-discrete Galerkin approximations, deriving the discrete inf-sup condition and adopting the theory of differential-algebraic equations (DAEs). At last, we simulated our results in FreeFem++, a high level, free software, finite element package.

There are some open problems inspired from our results we are able to develop. Firstly, the couple between Stokes and Koiter's model (Blouza, Al Alaoui, Mani – [25]) could be established similar to Biot-Naghdi model. Secondly, remind that we assumed that the domains of fluid and poroelastic material are fixed in the fluid structure interaction model, *i.e.*, the domains do not depend on time. Alternatively, we could extend our results to the time dependent domains $\Omega_* = \Omega_*(t)$. You can see some fluid structure interaction models with time dependent domain in [27, 3]. Finally, for numerical simulation, we could consider the simulations of the Stokes-Biot-Naghdi and Biot-Koiter models.

Conclusion and Perspectives

Bibliography

- R. ADAMS, J. FOURNIER, Sobolev Spaces, Volume 140, Second Edition, Academic Press, 2003.
- [2] L. AMBARTSUMYAN, E. KHATTATOV, I. YOTOV, P. ZUNINO, A Lagrange multiplier method for a Stokes-Biot fluid-poroelastic structure interaction model, Numerische Mathematik, Volume 140, Issue 2, 513-553, October 2018.
- [3] S. BADIA, A. QUAINI, A. QUARTERONI, Coupling Biot and Navier-Stokes equations for modelling fluid-poroelastic media interaction, Journal of Computational Physics 228, 7986-8014, 2009.
- [4] S. BASTINGA, A. QUAINIB, S. ČANIĆ, R. GLOWINSKIB, Extended ALE method for fluidstructure interaction problems with large structural displacements, J. Comput. Phys. 331, 312-336, 2017.
- [5] G. S. BEAVERS, D.L D. JOSEPH, Boundary conditions at a naturally permeable wall, Journal of Fluid Mechanics, Volume 30, Issue 1, 197-207, 1967.
- [6] M. BERNADOU, Méthodes d'éléments finis pour les problèmes de coques minces, Collection "Recherches en Mathématiques Appliquées", Volume 33, Masson, 1994.
- [7] M. BERNADOU AND P.G. CIARLET, Sur l'ellipticité du modèle linéaire de coques de W.T. Koiter, Lecture Notes in Economics and Math. Systems, Volume 134, 89-136, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1976.
- [8] M. BERNADOU, P. G. CIARLET, B. MIARA, Existence theorem for two-dimensional linear shell theories, J. Elasticity, 34, 111-138, 1994.
- [9] C. BERNARDI, F. HECHT, O. PIRONNEAU, Coupling Darcy and Stokes equations for porous media with cracks, ESAIM: M2AN, Volume 39, Number 1, 7-35, 2005.
- [10] M. A. BIOT, General theory of three-dimensional consolidation, Journal of Applied Physics, 12, 155-164, 1941.
- [11] M. A. BIOT, Consolidation settlement under a rectangular load distribution, Journal of Applied Physics, 12, 426-430, 1941.

- [12] M. A. BIOT, Theory of elasticity and consolidation for a porous anisotropic solid, Journal of Applied Physics, 26, 182-185, 1955.
- [13] M. A. BIOT, General solutions of the equations of elasticity and consolidation for a porous material, Journal of Applied Mechanics, 23, 91-96, 1956.
- [14] M. A. BIOT, Theory of propagation of elastic waves in a fluid-saturated porous solid. I: Low-frequency range, J. Acoust. Soc. Am., Volume 28, Issue 2, 168-178, 1956.
- [15] M. A. BIOT, Theory of propagation of elastic waves in a fluid-saturated porous solid. II: Higher frequency range, J. Acoust. Soc. Am., Volume 28, Issue 2, 179-191, 1956.
- [16] M. A. BIOT, Thermoelasticity and irreversible thermodynamics, Journal of Applied Physics, 27, 240-253, 1956.
- [17] A. BLOUZA, Étude de quelques problèmes de coques en élasticité, PhD Thesis, June 1996.
- [18] A. BLOUZA, Existence et unicité pour le modèle de Nagdhi pour une coque peu régulière,
 C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris,324, Series I, 839-844, 1997.
- [19] A. BLOUZA, H. LE DRET, Sur le lemme du mouvement rigide, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Volume I, Issue 319, 1015-1020, 1994.
- [20] A. BLOUZA, H. LE DRET, Existence et unicité pour le modèle de Koiter pour une coque peu régulière, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Volume I ,Issue 319, 1127-1132, 1994.
- [21] A. BLOUZA, H. LE DRET, Existence and uniqueness for the linear Koiter model for shells with little regularity, Journal Quarterly of Applied Mathematics, Volume LVII, Issue 2, 317 - 337, June 1999.
- [22] A. BLOUZA, H. LE DRET, Naghdi's shell model: Existence, uniqueness and continuous dependence on the midsurface, Journal of Elasticity, 64, 199-216, 2001.
- [23] A. BLOUZA, F. HECHT, H. LE DRET, Two finite element approximations of Naghdi's shell model in Cartesian coordinates, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., Volume 44, Issue 2, 636-654, 2006.
- [24] A. BLOUZA, Une formuation hybride du modèle de coque de Naghdi, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Series I, 2013.
- [25] A. BLOUZA, L. EL ALAOUI, S. MANI-AOUADI, A posteriori analysis of penalized and mixed formulations of Koiter's shell model, Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 296, 138-155, 2016.
- [26] K. E. BRENAN, S. L. CAMPBELL, L. R. PETZOLD, Numerical Solution of Initial-Value Problems in Differential-Algebraic Equations, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 1996.

- [27] M. BUKAC, P. ZUNINO, I. YOTOV, Explicit partitioning strategies for the interaction between a fluid and a multilayered poroelastic structure: an operator-splitting approach, 2013.
- [28] M. BUKAC, P. ZUNINO, I. YOTOV, An operator splitting approach for the interaction between a fluid and a multilayered poroelastic structure, Numer. Methods Partial Differ. Equ., Volume 31, Issue 4, 1054-1100, 2015.
- [29] M. BUKAC, I. YOTOV, R. ZAKERZADEH, P. ZUNINO, Partitioning strategies for the interaction of a fluid with a poroelastic material based on a Nitsche's coupling approach, Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Eng., Volume 292, 138-170, 2015.
- [30] G. CEDERBAUM, L. P. LI, K. SCHULGASSER, Poroelastic Structures, Elsevier, 12 July 2000.
- [31] A. CESMELIOGLU, Analysis of the coupled Navier stokes/Biot problem, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, Volume 456, Issue 2, 970-991, 15 December 2017.
- [32] P. G. CIARLET, B. MIARA, On the ellipticity of linear shell models, Z. Angew. Math. Phys., 43, 243-253, 1992.
- [33] P. G. CIARLET, V. LODS, Analyse asymptotique des coques linéairement élastiques III Une justification de modèle de Koiter, R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Series I, 319, 299-304, 1995.
- [34] P. G. CIARLET, Introduction to Linear Shell Theory, Series in Applied Mathematics, Gauthier-Villars, 1998.
- [35] P. G. CIARLET, Mathematical Elasticity Volume III: Theory of Shells, Elsevier, 2000.
- [36] N. CHAABANE, B. RIVIÈRE, A sequential discontinuous Galerkin method for the coupling of flow and geomachanics, J. Sci. Comput, 1-21, 2017.
- [37] N. CHAABANE, B. RIVIÈRE, A splitting-based finite element method for the Biot poroeslasticity system, Computers and Mathematics with Applications, Volume 75, Issue 7, 2328-2337, April 2018.
- [38] E. A. CODDINGTON, R. CARLSON, *Linear ordinary differential equations*, SIAM, Philadelphia, PA, 1997.
- [39] E. COSSERAT, F. COSSERAT, Théorie des corps déformales, Hermann, Paris, 1909.
- [40] N. COUTRIS, Théorèm d'existence et d'unicité pour le modèle de coque élastique dans le cas d'un modèle linéaire de P. M. Naghdi, RAIRO Analysis numérique 12, 51-57, 1978.
- [41] P. DESTUYNDER, A classification of thin shell theories, Acta Appl Math, Volume 4, Issue 1,15-63, 1985.

- [42] M. DISCACCIATI, E. MIGLIO, A. QUARTERONI, Mathematical and numerical models for coupling surface and groundwater flows, Appl. Numer. Math., Volume 43, Issue 1-2, 57-74, 2002.
- [43] A. ERN, J. GUERMOND, Theory and Practice of Finite Elements, Volume 159, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2004.
- [44] L. C. EVANS, Partial Differential Equations, Second Edition, Graduate Series in Mathematics, Volume 19.R, 2010.
- [45] D. D. FOX, On a stress resultant geometrically exact shell model. Part I: Formulation and optimal parametrization, Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering, Volume 72, Issue 3, 267-304, 1989.
- [46] J. GALVIS, M. SARKIS, Non-matching mortar discretization analysis for the coupling Stokes-Darcy equations, Electronic Transactions on Numerical Analysis, Volume 26, 350-384, 2007.
- [47] V. GIRAULT, G. PENCHEVA, M. F. WHEELER AND T. WILDEY, Domain decompositon for poroelasticity and elasticity with DG jumps and mortars, Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences, Volume 21, Number 1, 169-213, 2011.
- [48] V. GIRAULT, B. RIVIÈRE, DG Approximation of Coupled Navier-Stokes and Darcy Equations by Beaver-Joseph-Saffman Interface Condition, SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, Volume 47 Issue 3, 2052-2089, 2009.
- [49] M. HOFFMANN, The Navier-Stokes-Darcy problem, 2013.
- [50] A. L. GOL'DENVEIZER, Theory of Elastic Thin Shells, Pergamon, 1961.
- [51] A. E. GREEN, W. ZERNA, *Theoretical Elasticity*, Dover Publications, 2012.
- [52] R. A. HORN, C. R. JOHNSON, *Matrix analysis*, Second Edition, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1985.
- [53] PH. O. IOSIFESCU, Regularity for Naghdi's shell equations, Math. Mech. Solids, Volume 5, 453-465, 2000.
- [54] W. JAGER AND A. MIKELIĆ, On the interface boundary condition of Beavers, Joseph, and Saffman, SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics, Volume 60, Issue 4, 1111-1127, 2000.
- [55] W. T. KOITER, On the foundations of the linear theory of thin elastic shells, Proc. Kon. Ned. Akad. Wetensch., B73, 169-195, 1970.
- [56] W. T. KOITER, On the nonlinear theory of thin elastic shells, Part III, Proc. Kon. Ned. Akad. Wetensch., B69, 1970.

- [57] W. J. LAYTON, F. SCHIEWECK, I. YOTOV, Coupling fluid flow with porous media flow, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., Volume 40, Issue 6, 2195-2218, 2003.
- [58] W. T. KOITER, J. G. SIMMONDS, Foundations of shell theory, Theoretical and Applied Mechanics. IUTAM Symposia, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1973.
- [59] J. MAGNIEZ, M. ALI HAMDI, J. D. CHAZOT, B. TROCLET, A mixed "Biot-Shell" analytical model for the prediction of sound transmission through a sandwich cylinder with a poroelastic core, Journal of Sound and Vibration, Volume 360, 203-223, 2016.
- [60] M. LJULJ, J. TAMBAČA, Iterative methods for solving a poroelastic shell model of Naghdi's type, Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences, Volume 40, Issue 12, 4425-4435, 2017.
- [61] A. MARCINIAK-CZOCHRA, A. MIKELIĆ, A Rigorous Derivation of the Equations for the Clamped Biot-Kirchhoff-Love Poroelastic plate, A. Arch Rational Mech Anal, Volume 215, Issue 3, 1035-1062, 2015.
- [62] O. MAXIAN, A. T. KASSEN, W. STRYCHALSKI, A continuous energy-based immersed boundary method for elastic shells, Journal of Computational Physics, Volume 371, 333-362, 2018.
- [63] I. MERABET, S. NICAISE, A mixed discontinuous finite element method for folded Naghdi's shell, Math. Comput. Math. Comp., Volume 86, 1-47, 2017.
- [64] A. MIKELIĆ, J. TAMBAČA, Derivation of a poroelastic flexural shell model, SIAM, Multiscale Model. Simul., Volume 14, No. 1, 364-397, 2016.
- [65] A. MIKELIĆ, J. TAMBAČA, Derivation of a poroelastic elliptic membrane shell model, Applicable Analysis, Volume 18, 1-26, 2018.
- [66] M. A. MURAD, J. N. GUERREIRO, A. F. D. LOULA, Micromechanical computational modeling of reservoir compaction and surface subsidence, Math. Contemp., Volume 19,41-69, 2000.
- [67] M. A. MURAD, J. N. GUERREIRO, A. F. D. LOULA, Micromechanical computational modeling of secondary consolidation and hereditary creep in soils, Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg., Volume 190, Issue 15-17, 1985-2016, 2001.
- [68] P. M. NAGHDI, Foundation of elastic shell theory, Progress in Solid Mechanics, Volume 4, 1-90, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1963.
- [69] P. M. NAGHDI, On a Variational Theorem in Elasticity and Its Application to Shell Theory, J. Appl. Mech, Volume 31, Issue 4, 647-653, 1964.
- [70] P. M. NAGHDI, The theory of shells and plates, Handbuch der Physik, Volume VIa/2, 425-640, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1972.

- [71] A. NAUMOVICH, Effecient numerical methods for the Biot poroelasticity system in multilayered domains, PhD thesis, 2007.
- [72] W. NOWACKI, *Thermoelasticity*, Second Edition, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1986.
- [73] P. J. PHILLIPS, M. F. WHEELER, A coupling of mixed and continuous Galerkin finite element methods for poroelasticity I: the continuous in time case, Comput. Geosci., 11, 131-144, 2007.
- [74] P. J. PHILLIPS, M. F. WHEELER, A coupling of mixed and continuous Galerkin finite element methods for poroelasticity II: the discrete in time case, Comput. Geosci., 11, 145-158, 2007.
- [75] P. J. PHILLIPS, M. F. WHEELER, A coupling of mixed and discontinuous Galerkin finiteelement methods for poroelasticity, Comput. Geosci., Volume 12, Issue 4, 417-435, 2008.
- [76] C. PIMENTA, W. R. WOLF, A.V.G.CAVALIERI, A fast numerical framework to compute acoustic scattering by poroelastic plates of arbitrary geometry, Journal of Computational Physics, Volume 373, 763-783, 2018.
- [77] M. RENARDY, ROBERT C. ROGERS, An Introduction to Partial Differential Equations, Springer-Verlag New York, 2004.
- [78] B. RIVIÈRE, I. YOTOV, Locally conservative coupling of Stokes and Darcy flows, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., Volume 42, Issue 5, 1959-1977, 2005.
- [79] P. ROUGÉE, Équilibre des coques élastiques minces inhomogènes en théorie non linéaire, Doctoral dissertation, Université de Paris, 1969.
- [80] W. RUDIN, *Real and complex analysis*, Third Edition, McGraw Hill Book Company, 1987.
- [81] P. SAFFMAN, On the boundary condition at the surface of a porous medium, Stud. Appl. Math., Volume 50, 93-101, 1971.
- [82] R. SHOWALTER, Poroelastic Filtration Coupled to Stokes Flow, 2003.
- [83] R. SHOWALTER, Poroelastic filtration coupled to Stokes flow. In Control theory of partial differential equations, Volume 242, Lect. Notes Pure Appl. Math., 229-241, 2005.
- [84] J. C. SIMO, D. D. FOX, M. S. RIFAI, On a stress resultant geometrically exact shell model. Part III: Computational aspects of the nonlinear theory, Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering, Volume 79, Issue 1, 21-70, 1990.
- [85] M. SPIVAK, A Comprehensive Introduction to Differential Geometry, Publish or Perish, 1999.

- [86] J. M. URQUIZAA, D. N'DRIA, A. GARONA, M. C. DELFOURB, *Coupling Stokes and Darcy equations*, Applied Numerical Mathematics, Volume 58, 525-538, 2008.
- [87] D. VASSILEV, I. YOTOV, Coupling Stokes-Darcy flow with transport, SIAM J. Sci. Comput., Volume 31, No 31, 3661-3684, 2009.
- [88] A. VERRUIJT, Theory and problems of poroelasticity, 2013.
- [89] X. XIE, J. XU, G. XUE, Uniformly-stable finite element methods for Darcy-Stokes-Brinkman models, J. Comput. Math., Volume 26, Issue 3, 437-455, 2008.
- [90] K. YOSIDA, Functional Analysis, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 1971.
- [91] S. Y. YI, Convergence analysis of a new mixed finite element method for Biot's consolidation model, Numerical Methods for PDEs, Volume 30, Issue 4, 1189-1210, July 2014.